### University of Mississippi eGrove

**Industry Developments and Alerts** 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Historical Collection

1997

# Audits of finance companies (including independent and captive financing activities of other companies) with conforming changes as of May 1, 1998; Audit and accounting guide:

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Finance Companies Guide Special Committee

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aicpa\_indev Part of the <u>Accounting Commons</u>, and the <u>Taxation Commons</u>

#### Recommended Citation

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Finance Companies Guide Special Committee, "Audits of finance companies (including independent and captive financing activities of other companies) with conforming changes as of May 1, 1998; Audit and accounting guide:" (1997). *Industry Developments and Alerts.* 454. https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aicpa\_indev/454

This Book is brought to you for free and open access by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Historical Collection at eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in Industry Developments and Alerts by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information, please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.



# AUDITS OF FINANCE COMPANIES

(Including Independent and Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies)

With Conforming Changes as of May 1, 1997



# AUDITS OF FINANCE COMPANIES

(Including Independent and Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies)

With Conforming Changes as of May 1, 1997

This edition of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of Finance Companies (Including Independent and Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies), which was originally issued in 1988, has been modified by the AICPA staff to include certain changes necessary because of the issuance of authoritative pronouncements since the Guide was originally issued (see page iv). The changes made are identified in a schedule in appendix E of the Guide. The changes do not include all those that might be considered necessary if the Guide were subjected to a comprehensive review and revision.

Copyright © 1997 by American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc., New York, NY 10036-8775

All rights reserved. Requests for permission to make copies of any part of this work should be mailed to Permissions Department, AICPA, Harborside Financial Center, 201 Plaza Three, Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881.

1234567890AAP9987

#### NOTICE TO READERS

This audit and accounting guide presents recommendations of the AICPA Finance Companies Guide Special Committee on the application of generally accepted auditing standards to audits of financial statements of finance companies. This guide also presents the committee's recommendations on and descriptions of financial accounting and reporting principles and practices for finance companies. The AICPA Accounting Standards Executive Committee and members of the AICPA Auditing Standards Board have found this guide to be consistent with existing standards and principles covered by Rules 202 and 203 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. AICPA members should be prepared to justify departures from this guide.

#### Finance Companies Guide Special Committee (1988)

Gaylen N. Larson, Chair

William L. Blackwell

James V. Cleary

Albert A. Hepting

Edward M. Karlin

Richard A. Lindrooth

Thomas A. Mahoney

Howard W. Moody

Stephen M. Todd

Stanley Weinstein

#### **AICPA Staff**

Gerard L. Yarnall George N. Dietz
Director Technical Manager

 This guide reflects relevant guidance contained in authoritative pronouncements through May 1, 1997:

FASB Statement No. 127, Deferral of the Effective Date of Certain Provisions of FASB Statement No. 125 (an amendment of FASB Statement No. 125)

FASB Interpretation No. 42, Accounting for Transfers of Assets in Which a Not-for-Profit Organization Is Granted Variance Power (an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 116)

FASB Technical Bulletin No. 94-1, Application of Statement 115 to Debt Securities Restructured in a Troubled Debt Restructuring

EITF Consensuses adopted through the January 1997 Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) meeting

Practice Bulletin No. 15, Accounting by the Issuer of Surplus Notes

SAS No. 82, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit

SOP No. 96-1, Environmental Remediation Liabilities

SSAE No. 6, Reporting on an Entity's Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: An Amendment to Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 2

#### **Preface**

#### **Applicability**

This guide has been prepared to assist the independent auditor in auditing and reporting on financial statements of finance companies. The guide also applies to independent and captive financing activities of other companies. It does not apply to banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, or insurance companies; however, the guide does apply to finance company subsidiaries of such entities.

Banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, and insurance companies are covered by other guides, and there might be differences in the way they account for similar transactions. The AICPA is considering a project to harmonize the accounting principles for the financial industry.

This guide is based on the assumption that the readers are generally expert in accounting and auditing. Accordingly, the discussion of audit procedures concentrates primarily on aspects unique to finance companies and financing activities. The nature, timing, and extent of such auditing procedures are a matter of professional judgment and depend on the size, organizational structure, internal control, and other factors in a particular engagement.

#### **Changes in Accounting Practices**

This guide recommends the following changes in accounting practices that the committee believes are desirable and warranted:

- Recognition of interest income on finance receivables using the interest method;
- Use of the accrual method with suspension basis for recording interest income; and
- Inclusion of interest as a holding cost in determining the carrying amount of repossessed collateral expected to be held for more than a brief period.

In addition, the revised guide includes an expanded discussion of the insurance activities of finance companies.

The 1973 AICPA Industry Audit Guide, Audits of Finance Companies, provided for revenue recognition methods other than those listed above, including the Rule of 78s, the combination method, and the cash method. In accordance with FASB Statement No. 91 and conclusions reached by the Accounting Standards Division in preparing this guide, use of those alternative methods is no longer considered to be acceptable.

#### **Transition and Effective Dates**

This guide supersedes the 1973 AICPA Industry Audit Guide, Audits of Finance Companies.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) applicable to business entities in general apply to finance companies. Accordingly, the financial accounting standards established by pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and its predecessor bodies of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants apply to finance companies.

FASB Statement No. 91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated With Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases, requires finance companies to make certain changes in their accounting for fees and expenses. The committee believes the changes recommended in this guide concerning recognition of interest income (revenue) and inclusion of interest as a holding cost in determining the carrying amount of repossessed collateral should be made at the same time and in the same manner as changes are made to comply with FASB Statement No. 91.

FASB Statement No. 91, paragraph 28, states

This Statement shall be applied prospectively to lending and leasing transactions entered into and commitments granted in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1987 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Retroactive application, by restating all prior years presented, is encouraged but not required. Earlier application is encouraged in fiscal years for which financial statements have not previously been issued. In the year that this Statement is first applied, the financial statements shall disclose the nature of accounting changes adopted to conform to the provisions of this Statement and their effect on income before extraordinary items, net income, and related per share amounts for the current year and for each restated year presented. If adopted prospectively, disclosure of the accounting change and the prior accounting policies shall be continued in financial statements of subsequent years in which outstanding loans accounted for under the prior policy are material.

Other provisions of this guide shall be effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after June 30, 1988.

Finance Companies Guide Special Committee

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Chapter	F	Paragraph
1	Activities of Finance Companies	.0143
	Consumer Finance Activities	.0312
	Direct Consumer Loans	.0407
	Retail Sales Contracts	.0811
	Insurances Services	.12
	Commercial Finance Activities	.1332
	Factoring	.1519
	Revolving Loans	.2021
	Receivables Portfolio Purchase Agreements	.2223
	Installment Loans	.24
	Floor Plan Loans	.25
	Leases	.2631
	Participations	.32
	Debt Financing of Finance Companies	.3334
	Regulation	.3543
	Direct Consumer Lending	.36
	Retail Sales Financing	.37
	Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act	.38
	Uniform Commercial Code	.3943
2	Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and Operating Procedures	.01167
	Accounting for Finance Receivables	.0203
	Accounting for the Allowance for Loan Losses	.0410
	Accounting for Interest Income	.1122
	Measurement	.14
	Recognition	.1 <i>5</i> 1 <i>7</i>
	Nonrefundable Fees	.1821
	Rebates	.22
	Accounting for Factoring Commissions	.2324
	Accounting for Advances and Overadvances to	
	Factoring Clients	.2526
	Accounting for Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation	.2736
	of Receivables	.3031
	Lower of Unpaid Balance and Fair Value	.3236
	•	.3230
	Accounting for Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks	.37 3839
	Accounting for Sales of Receivables	
	Financial Statement Presentation and Disclosure	.4054
	Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities	.5562
	Disclosures of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties	.6365

Chapter	ı	Paragraph
2	Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and Operating Procedures—continued	
	Audit Objectives for Receivables and Income	.66
	Audit Planning	.6774
	Internal Control	.7585
	Receivables and Income	.76
	Loan and Related Files	.7780
	Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables	.81
	Dealer Reserves	.82
	Branch Offices	.8385
	Auditing Receivables and the Allowance for Losses	.8691
	The Allowance for Losses	.8791
	Loan Origination Costs	.92
	Credit Approval Policies	.93108
	Consumer Credit Approval	.9697
	Commercial Credit Approval	.98101
	Factoring	.102108
	Collections	.109110
	Aging Schedules	.111116
	Charge-off Policies	.117119
	Other Credits to Receivables	.120123
	Chargebacks	.121
	Anticipations	.122123
	Confirmation Procedures	.124130
	No-Mail Accounts	.129
	Confirming Purchased Customer Receivables	.130
	Ratios	.131137
	Loans to Related Parties	.138
	Collateralized Loans	.139149
	Consumer Goods	.141
	Receivables	.142144
	Inventories	
	Property and Equipment	.148149
	EDP Considerations	.150151
	Branch Audits	.152154
	Leases	.155158
	Income	.159163

#### **Table of Contents**

Chapter		Paragraph
2	Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and Operating Procedures—continued	
	Statutory Regulations	.162163
	Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables	.164165
	Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks	
3	Capitalization of Finance Companies	.0131
	Bank Lines of Credit	.0711
	Commercial Paper	.1214
	Credit Ratings	.1516
	Credit Questionnaires	.1 <i>7</i> 21
	Accounting	.2223
	Financial Statement Presentation	.2425
	Auditing	.2631
	Compliance Reports	.28
	Credit Questionnaires	.2931
4	Participations	.0107
	Accounting	.0406
	Pari Passu	.05
	First Out	.06
	Auditing	.07
5	Insurance Activities of Finance Companies	.0131
	Types of Insurance Coverage	.0207
	Credit Life	.0305
	Credit Accident and Health	.06
	Property and Liability	.07
	Writing Policies	.0809
	Commissions	10
	Accounting	1123
	Premium Income	1215
	Policy Acquisition Costs	16
	Investment Portfolios	1719
	State Laws	
	Commissions	
	Consolidation Policy	
	Financial Statement Presentation	
	Auditing	303

X	Table of	Contents
^	I ubic oi	COLICE

Chapter		Paragraph
6	Acquisitions of Finance Companies and Operations	.0108
Appendix		
Α	Illustrative Financial Statements	
В	Statement of Position 90-11, Disclosure of Certain Information by Financial Institutions About Debt Securities Held as Assets	
С	Statement of Position 92-3, Accounting for Foreclosed Assets	
D	Information Sources	
E	Schedule of Changes Made to Audits of Finance Companies (Including Independent and Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies)	
	Glossary	
	Index	

#### Chapter 1

#### **Activities of Finance Companies**

- 1.01 Finance companies provide lending and financing services to consumers (consumer financing) and to business enterprises (commercial financing). Some finance companies engage solely in consumer or commercial financing activities; others provide both types. Consumer and commercial financing both encompass a wide variety of activities, many of which are discussed in this chapter.
- 1.02 Manufacturers, retailers, wholesalers, and various other business enterprises may provide financing to encourage customers to buy their products and services. Such financing, generally known as captive finance activity, may be provided directly by those companies or through affiliated companies. Although most such companies originally financed only their own products and services, many have expanded their financing activities to include a wide variety of products and services sold by unaffiliated businesses.

#### **Consumer Finance Activities**

1.03 Consumer finance activities comprise direct consumer loans, including mortgage loans and retail sales financing. Many companies that provide consumer financing also offer a variety of insurance services to their borrowers.

#### **Direct Consumer Loans**

- 1.04 Direct consumer loans usually are repayable in installments and may be collateralized by household goods and other chattels or may be unsecured. The creditworthiness of the individual borrower is generally the lender's primary consideration in making direct consumer loans; however, as the size of the loan increases, other factors, such as the existence and value of collateral or the presence of a comaker, may become increasingly important.
- 1.05 Mortgage loans on real estate are a form of direct consumer lending in which borrowers' equity interests in their homes make up the collateral. Such mortgage loans differ from purchase money mortgages, in which sellers or third parties grant borrowers mortgages as part of the purchase price. Many mortgage loans issued by finance companies are second mortgage loans that are subordinate to the claims of one or more prior lenders if borrowers default.
- 1.06 Mortgage loans generally have larger principal amounts and lower average interest rates than other direct consumer loans. Lenders usually consider borrowers who are homeowners to be good credit risks because the loans are collateralized by the borrowers' homes and, even if the borrowers default, residential real estate tends to hold resale value to a greater degree than other forms of collateral. Loss experience on mortgage loans generally has been less than on other forms of consumer loans.
- 1.07 Mortgage lending, however, involves other risks. If the real estate market weakens, perhaps because of severe unemployment in a given geographical area, substantial losses may be incurred. Mortgage loans tend to have longer repayment periods than other types of direct consumer loans; this factor

by itself may increase a lender's risk. Because first mortgage loans have priority, a second mortgage lender generally must buy out prior lenders or take title subject to the rights of such lenders. Second mortgage lenders may, therefore, need to make significant cash payments to protect collateral.

#### Retail Sales Contracts

- 1.08 Many sales of consumer goods and services are financed through retail sales contracts. Those contracts are made, directly or through retailers and dealers, with individual consumers. The contracts often are sold to a finance company. Retail sales contracts commonly are called *three-party paper* because they involve three parties: an individual borrower, a dealer or distributor, and a finance company.
- 1.09 Retail sales contracts usually are sold at a discount to a finance company under terms that permit dealers or distributors to share a portion of the finance charges paid by borrowers. Provisions for dealers' shares of finance charges vary among finance companies and dealers. Dealers' shares of finance charges may be based on stipulated percentages of the finance charges or the principal amounts of the retail contracts, on a fixed amount for each contract, or on other negotiated terms.
- 1.10 Some agreements provide for a portion of amounts due to dealers to be withheld to cover certain contingencies. Other agreements provide no such conditions. Amounts withheld from dealers may either be limited to or greater than the dealers' shares of finance charges. Dealer reserves represent liabilities for unpaid portions of dealers' shares of finance charges on retail contracts bought from dealers. Dealer holdbacks, which are not limited to dealers' shares of finance charges, also represent liabilities, but usually are for amounts withheld from dealers on retail contracts with greater-than-normal credit risk. Such risks may relate to factors such as the types of collateral, excessive loan periods, or credit ratings of the borrowers involved. Dealer reserves and holdbacks may be required even if applicable contracts are bought with recourse.
- 1.11 Terms for payment of dealer reserves and holdbacks vary. Dealer reserves may be reduced for losses and rebates on related loans. The remaining balances generally are paid periodically when amounts exceed agreed minimum percentages of related outstanding receivables. Minimum percentages are based on factors such as loss experience for contracts previously bought from such dealers, experience with lending to purchasers of similar types of merchandise, and credit quality of the purchasers. Alternatively, dealer reserves and holdbacks may be paid only after customers' loans are paid off in full.

#### Insurance Services

1.12 Many companies engaged in consumer finance activities also offer insurance coverage to their customers. Such coverage may include life insurance to help assure that remaining loan balances are repaid if borrowers die before loans are repaid; accident and health insurance to help continue loan payments if borrowers become sick or disabled for an extended period of time; and property insurance to protect the values of loan collateral against damage, theft, or destruction. Some lenders may provide insurance through subsidiaries. Others act as brokers and, if licensed, often receive commissions from inde-

pendent insurers. Lenders also may receive retrospective rate credits on group policies issued by independent insurers. In still other instances, policies may be written by independent insurance companies and then reinsured by insurance subsidiaries of finance companies.

#### **Commercial Finance Activities**

- 1.13 Commercial finance enterprises often provide a wide range of services, including factoring arrangements, revolving loans, installment and term loans, floor plan loans, portfolio purchase agreements, and lease financing to a variety of clients, including manufacturers, wholesalers, retailers, and service organizations. Many commercial finance activities are called asset-based financial services because of the lenders' reliance on collateral. This guide refers to all such activities as commercial finance activities.
- 1.14 Commercial loans generally are collateralized by various types of assets, including notes and accounts receivable, inventories, and property, plant, and equipment.

#### **Factoring**

- 1.15 Factoring is the purchase, usually without recourse, of trade accounts receivable. A company that purchases trade accounts receivable is commonly called a *factor*. Factors buy trade accounts receivable from *clients*. Clients' *customers* send their payments directly to factors, often by means of a lockbox arrangement. Factored accounts receivable are not collateral for loans to clients; rather, the receivables are purchased outright. Except in certain instances involving advance factoring, as described below, no loan is made. However, clients continue to remain contractually responsible for customer claims related to defective merchandise.
- 1.16 Factors buy clients' invoices, net of trade and cash discounts granted to customers, and provide clients with services that include assuming the clients' responsibilities of credit review, bookkeeping, and collection. Factors also assume risks of credit losses when customer credit is approved before clients ship goods. If factors do not approve customers' credit, shipments usually are made at clients' risk. Factors buying accounts with recourse, however, provide bookkeeping and collection services and assume no credit risk, unless both the client and its customers become insolvent. Factors receive fees for services rendered to the client, usually computed as a percentage of net receivables bought.
- 1.17 Factoring usually requires that customer notification be placed on the face of invoices, indicating that accounts have been sold and that factors are to be paid directly. Under nonnotification contracts, customers continue to pay clients and normally are unaware of factor ownership of the related accounts.
- 1.18 Two types of factoring arrangements are maturity and advance. Maturity factoring requires factors to pay clients only when related accounts are due (generally based on average due dates) or collected. In contrast, advance factoring allows clients to draw cash advances against the balance of the receivables before they are due or collected. Factors charge interest from the date on which advances are drawn to the date on which receivables are due or collected, at rates usually based on a stipulated percentage over commercial banks' prime rates.

1.19 In calculating limits for payments under advance factoring arrangements, factors generally retain a reserve against unpaid receivables to cover claims, returns, allowances, and other adjustments. Reserves ordinarily are a percentage of outstanding receivables based on factors' experience and judgment. Overadvances occur when clients draw cash advances that exceed uncollected receivable balances. Factors may permit overadvances to finance clients' seasonal business requirements. Such overadvances often can be anticipated. Overadvances also may result from unanticipated chargebacks, such as those resulting from defective merchandise and price disputes, because clients continue to remain contractually responsible for such problems. Overadvances may be collateralized by other assets, such as inventory or fixed assets, or may be secured by personal guarantees. In certain circumstances, overadvances also may be unsecured. Overadvances generally are reduced when receivables from additional sales are factored.

#### **Revolving Loans**

- 1.20 Revolving loans, sometimes called *working capital loans*, generally provide borrowers with cash needed for business operations. The loans usually are collateralized by accounts receivable and generally cannot exceed agreed percentages of the face values of those receivables. Such loans may be referred to as *accounts receivable loans*. Collections against such receivables usually are remitted daily by borrowers to the lenders. Depending on the terms of the agreements, new accounts receivable acquired by borrowers and pledged to lenders may immediately qualify as collateral.
- 1.21 Lenders' policies may permit eligible collateral for revolving loans to be expanded to include inventories if borrowers require additional cash. In such cases, additional advances may be referred to as *inventory loans*. Inventory loans supplementing accounts receivable loans are common when seasonal businesses generate relatively low amounts of accounts receivable but require large inventories in anticipation of the selling season. When the inventories are sold, loans are paid off or accounts receivable generated by the sales replace inventories as collateral for such loans.

#### **Receivables Portfolio Purchase Agreements**

- 1.22 Unlike factoring arrangements, receivables portfolio purchases are bulk purchases of trade accounts or finance receivables, often intended to provide sellers with cash for operations or improved financial ratios. Because the buyers usually assume all credit risks, a stipulated percentage of the purchase price is often retained to absorb credit losses. Credit losses in excess of that amount are borne by the purchasing finance company.
- 1.23 Terms of portfolio purchase agreements vary. Some provide for single purchases; others provide for continuing purchases on a revolving basis. In addition, customers may not be notified of purchases or may be notified and required to pay the finance company directly. Receivables acquired under this type of agreement generally are accounted for as assets owned by the purchasing finance company and are not considered to represent collateral for loans made to sellers.

#### Installment Loans

1.24 Finance companies may make commercial installment loans collateralized by capital assets. The amounts of such installment loans usually are based on percentages of the collateral market values and vary depending on policies of the finance company lender, financial condition of the borrower, and

liquidity of the pledged collateral. Finance companies also may make mortgage loans to commercial borrowers. Some installment loans are made under conditional sales contracts, in which title to the collateral is held in the name of the lender until loans are repaid.

#### Floor Plan Loans

1.25 Floor plan loans, commonly called *wholesale loans*, are made to businesses to finance inventory purchases. Some finance companies make floor plan loans primarily to induce dealers to allow the finance companies to buy the retail contracts generated from sales of inventories. Inventories serve as collateral for floor plan loans, the amounts of which usually are limited to the wholesale values of the inventories. Unlike revolving loans collateralized by inventory, floor plan loans generally are collateralized by specific inventory items. They also require minimum payments known as *curtailments*, with balances becoming due when collateral is sold or at the end of stipulated periods.

#### Leases

- 1.26 Leasing is a common way to finance the acquisition of equipment. Despite similarities between leases and other forms of installment loans, continuing legal and tax changes have resulted in language and procedures unique to leasing activities. FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and its related interpretations and amendments provide authoritative guidance on accounting for leases.
- 1.27 Operating leases generally run for periods considerably shorter than the useful lives of related assets. At the expiration of such leases, the assets generally are sold or leased again.
- 1.28 Direct financing leases are similar to other forms of installment lending in that lessors generally do not retain benefits and risks incidental to ownership of the property subject to leases. Such arrangements are essentially financing transactions that permit lessees to acquire and use property.
- 1.29 Leveraged leasing involves at least three parties: a lessee, a long-term creditor, and a lessor (commonly called the *equity participant*). The lessor may, however, be represented by an owner trustee. Finance companies frequently enter into leveraged lease transactions as lessors or equity participants. A substantial portion of the purchase price of assets is supplied nonrecourse by unaffiliated long-term lenders. If a lessee defaults on lease payments, the long-term lender has no recourse to the lessor, but usually has recourse to the specific property being leased. The gross return to a finance company is measured using the discounted net cash receipts generated from investment tax credits and tax effects of timing differences resulting principally from use of accelerated depreciation in tax returns, rental payments minus debt service costs, and the estimated residual values of equipment leased.
- 1.30 Leasing arrangements also may be categorized as *transactional*, involving direct negotiations between a lessor and lessee, and as *vendor* leasing. Transactional lease financing tends to be a time-consuming and expensive process that is economically feasible only for transactions sufficiently large to generate profits in excess of the costs of preparing custom-made leases. Vendor leasing has developed to finance asset acquisitions that would not be profitable to finance with transactional leasing arrangements. Vendor leasing involves a third-party lessor that offers a vendor's or manufacturer's customers a basic

finance package. The lessor usually establishes interest rates within given dollar ranges and uses a standardized credit scoring process to approve credit and keep documentation simple. As a result, vendors are promptly paid for sales and avoid the need to perform in-house financing operations.

1.31 Finance companies also may serve as lease brokers—that is, as intermediaries between lessors and lessees for a fee. The June 20, 1980, AICPA issues paper, Accounting by Lease Brokers, and FASB Technical Bulletin 86-2, Accounting for an Interest in the Residual Value of a Leased Asset Acquired by a Third Party or Retained by a Lessor That Sells the Related Minimum Rental Payments, provide additional information on lease broker arrangements. Copies of the issues paper are available from the AICPA.

#### **Participations**

1.32 Commercial finance companies sometimes enter into participation agreements with other lenders to maintain acceptable levels of risk or to provide the borrowers with lower costs or additional services. The agreements generally provide for losses to be shared mainly in proportion to the cash invested by each party.

#### **Debt Financing of Finance Companies**

- 1.33 The basic activity of finance companies is borrowing money at wholesale and lending it at retail. Finance companies usually are leveraged with outstanding borrowings equal to several times equity. Finance companies may have senior debt, senior subordinated debt, and junior subordinated debt. The existence of restrictive covenants in debt agreements is common.
- 1.34 Robert Morris Associates, an organization of bank lending officers, has developed financial information questionnaires for lenders engaged in retail sales financing, direct cash lending, commercial financing, captive financing activities, and mortgage banking. Finance companies generally complete and submit the questionnaires to credit grantors as an integral part of the process of obtaining credit lines with commercial banks and other lenders. The information is used to analyze the quality of the operations and creditworthiness of finance companies.

#### Regulation

1.35 Numerous state and federal statutes affect finance companies' operations. Some statutes apply only to specific types of activities. Regulations affecting finance companies generally are limited to matters such as loan amounts, repayment terms, interest rates, and collateral; they generally do not deal with financial accounting and reporting.

#### **Direct Consumer Lending**

1.36 State laws regulating consumer finance operations are designated as licensed-lending, small-loan, or consumer-financing statutes. Diverse state statutes usually regulate mortgage loans and other direct consumer loans. Usually, each branch office of a company that makes direct consumer loans must be licensed by the state in which the office is located. State licensing authorities, many of which are divisions of state banking departments, examine loans to ascertain that they comply with statutory provisions and to determine whether rebates and refunds are properly computed.

#### **Retail Sales Financing**

1.37 Laws governing retail sales financing may require offices to be licensed or registered. The laws vary widely among states. For example, *all goods statutes* may govern consumer goods loans; *other goods laws* may govern loans for consumer goods excluding automobiles. Additional statutes may affect revolving credit arrangements.

#### Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act

1.38 The Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act (Truth in Lending Act), through Federal Reserve Regulation Z, requires disclosure of finance charges and annual percentage rates so that consumers can more readily compare various credit terms. It does not set maximum or minimum rates of charges.

#### **Uniform Commercial Code**

- 1.39 The Uniform Commercial Code (UCC), fully adopted by all states, except Louisiana, at the date of issuing this guide, is a set of statutes designed to provide consistency among state laws concerning various commercial transactions. Article 9 of the UCC, which deals with secured transactions, contains especially significant laws that affect financing activities. It applies to two-party collateralized loan transactions as well as to sales of accounts receivable and retail sales contracts, which are essentially three-party transactions.
- 1.40 Article 9 generally provides certain rights to the secured parties and the debtors involved in secured transactions. The definition of a secured party includes a lender who obtains a security interest as well as a buyer of trade accounts receivable or retail sales contracts. Similarly, the definition of a debtor includes both the individual obligor and the seller of trade accounts receivable or retail sales contracts.
- 1.41 Under Article 9, all transactions creating a security interest are treated alike. The Article sets forth various procedures necessary to safeguard, or perfect, the potential creditor's interest in collateral against the interests of other creditors. Those procedures generally require that the creditor file a financing statement at a specified public office. The statement, available for public inspection, provides legal notice of a perfected security interest. Consequently, before making collateralized loans, prospective lenders generally search the public files to determine if other lenders have already filed financing statements against the collateral.
- 1.42 For certain commercial financing activities, Article 9 permits continuing general lien arrangements, in which a security interest applies continuously to all present and future collateral of the type described in the financing statement for as long as the financing statement is effective. That provision simplifies, for example, maintaining security interests in purchased receivables and in collateral securing revolving loans. The underlying collateral becomes subject to the security interest as soon as it comes into existence or into the debtor's possession.
- 1.43 The financing statement is generally effective for five years from the date of filing and then lapses, unless a *continuation statement* is filed within the six-month period before the expiration date. The continuation statement extends the security interest for another five years.

#### Chapter 2

# Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and Operating Procedures

**2.01** Finance receivables normally are the most significant portion of a finance company's total assets. This chapter describes many aspects of accounting for and auditing finance receivables and related accounts.

#### **Accounting for Finance Receivables**

2.02 Finance receivables include both interest-bearing (simple interest) and precompute (discount) loans. State regulatory laws often prescribe the types of loans that can be made; otherwise, the type of loan is a matter of operating and customer choice. The face amount of an interest-bearing loan equals the amount of cash loaned; unearned interest is not determined. In a discount loan, however, the amount of cash loaned to the borrower is less than the face amount of the loan. The difference represents unearned interest income to be earned by the lender over the life of the loan. The borrower generally is entitled to pay less than the remaining unpaid face amount if the balance due on a discount loan is paid off faster than contractually scheduled. That difference, commonly called a rebate, represents a cancellation of a portion of the precomputed interest charge.

2.03 Sales-type leases and direct financing leases are substantially similar to other forms of installment loans. However, accounting for lease transactions may differ from accounting for other financing transactions. FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and its related amendments and interpretations prescribe accounting for leases and their financial statement presentation.

#### Accounting for the Allowance for Loan Losses

2.04 A finance company should maintain a reasonable allowance for credit losses applicable to all categories of receivables through periodic charges to operating expenses. The amount of the provision can be considered reasonable when the allowance for credit losses, including the current provision, is adequate to cover estimated losses in the receivables portfolio.

2.05 The allowance for loan losses reduces the carrying amount of loans receivable to the amount that is estimated to be collectible. FASB Statement No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, as amended by FASB Statement No. 118, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan—Income Recognition and Disclosures (an amendment of FASB Statement No. 114), addresses the accounting by creditors for impairment of certain loans. It is applicable to all creditors and to all loans, uncollateralized as well as collateralized, and loans that are restructured in a troubled debt restructuring involving a modification of terms except large groups of smaller-balance homogeneous loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment, loans that are measured at fair value or at the lower of cost or fair value, leases, and debt securities as defined in FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting

for Contingencies, and FASB Interpretation No. 14, Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss, provide the accounting guidance for recognition of estimated losses from the uncollectibility of receivables not within the scope of FASB Statement No. 114. FASB Statement No. 5 requires that an allowance for credit losses be established through a charge to the provision for loan losses in the period when it is probable that an asset has been impaired and the amount can be reasonably estimated. FASB Statement No. 114 requires that impairment of a loan be measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate or, as a practical expedient, at the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. FASB Statement No. 114 amends FASB Statement No. 5 to clarify that a creditor should evaluate the collectibility of both contractual interest and contractual principal of all receivables when assessing the need for a loss accrual. The Statement also amends FASB Statement No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings, to require a creditor to measure all loans that are restructured in a troubled debt restructuring involving a modification of terms in accordance with FASB Statement No. 114. FASB Statement No. 114 and FASB Statement No. 118 are effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1994.

- 2.06 FASB Statement No. 114, as amended by FASB Statement No. 118, does not address how a creditor should recognize, measure, or display interest income on impaired loans. Accordingly, creditors may use existing methods for recognizing interest income or the two methods discussed in FASB Statement No. 114 prior to the amendment. However, regardless of which income recognition method is used, an impairment shall be recognized if the net carrying amount of the loan exceeds the applicable fair value amount determined under the FASB Statement No. 114 measurement model.
- 2.07 FASB Statement No. 5, prohibits recognizing losses if the events causing the losses have not yet occurred. The act of lending money generally is not the event that causes asset impairment. Though some credit losses can be predicted, future losses should not be provided for at the time loans are made, because the events that cause the losses or loan impairment (for example, loss of employment, disability, or bankruptcy) have not yet occurred. Generally, a loan would be impaired at origination only if a faulty credit granting decision has been made or loan credit review procedures are inadequate or overly aggressive, in which case, the loss should be recognized at the date of loan origination. Management's analysis of historical loan loss experience may identify specific factors that indicate that loans have become impaired. Those factors, when evaluated collectively for loan portfolios over a period of time, often provide reasonably reliable indications of when such loss events have occurred.
- 2.08 Many consumer finance companies determine the allowance for credit losses using the portfolio approach because performing a receivable-by-receivable analysis would be impractical. In the portfolio approach, mathematical models that incorporate techniques such as linear regression analysis sometimes are used to estimate losses in the portfolio. Simpler methods also are used, such as estimating the reserve based on the historical percentage of loans made or outstanding that are written off.
- **2.09** Other finance companies periodically evaluate specific outstanding loans to identify those loans for which events have occurred that are likely to impair collectibility or collateral values, or both. This approach is more commonly used for large loans and diverse portfolios.

**2.10** Regardless of the method used to estimate the allowance for credit losses, present conditions such as the amount of delinquent receivables and the number of days they are past due; local, national, and international economic trends; credit policies and procedures; and the mix of receivables should be taken into account in evaluating the adequacy of the allowance.

#### **Accounting for Interest Income**

- 2.11 The distinction between interest-bearing and discount-basis loans has no economic or accounting significance. Paragraph 15 of APB Opinion No. 21, *Interest on Receivables and Payables*, requires, among other things, that discounts on receivables and payables be amortized as interest income or expense. The concepts and principles discussed in this chapter therefore apply to both types of loans.
- 2.12 Interest income should be measured and recognized in a manner that reflects the economic substance of the underlying transactions. Interest income derived from a loan accrues continuously at a constant rate over the periods that a finance company's resources are held by others. The following constitute the major factors that determine interest income:
  - a. The amount of money provided to others
  - b. The periods over which the money is provided
  - c. The effective interest rate
- 2.13 Captive finance companies that offer favorable financing to increase sales of related companies may present particular problems. APB Opinion No. 21 provides accounting guidance to use if the face amount of a note does not reasonably represent the present value of the consideration given or received in an exchange.

#### Measurement

2.14 The interest (actuarial) method should be used to account for interest income in accordance with FASB Statement No. 91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated With Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases. Under that method, interest on fixed-rate installment loans is measured and accrued over the lives of the loans to produce constant rates of interest (yields) when applied to the outstanding loan balances at any time in the lives of the loans. Application of the method produces loans carried at amounts equal to future receipts discounted at interest rates implicit in original loan agreements, excluding differences resulting from credit losses. Other computational methods may not be used unless they clearly produce results that reasonably approximate the interest (actuarial) method.

#### Recognition

2.15 A finance company's revenues from loans should be accrued over time in accordance with the terms of the contracts using the interest (actuarial) method. Even if collections are not timely, the amounts at which assets are recorded in the form of receivables generally should continue to increase. If collection is not probable, however, continuing to accrue income would not reflect economic substance. Accruals or amortization of discount and, in accordance with FASB Statement No. 91, paragraph 17, amortization of deferred net

fees or costs should therefore be suspended if collectibility of interest or principal is not probable. The following are examples of events that could cause such uncertainty on consumer loans:

- a. The borrower is in default under the terms of the loan agreement, and interest or principal payments are past due (often a stipulated number of days past due as established in company policies).
- b. The ability of the borrower to repay is in doubt because of events such as loss of employment or bankruptcy.
- c. The loan terms have been renegotiated.
- 2.16 Identifying commercial loans on which interest should be suspended is, at least mechanically, more difficult because, unlike consumer loans, commercial loans usually lack homogeneous characteristics. In addition to the factors described above, considerations may include whether—
  - Significant unsecured balances are due from debtors suffering continued operating losses.
  - b. The financial condition of the debtor is weak.
  - c. The outlook for the debtor's industry is unfavorable.
  - d. The ratio of collateral values to loans has decreased because of changes in market conditions.
  - e. A portion of the unpaid principal or accrued interest has been written off.

When recognition of interest has been suspended, interest income that has accrued on such loans should not be reversed even though receipt of those amounts may not be forthcoming. The potential uncollectibility of such amounts should be taken into consideration in the computation of the allowance for losses.

- 2.17 Accrual of interest generally should not be resumed until future collectibility of the loan and accrued interest becomes probable. Determining future collectibility is a matter of judgment that depends on considerations such as—
  - Whether the customer has resumed making regular payments for a certain number of installments.
  - Whether the reason for the customer's delinquency has been eliminated (such as reemployment of a consumer borrower or an improved economic outlook for a commercial borrower) or was an isolated circumstance unlikely to recur.
  - Whether an increase in the ratio of collateral values to loan amounts has occurred.
  - Whether there are any other substantive indications of the customer's regaining an ability to repay the loan.

#### Nonrefundable Fees

- 2.18 Finance companies may charge various types of fees to customers in connection with lending transactions, including the following:
  - a. Origination fees—amounts charged for originating loans. The amounts may be intended to cover the cost of underwriting, loan application processing, and reviewing legal titles to properties involved in the loans. Origination fees commonly are called points.

- b. Commitment fees—consideration potential borrowers pay to potential lenders for promises to lend money in the future.
- c. Delinquency fees—amounts debtors pay because of late payments on loans. Such fees generally are small and are intended to cover additional interest on precompute loans, to compensate the lender for additional collection costs associated with delinquencies, or both.
- d. Prepayment penalties—amounts borrowers pay to lenders, in addition to remaining outstanding principal, if borrowers pay off loans prior to contractual maturities.
- 2.19 FASB Statement No. 91 prescribes accounting for nonrefundable fees and costs associated with lending, committing to lend, or purchasing a loan or group of loans and their financial statement presentation. FASB Statement No. 91 specifies that—
  - Loan origination fees shall be recognized over the life of the related loan as an adjustment to yield.
  - Certain direct loan origination costs shall be recognized over the life of the related loan as a reduction of the loan's yield.
  - All loan commitment fees shall be deferred except for certain retrospectively determined fees; commitment fees meeting specified criteria shall be recognized over the loan commitment period; all other commitment fees shall be recognized as an adjustment of yield over the related loan's life or, if the commitment expires unexercised, recognized in income upon expiration of the commitment.
  - Loan fees, certain direct loan origination costs, and purchase premiums and discounts on loans shall be recognized as an adjustment of yield generally by the interest method based on the contractual terms of the loan. Prepayments, however, may be anticipated in certain circumstances.
- **2.20** Delinquency fees conceptually should be recognized in income when chargeable, assuming collectibility is reasonably estimable. In practice, delinquency fees generally are recognized in income when collected, because that approach simplifies efforts to account for such relatively minor receipts.
- 2.21 Prepayment penalties should not be recognized in income until loans are prepaid.

#### Rebates

2.22 Rebates are cancellations of portions of the precomputed finance charges on discount loans that occur when loan payments are made ahead of schedule. Rebate calculations generally are governed by state laws and may differ from unamortized finance charges on discount loans because many states require rebate calculations to be based on the Rule of 78s or other methods instead of the interest method. Accrual of interest income on discount loans should not be affected by the possibility that rebates may be calculated on a method different from the interest method. Differences between rebate calculations and accrual of interest income merely adjust original estimates of interest income and should be recognized in income when loans are prepaid or renewed.

#### **Accounting for Factoring Commissions**

2.23 Finance companies consider the extent of services to be provided under factoring arrangements by reviewing prospective clients' business oper-

ations. The amount a finance company charges as a factoring commission is based on such considerations as sales volume, number of invoices issued monthly, collection activities, and patterns of returns and chargebacks. If the finance company buys a client's receivables, the client is charged a commission, usually based on a percentage of receivables purchased, which is derived from the extent of services expected to be provided and the degree of credit risk assumed.

2.24 Finance companies should recognize factoring commissions over the periods in which services are rendered. Those periods begin when finance companies approve customers' credit and end when the customers' accounts are settled. In practice, finance companies generally recognize factoring commissions when receivables are bought, not over the longer period of providing services, because the differences between the effects of such allocations and the effects of immediate recognition generally would be immaterial. If the differences between the effects of such allocations and the effects of immediate recognition are material, then factoring commissions are recognized over the longer period of providing services.

# Accounting for Advances and Overadvances to Factoring Clients

2.25 Under advance factoring arrangements, finance companies generally do not treat advances to clients as receivables for financial statement purposes. Instead, advances are applied against amounts owed to clients from the purchase of clients' customer receivables. Such treatment is sound and is based on finance companies' expectations of repayment through collection of customer receivables rather than of direct repayment from clients.

2.26 Finance companies generally limit advances to percentages of the unpaid amounts of factored receivables. If clients require advances in excess of the maximum permitted under the factoring arrangements, finance companies may renegotiate the percentage limitation on advances or require clients to grant security interests in inventory or other assets. Overadvances, which are amounts in excess of outstanding receivables bought, create additional credit risk exposure for lenders. Such overadvances should be recorded as loans receivable and segregated from customer receivables bought under factoring arrangements.

# Accounting for Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables

2.27 When finance companies foreclose on loans deemed uncollectible, they may repossess goods or other properties that collateralize loans. After repossession, collateral usually is sold as quickly as possible to minimize losses. Repossessed assets acquired in loan liquidations may be significant because they absorb or reduce credit losses from defaulted loans.

2.28 Certain types of collateral may be readily salable in wholesale or other markets. Repossessions of such collateral are common. Repossessions of other types of collateral, such as household goods, usually entail losses because the market values of such collateral are so low that costs of repossession exceed

expected sale proceeds. The primary purpose of such collateral often is to prompt borrowers to repay loans out of concern that the collateral could be repossessed.

**2.29** Repossessions on commercial loans can result in substantial losses because of the bargain prices usually associated with reselling inventories and property, plant, and equipment. Auctioneers or other specialists may be needed to help sell the specialized types of properties that usually collateralize commercial loans.

#### **Recourse Arrangements on Sales of Retail Contracts**

- 2.30 Whether the finance company or the dealers are responsible for repossession losses originating from retail contracts depends on how the agreements provide for recourse between the parties. Terms of recourse arrangements, which vary considerably, include the following:
  - a. Full recourse. The dealer is required to pay off the uncollected receivable balance to the finance company at the date of repossession. Such balances ordinarily are net of unearned insurance premiums and finance income, and dealers are responsible for selling the repossessed property.
  - b. Partial or limited recourse. The dealer is liable for repossession losses up to an agreed amount (for example, the balance in his dealer's reserve account). The dealer's liability also may be partially or fully limited after passage of a defined period.
  - c. Nonrecourse. Loss is borne entirely by the finance company.
- **2.31** Repurchase agreements, which may incorporate recourse provisions as described above, also may exist between the finance company and dealers. Although such agreements vary, they generally provide that the dealer will buy back the collateral from the finance company at a predetermined price in the event of customer default and repossession by the finance company. The dealer may settle a repurchase obligation in cash or, if permitted by the finance company, by substituting other retail contracts.

#### Lower of Unpaid Balance and Fair Value

- **2.32** Borrowers' accounts should be credited for the unpaid loan balances or fair values of repossessed properties, whichever are lower. Borrowers' accounts also are credited for proceeds from cancellation of insurance, rebates of unearned finance income, and, if applicable, amounts transferred from dealer reserves in accordance with provisions of retail sales financing agreements. The remaining balances in the borrowers' accounts, commonly called *deficiency balances*, are adjustments of previous loss estimates and should be charged to the allowance for losses. In those instances in which proceeds from the sale of repossessed properties exceed the unpaid loan balance and are not required to be refunded, that excess should be recognized as a gain.
- 2.33 Repossessed assets should be carried at cost and classified on the balance sheet as other assets. Cost should be determined at the time of repos-

<sup>\*</sup> SOP. 92-3, Accounting for Foreclosed Assets, provides guidance on determining the balance sheet treatment of foreclosed assets after foreclosure. The SOP, which is included as appendix C of this guide, should be applied to foreclosed assets in financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1992.

session or foreclosure based on the lower of (a) unpaid loan balance and (b) fair value of repossessed assets.

- **2.34** If repossessed assets are held or likely to be held for more than a brief period of time prior to sale, cost (as defined in paragraph 2.33 above) should periodically be evaluated for recoverability, and a separate, additional valuation allowance for loss should be provided based on "net realizable value" determined as follows:
  - a. Estimated future sales price plus proceeds from use during the expected holding period, reduced by
  - b. Estimated costs of disposition, and reduced by
  - c. Estimated holding costs, such as taxes and maintenance, including the cost of funds tied up in holding such assets. The cost of funds should be based on the enterprise's combined cost of debt and equity.
- 2.35 Costs of capital improvements incurred in readying repossessed assets for sale that increase their values should be added to the carrying amount of the repossessed property. However, no amount should be capitalized that would increase the carrying amount above net realizable value. Differences between the carrying amounts of repossessed assets and amounts at which they subsequently are sold should not be charged or credited to the allowance for losses but should be recognized as gains or losses.
- **2.36** Although the accounting for repossessed assets should be based on fair values in accordance with FASB Statement No. 15 and SOP 92-3, it may be impractical to estimate the fair values of some repossessed consumer goods. As a practical solution to that problem, finance companies that expect to hold such repossessed goods for only short periods before reselling them sometimes carry those goods at the unpaid loan balances.

#### Accounting for Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks

2.37 Finance companies account for dealer reserves and holdbacks as liabilities. Dealer reserve accounts are credited for the contractually agreed dealer's share of the finance charges. Dealer reserve accounts may be charged for portions of finance income not earned as a result of customers paying off contracts before maturity. Charges also result from losses on full or partial recourse contracts and from payments to dealers in excess of minimum requirements.

#### **Accounting for Sales of Receivables**

- **2.38** A finance company may sell a portfolio of receivables to another finance company or financial institution for various reasons. For example, the buyer may be willing to pay an attractive premium for a portfolio of receivables to expand its operations, or the seller may be seeking to end operations in an area deemed unprofitable.
- 2.39 If those receivables contain recourse provisions, FASB Statement No. 77, Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of Receivables With Re-

course,\* controls whether such transactions should be accounted for as sales of receivables or as loans collateralized by receivables. The standard generally requires recognizing such a transfer as a sale if the transferor surrenders control of future economic benefits embodied in the receivables, the transferor's obligation under the recourse provisions can be reasonably estimated, and the transferee cannot require the transferor to repurchase the receivables except pursuant to the recourse provisions.

#### Financial Statement Presentation and Disclosure

- 2.40 Discount loans and interest-bearing loans should be presented similarly on the balance sheet, because the economic substance of the transactions is essentially the same. To accomplish that, discount loans should be presented net of unearned interest. Although disclosure of interest that is accrued but not collected on interest-bearing loans may be meaningful, disclosure of the unearned interest generally is not meaningful. If unearned interest on discount loans is disclosed, such disclosures should be in the notes and not in the number columns of the balance sheet.
- **2.41** The unamortized balance of loan origination, commitment, and other fees and costs and purchase premiums and discounts that is being recognized as an adjustment to yield should be classified on the balance sheet as part of the loan balance to which it relates. Amounts of loan origination, commitment, and other fees and costs recognized as an adjustment to yield should be reported as part of interest income. Amortization of other fees, such as commitment fees that are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the commitment period or included in income when the commitment expires, should be included with service fee income.
- **2.42** The provision for credit losses should be presented separately in the income statement. Actual credit losses, which may be for all or part of a particular loan (or off-balance-sheet financial instrument), should be deducted from the allowance. Recoveries of loans previously charged off should be added to the allowance when received.
- 2.43 The notes to the financial statements should include a summary of activity in the allowance for each period that an income statement is presented, including balances at the beginning and end of the periods, additions charged to operations, losses charged against the allowance, and recoveries of amounts

<sup>\*</sup> FASB Statement No. 125, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, supersedes FASB Statement No. 77. The Statement is effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after December 31, 1996, and is to be applied prospectively. Earlier or retroactive application is not permitted. FASB Statement No. 127, Deferral of the Effective Date of Certain Provisions of FASB Statement No. 125, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 125, replaces paragraph 19 of FASB Statement No. 125 with the following:

<sup>[</sup>FASB Statement No. 125] shall be effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after December 31, 1996 except that:

a. Paragraph 15 shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring after December 31, 1997.

b. For repurchase agreement, dollar-roll, securities lending, and similar transactions, paragraphs 9-12 and 237(b) shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring after December 31, 1997.

If it is not possible to determine whether a transfer occurring during calendar-year 1997 is covered by paragraph 19(b), then paragraphs 9–12 and 237(b) shall be applied to that transfer. All provisions of this Statement shall be applied prospectively, and earlier or retroactive application is not permitted.

previously charged off. A description of the accounting policies and methodology the entity used to estimate its allowance and related provision for credit losses should be included in the notes to the financial statements. Such a description should identify the factors that influenced management's judgment (for example, historical losses and existing economic conditions) and may also include discussion of risk elements relevant to particular categories of financial instruments. The nature and amount provided for credit losses related to off-balance-sheet financial instruments should be reported separately as liabilities.

- 2.44 The composition of finance receivables should be disclosed either in the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements in a manner that best sets forth the kinds of risks and liquidity involved. The amount of accrued interest should be included in the finance receivables but need not be disclosed separately. The amount of nonearning assets represented by consumer and commercial loans for which accruals have been suspended (see paragraphs 2.15 to 2.17 of this guide) should be disclosed separately.
- **2.45** FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related amendments and interpretations provide guidance on accounting and financial reporting for leases.
- 2.46 The expanded possible range in size and term of receivables within each receivable type has created a need for disclosure of information about terms and maturities. Though disclosure of contractual maturities may meet that need, such data will not always be relevant. For example, actual repayment experience often is faster than contractually required for consumer loans. If circumstances indicate that data on contractual maturities are not relevant, disclosure of data on prior collection experience also should be considered.
- 2.47 Financial statements should disclose interest and finance charges earned separately from other kinds of income, such as insurance premiums. In addition, the summary of significant accounting policies should explain the method of income recognition used. Policies for suspending and resuming accruals of income on delinquent loans and policies for charging off uncollectible loans should clearly disclose the basis for making such decisions. If the charge-off policy is based on a specific delinquency period, that period should be disclosed. Vague statements such as "consumer loans are charged off when considered to be uncollectible" are not meaningful and fail to disclose the substance of such policies.
- **2.48** FASB Statement No. 57, *Related Party Disclosures*, prescribes certain disclosures of material related party transactions. Such transactions may include loans to officers, directors, and employees.
- 2.49 FASB Statement No. 105, Disclosure of Information About Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk and Financial Instruments with Concentrations of Credit Risk, requires certain disclosures of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet credit or market risk and disclosure of significant concentrations of credit risk for all financial instruments.
- **2.50** FASB Statement No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value. Quoted market prices should be used if available. If quoted market prices are not available, management's best estimate of fair value should be used. Estimates may be based on (a) the market prices of similarly traded loans with similar credit ratings, interest rates, and maturity dates, (b) current prices (interest rates) offered for similar

loans in the company's own lending activities, or (c) valuations obtained from loan pricing series offered by various specialist firms or from other sources. If it is not practicable to estimate the fair value of a financial instrument or a class of financial instruments, FASB Statement No. 107 requires the disclosure of (a) information pertinent to estimating the fair value of that financial instrument or class of financial instruments, such as the carrying amount, effective interest rate, and maturity, and (b) the reasons why it is not practicable to estimate fair value.

- 2.51 FASB Statement No. 119, Disclosure about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires increased disclosures about derivatives and the financial instruments. FASB Statement No. 119 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years ending after December 15, 1994 (1995 for companies with less than \$150 million in assets) and applies to all companies.
- **2.52** FASB Statement No. 119 expands the disclosure requirements of FASB Statement No. 105 to encompass all derivative financial instruments, not just those with off-balance-sheet risk. In addition, it requires the following FASB Statement No. 105 disclosures to be provided, distinguished between the two general purposes for which derivative financial instruments are held or issued—trading and other than trading:
  - a. Face or contract amount (or notional principal amount).
  - b. Nature and terms, including at a minimum, a discussion of the credit and market risk of the instruments, the cash requirements of the instruments, and related accounting policies.
- **2.53** FASB Statement No. 119 also requires presentation of the above disclosure organized by category of financial instrument. Category refers to class of financial instrument, business activity, risk, or other grouping that is consistent with the management of those instruments. If the categorization is other than by class of financial instrument, FASB Statement No. 119 requires that the classes within a category be identified.
- 2.54 For companies that hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes, FASB Statement No. 119 requires disclosure of the average fair value of positions along with related end of period fair value distinguished between assets and liabilities during the reporting period and disaggregated net trading gains and losses. For companies that hold or issue derivatives for purposes other than trading, FASB Statement No. 119 requires disclosures about the objective for holding those instruments and how those instruments are reported in the financial statements. FASB Statement No. 119 also requires companies that use derivatives to hedge anticipated transactions to provide a description of the anticipated transactions and when they are expected to occur, the amount of hedging gains and losses explicitly deferred and the events that will trigger the recognition of those gains or losses, and the classes of derivatives used to hedge the anticipated transactions. FASB Statement No. 119 also amends FASB Statement No. 107 to require that fair value disclosures distinguish between financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes and financial instruments held or issued for other purposes.

# Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities

2.55 FASB Statement No. 125 provides accounting and reporting standards for transfers and servicing of financial assets, including securities. The

Statement is based on consistent application of a financial components approach that focuses on control. FASB Statement No. 125 describes that, under that approach, after a transfer of financial assets, an entity recognizes the financial and servicing assets it controls and the liabilities it has incurred, derecognizes financial assets when control has been surrendered, and derecognizes liabilities when extinguished. FASB Statement No. 125 provides consistent standards for distinguishing transfers of financial assets that are sales from transfers that are secured borrowings.

- 2.56 Under FASB Statement No. 125, a transfer of financial assets (or all or a portion of a financial asset) in which the transferor surrenders control over those assets is accounted for as a sale to the extent that consideration other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets is received in exchange. Paragraph 9 of the Statement says a transferor has surrendered control over transferred assets if and only if all of the following conditions are met:
  - a. The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor—put presumptively beyond the reach of the transferor and its creditors, even in bankruptcy or other receivership (paragraphs 23 and 24 of the Statement give related guidance).
  - b. Either (1) each transferee obtains the right-free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right (paragraph 25 of the Statement)—to pledge or exchange the transferred assets or (2) the transferee is a qualifying special-purpose entity (paragraph 26 of the Statement) and the holders of beneficial interests in that entity have the right—free of conditions that constrain them from taking advantage of that right (paragraph 25 of the Statement) to pledge or exchange those interests.
  - c. The transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through (1) an agreement that both entitles and obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem them before their maturity (paragraphs 27–29 of the Statement) or (2) an agreement that entitles the transferor to repurchase or redeem transferred assets that are not readily obtainable (paragraph 30 of the Statement).
- 2.57 Paragraph 10 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that liabilities and derivatives incurred or obtained by transferors as part of a transfer of financial assets be measured at fair value, if practicable. Paragraph 10 of the Statement also requires that servicing assets and other retained interests in the transferred assets be measured by allocating the previous carrying amount between the assets sold, if any, and retained interests, if any, based on their relative fair values at the date of the transfer. Specifically, paragraph 10 of the Statement requires that, upon completion of any transfer of financial assets, the transferor shall:
  - a. Continue to carry in its statement of financial position any retained interest in the transferred assets, including if applicable, servicing assets (paragraphs 35-41 of the Statement give related guidance), beneficial interests in assets transferred to a qualifying special-purpose entity in a securitization (paragraphs 47-58 of the Statement), and retained undivided interests (paragraph 33 of the Statement).
  - b. Allocate the previous carrying amount between the assets sold, if any, and the retained interests, if any, based on their relative fair values at the date of transfer (paragraphs 31–34 of the Statement).

- **2.58** Paragraph 11 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that, upon completion of a transfer of assets that satisfies the conditions to be accounted for as a sale (paragraph 9 of the Statement), the transferor (seller) shall:
  - a. Derecognize all assets sold.
  - b. Recognize all assets obtained and liabilities incurred in consideration as proceeds of the sale, including cash, put or call options held or written (for example, guarantee or recourse obligations), forward commitments (for example, commitments to deliver additional receivables during the revolving periods of some securitizations), swaps (for example, provisions that convert interest rates from fixed to variable), and servicing liabilities, if applicable (paragraphs 31, 32, and 35–41 of the Statement give related guidance).
  - c. Initially measure at fair value assets obtained and liabilities incurred in a sale (paragraphs 42-44 of the Statement) or, if it is not practicable to estimate the fair value of an asset or a liability, apply alternative measures (paragraphs 45 and 46 of the Statement).
  - d. Recognize in earnings any gain or loss on the sale.

Paragraph 11 of the Statement further requires that the transferee recognize all assets obtained and any liabilities incurred and initially measure them at fair value (in aggregate, presumptively the price paid).

2.59 If a transfer of financial assets in exchange for cash or other consideration (other than beneficial interests in the transferred assets) does not meet the criteria for a sale in paragraph 9 of FASB Statement No. 125, paragraph 12 of the Statement requires that the transferor and transferee account for the transfer as a secured borrowing with pledge of collateral. As discussed in paragraph 2.58, paragraph 15 of the Statement provides guidance and also requires that debtors reclassify financial assets pledged as collateral and that secured parties recognize those assets and their obligation to return them in certain circumstances in which the secured party has taken control of those assets.

**2.60** Recognition and Measurement of Servicing Assets and Liabilities. Paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that:

Each time an entity undertakes an obligation to service financial assets it shall recognize either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract, unless it securitizes the assets, retains all of the resulting securities, and classifies them as debt securities held-to-maturity in accordance with FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. If the servicing asset or liability was purchased or assumed rather than undertaken in a sale or securitization of the financial assets being serviced, it shall be measured initially at its fair value, presumptively the price paid. A servicing asset or liability shall be amortized in proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing income (if servicing revenues exceed servicing costs) or net servicing loss (if servicing costs exceed servicing revenues). A servicing asset or liability shall be assessed for impairment or increased obligation based on its fair value (paragraphs 35–38 of the Statement provide additional guidance).

2.61 Financial Assets Subject to Prepayment. Paragraph 14 of FASB Statement No. 125 requires that interest-only strips, loans, other receivables, or retained interests in securitizations that can contractually be prepaid or otherwise settled in such a way that the holder would not recover substantially

all of its recorded investment shall be subsequently measured like investments in debt securities classified as available-for-sale or trading under FASB Statement No. 115, as amended by paragraph 233 of FASB Statement No. 125.

**2.62** Secured Borrowings and Collateral. Paragraph 15 of FASB Statement No. 125 says:

A debtor may grant a security interest in certain assets to a lender (the secured party) to serve as collateral for its obligation under a borrowing, with or without recourse to other assets of the debtor. An obligor under other kinds of current or potential obligations, for example, interest rate swaps, also may grant a security interest in certain assets to a secured party. If collateral is transferred to the secured party, the custodial arrangement is commonly referred to as a pledge. Secured parties sometimes are permitted to sell or repledge (or otherwise transfer) collateral held under a pledge. The same relationships occur, under different names, in transfers documented as sales that are accounted for as secured borrowings (paragraph 12). The accounting for collateral by the debtor (or obligor) and the secured party depends on whether the secured party has taken control over the collateral and on the rights and obligations that result from the collateral arrangement:

- a. If (1) the secured party is permitted by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral and (2) the debtor does not have the right and ability to redeem the collateral on short notice, for example, by substituting other collateral or terminating the contract, then
  - (i) The debtor shall reclassify that asset and report that asset in its statement of financial position separately (for example, as securities receivable from broker) from other assets not so encumbered.
  - (ii) The secured party shall recognize that collateral as its asset, initially measure it at fair value, and also recognizes its obligation to return it.
- b. If the secured party sells or repledges collateral on terms that do not give it the right and ability to repurchase or redeem the collateral from the transferee on short notice and thus may impair the debtors right to redeem it, the secured party shall recognize the proceeds from the sale or the asset repledged and its obligation to return the asset to the extent that it has not already recognized them. The sale or repledging of the asset is a transfer subject to the provisions of this Statement.
- c. If the debtor defaults under the terms of the secured contract and is no longer entitled to redeem the collateral it shall derecognize the collateral, and the secured party shall recognize the collateral as its asset to the extent it has not already recognized it and initially measure it at fair value.
- d. Otherwise the debtor shall continue to carry the collateral as its asset, and the secured party shall not recognize the pledged asset.

Paragraphs 61 through 65 of FASB Statement No. 125 discuss application of the Statement to securities lending transactions. Application of the Statement to repurchase agreements and wash sales are discussed in paragraphs 66 through 71 of the Statement.

## Disclosures of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties

2.63 SOP 94-6, Disclosure of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties, was issued on December 30, 1994. This SOP applies to financial statements

prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to nongovernmental entities. It applies to all entities that issue such statements. It does not apply to condensed or summarized interim financial statements. It requires reporting entities to include in their financial statements disclosures about:

- a. The nature of their operations.
- b. Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements.
- **2.64** In addition, if specified disclosure criteria are met, it requires entities to include in their financial statements disclosures about:
  - a. Certain significant estimates.
  - b. Current vulnerability due to certain concentrations.
- **2.65** The provisions of this SOP are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years ending after December 15, 1995, and for financial statements for interim periods in fiscal years subsequent to the year for which the SOP is first applied. Early application is encouraged but not required.

#### Audit Objectives for Receivables and Income

- **2.66** An audit of finance receivables and finance income should be designed to provide reasonable assurance that—
  - Loans and receivables are valid obligations owed to the entity at the date of the financial statements.
  - b. The allowance for related losses is adequate to provide for estimated losses in the loan portfolio at the date of the financial statements.
  - c. Accrued interest revenues for the period on both interest-bearing and precompute loans have been properly recorded.
  - d. Provisions for credit losses have been properly recorded.
  - e. Adequate disclosures, including proper disclosure of any pledged or assigned receivables, are included in the financial statements.
  - f. Deferred loan origination costs are properly stated and amortization is properly computed.

#### **Audit Planning**

2.67 The audit procedures performed in connection with the allowance for credit losses typically are time-consuming and are most efficient when initiated early in the fieldwork. Because of the subjective nature of the loan review process, experienced audit personnel, preferably with prior finance company auditing experience and, if necessary, with knowledge of industries in which the finance company's loans are concentrated, should closely supervise or perform this section of the audit. The assigned audit staff should also understand the lending environment, including credit strategy, credit risk, and the lending policies, procedures, and control environment of the finance company, and should be familiar with known related parties and related party transactions.

2.68 The overriding factor in the credit extension process is the amount of credit risk associated with the lending process, which is addressed early in the auditor's review of the finance company's business and control environment. For individual loans, credit risk pertains to the borrower's ability and willingness to pay and is assessed before credit is granted or renewed and periodically throughout the loan term.

- **2.69** Additional risks, however, are involved in the overall credit process, and the finance company should assess them when developing credit strategy, defining target markets, and designing proper controls over credit initiation and credit supervision. Those additional risks include the following:
  - a. Collateral risk. The finance company may be exposed to loss on collateralized loans if its security interest is not perfected or the collateral is not otherwise under its control, or if the value of the collateral declines.
  - b. Concentration risk. Inadequate diversification of the loan portfolio in terms of different industries, geographic regions, or number of borrowers may result in significant losses. A high concentration of loans to companies in an industry experiencing economic problems, for example, would constitute a concentration risk.
  - c. Fraud risk. Loans may expose the finance company to loss by not being either bona fide or arm's-length transactions.
  - d. Insider risk. Loans to executive officers, directors, and principal shareholders of the finance company and related interests of such insiders may expose the finance company to loss if these loans are made to related individuals, companies, or both, with little credit history, or to newly organized or highly leveraged enterprises with insufficient collateral and inadequate financial information.
  - e. Legal and regulatory risk. Illegally granted loans, loans with usurious interest rates, and loans with terms that are not adequately disclosed to the borrower may expose the finance company to loss.
  - f. Management risk. Management's competence, judgment, and integrity in originating, disbursing, supervising, collecting, and reviewing loans could substantially affect the collectibility of loans.
  - g. Operations risk. Funds might be disbursed without proper loan authorization, collateral documentation, or loan documentation. Failure to evaluate and monitor potentially uncollectible loans also constitutes an operations risk.
- 2.70 Audit risk and materiality are considered together in determining the nature, timing, and extent of auditing procedures and in evaluating the results of those procedures. SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting an Audit, provides guidance on audit risk and materiality as they relate to planning and performing an audit.
- 2.71 Audit risk and materiality are considered initially at the financial statement level in order to limit the risk of undetected material misstatement of the financial statements taken as a whole to a low level. However, the auditor should also consider audit risk at the account level (that is, allowance for credit losses) to assist in determining the scope of auditing procedures for the particular account balance or class of transaction. Because the loan portfolio is usually the finance company's largest asset, and the allowance for credit losses is, to a significant extent, based on subjective judgments, the allowance is usually a high-risk audit area.
- 2.72 Effective loan review and internal audit departments can provide valuable assistance to the auditor and improve audit efficiency. Discussions with loan review and internal audit staff can provide the auditor with information concerning loan customers, related party transactions, and account histories that may not be readily available elsewhere. In addition, because it is sometimes directly involved in implementing control systems, the internal audit department can provide the auditor with important system descriptions.

- 2.73 Sometimes the loan review and internal audit departments' testing procedures are of such quality that the auditor may conclude that it would be efficient to consider the work of the loan review and internal audit staffs in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures. SAS No. 65, The Auditor's Consideration of the Internal Audit Function in an Audit of Financial Statements, provides the auditor with guidance on considering the work of internal auditors and on using internal auditors to provide direct assistance to the auditor in an audit performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
- 2.74 In establishing the scope of the work to be performed, the auditor normally considers the following factors:
  - a. Composition of the loan portfolio
  - b. Identified potential problem loans
  - c. Trends in loan volume by major categories, especially categories experiencing rapid growth, and in delinquencies, nonaccrual, and restructured loans
  - d. Previous loss and recovery experience, including timeliness of charge-offs
  - Concentrations of loans to individuals and their related interests, industries, and geographic regions
  - f. Size of individual credit exposures (few, large loans versus numerous, small loans)
  - g. Extent of use of work performed by internal loan review and internal audit functions
  - h. Total amount of loans and problem loans, including delinquent and nonaccrual loans, by branch
  - i. Lending, charge-off, collection, and recovery policies and procedures
  - Local, national, and international economic and environmental conditions
  - k. Experience, competence, and depth of lending management and staff
  - l. Results of regulatory examinations
  - m. Related party lending

#### **Internal Control**

2.75 An overview of the various controls pertaining to finance receivables and related accounts is included in the next section of this chapter. Although not all controls identified are found in every finance company, the following section lists considerations that may provide guidance in obtaining an understanding of internal control and assessing control risk.

#### Receivables and Income

- **2.76** Controls pertaining to loans are determined partly by the type of loan and the related risks involved. In obtaining an understanding of controls and to assess control risk pertaining to loan transactions, matters the auditor might consider include whether—
  - Duties are segregated.
  - Loans are made only in accordance with established policies.
  - Credit reports are obtained for loans.

- Loans are properly approved by officers or branch managers and, if required, reviewed by a loan committee.
- Loan approval, disbursement, and collection (access to assets) are checked, performed by, or adequately tested by other employees.
- Management has established dollar limits and minimum credit standards on loans.
- Advances against significant chattels are made only after physical inspection of the property and determination that the borrower has proper title to the property.
- Loans or advances on accounts receivable are made only against verified claims for merchandise actually shipped.
- Management reviews or internal audit procedures are sufficient to detect problems early.
- Receivables balances are confirmed as part of management review or internal audit procedures.
- Physical protection of notes, collateral, and supporting documents is adequate.
- Employees who do not process or record loan transactions prepare and reconcile ledger trial balances with subsidiary and other control accounts on a timely basis.
- Paid notes are canceled and returned with collateral agreements, if any, to the borrowers.
- Collateral is reviewed and physically inspected periodically.
- UCC filings are updated periodically.
- Personal or corporate guarantees are updated periodically.
- Corporate borrowers' or guarantors' financial statements are received and reviewed periodically.
- Documents supporting new loans are inspected for proper form, completeness, and accuracy by someone other than the lending officer or branch manager.
- Loan balances are periodically compared with current collateral values.
- Status reports are prepared indicating the condition of collateralized receivables, turnover of inventory collateral, and other information, and such reports are reviewed by management.
- Loans are reviewed in a timely fashion for collectibility; the adequacy
  of the allowance for credit losses is evaluated and documented; and
  write-offs are recorded as soon as loans are reasonably expected to
  become uncollectible.
- Aging schedules are accurately and periodically prepared, and are used to help collection efforts and to assess collectibility.
- Control is maintained over charged-off loans.
- Reasonable collection efforts continue after the date of charge-off.
- Adequate procedures assure that income is accurately computed by the interest (actuarial) method.
- Loans are reviewed regularly to determine whether income accruals should be suspended or reinstated in accordance with company policies.
- Remedial action programs are in place for all substandard loans and are being carried out in a timely manner.

- Changes in state laws and regulations are monitored to make sure that lending activities continue to be in compliance.
- Payment extensions, deferments, or other modifications to repayment terms are made only in accordance with established policies and are reviewed by management.
- Rebates of precomputed interest and insurance premiums made in connection with renewals and early payoffs are computed in accordance with state regulations.
- Extension fees, service fees, and late charges are computed in accordance with state regulations.

#### Loan and Related Files

- 2.77 Loan files for most types of finance receivables are often significant sources of information for the auditor. The documents in loan files vary according to the types of loans. The timely receipt and review of those documents provide a basis for granting credit, reviewing extensions, and maintaining an awareness of loan status.
- 2.78 The principal support for most consumer loans is the signed note and security instrument. In addition to that support, consumer loan files may contain loan applications, credit agency or scoring sheets used to evaluate the creditworthiness of borrowers, histories of collection activities, and evidence of existing insurance coverage. Consumer loan files also should contain indications of compliance with the consumer credit disclosure requirements of the Truth in Lending Act. That statute, which provides for mandatory disclosure of effective interest rates being charged to the consumer, applies to all lending institutions.
- 2.79 Documents in mortgage loan files may depend in part on local statutory requirements and company policy. In addition to various documents found in consumer loan files, the basic documents generally include but are not necessarily limited to the notes, loan applications, appraisal reports, deeds of trust, mortgages, title insurance or opinions, insurance policies, settlement statements, and Department of Veterans Affairs guarantees or Federal Housing Administration insurance, if applicable.
- 2.80 A typical commercial loan file generally includes financial statements of both the borrower and guarantors (individual or corporate), copies of supplemental agreements between the finance company and the borrower, and other related correspondence. Other materials in commercial loan files may include copies of UCC filings, documentation of loan approvals summarizing the reasons for granting credit, documentation of ongoing reviews of the borrowers' credit standings, information on loan collateral, and histories of collection activities. Commercial loan terms tend to be tailored for the individual borrower, unlike consumer loans, which generally have standardized terms.

## Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables

- 2.81 Controls related to repossessed assets acquired in liquidations may vary considerably among companies and by the nature of the collateral. In obtaining an understanding of controls related to repossessed assets, the auditor should consider whether
  - a. Separate subledger accounts are maintained for assets acquired in liquidations even though amounts of such assets held at a particular time may be immaterial.

- b. Repossessions are authorized and disposed of in accordance with company policies.
- c. Repossessions are promptly reported and recorded.
- Operating procedures provide for reasonable valuation of repossessed assets acquired in liquidations.
- e. Net realizable values of unsold repossessed assets are reviewed periodically to determine if carrying amounts should be written down.
- f. Controls are established over reconditioning and other costs of repossessions and proceeds from sales of repossessed properties.
- g. Controls assure that accounting entries are accurate for recourse arrangements with dealers that provide for sharing of repossession risks and responsibilities.

#### **Dealer Reserves**

2.82 In obtaining an understanding of controls related to dealers' reserves, the auditor should consider whether—

- a. Dealer-reserve arrangements are established only in accordance with company policies.
- b. Documentation is sufficient to provide enforceability of the contract terms.
- c. Accounting procedures are adequate to ensure that improper charges are not made to dealer-reserve accounts for rebates, delinquent accounts, charge-offs, and other items.
- d. Charges to dealer-reserve accounts are adequately reviewed and approved by management.
- e. Debit balances are followed up for collection.
- f. Dealer-reserve statements are sent to dealers if required by terms of the dealer agreements.

#### **Branch Offices**

2.83 Finance companies that lend to consumers often operate branch offices to make and service loans because of the importance of convenience, close personal contact with customers, and competitive considerations. Branch offices usually have limited numbers of personnel, so complete segregation of duties may not be feasible. To compensate, many finance companies rely on central computerized controls and on management personnel to regularly review branch office operations. On visits to branch offices, management may—

- Review the extent of collection efforts and control over delinquent accounts.
- Review a sample of loans made since the last visit for proper approval and for quality and adequacy of documentation.
- Review a sample of loans for terms and financing charges.
- Count cash and confirm selected receivables.
- Observe branch employees to appraise their performance.
- Prepare a report to review with the branch manager that serves as a checklist for follow-up work and provides documentation of the visit.

- 2.84 Some of these procedures may be performed by the internal audit staff. Existence and effectiveness of internal audit procedures may provide additional controls beyond those supplied by management reviews. In addition, each level of management may be continuously monitored by the nexthigher level of management to determine whether operating controls for review of branch operations are complied with. The auditor may conclude, therefore, that the audit of branch offices may be limited to focus primarily on the work of internal auditors or management reviews.
- **2.85** With the increased reliance on EDP systems, many branch office procedures have become streamlined, permitting less detailed records to be maintained. Below, the section "Branch Audits" in paragraphs 2.152 through 2.154 further discusses the effects on the audit of a finance company's reliance on EDP systems as well as its internal audit or management review procedures.

## Auditing Receivables and the Allowance for Losses

**2.86** The auditor uses information from tests of finance receivables and the allowance for losses to assess the collectibility of receivables as well as to determine whether the allowance for losses reasonably covers expected losses.

#### The Allowance for Losses

- **2.87** The allowance for loan losses represents an amount that, in management's judgment, approximates the current amount of loans that will not be collected. The auditor is responsible for evaluating whether management has recorded a reasonable estimate of the amount of assets that have been impaired.
- 2.88 Receivables from consumer loans usually are evaluated in total rather than on the basis of individual loans because they consist of large volumes of relatively small balances. In such situations, it is more difficult to judge collectibility of specific loans than to evaluate collectibility of portfolios taken as a whole. Therefore, auditing procedures for consumer lending generally emphasize review, documentation, and reliance on data processing systems; controls; and accounting policies. Ratio analyses, historical statistics, current aging conditions, and other general trends are particularly important in evaluating collectibility. A change in composition of receivables may affect the allowance for losses, because greater risks are associated with certain types of loans than with others.
- 2.89 Many commercial loans are tailor-made and relatively large. The size and uniqueness of commercial receivables necessitates a greater focus on specific loans and problems than is required for more homogeneous direct cash loans and retail sales contracts. Thus, auditing procedures in connection with commercial lending tend to place less emphasis on statistical data and historical trends and focus more on current collateral values, industry concentration, and financial conditions of individual borrowers. Particular attention should be given to loans in economically distressed industries. The auditor should discuss questionable loans with management. Commercial loan files should be reviewed on a test basis for information such as borrowers' audited financial statements and loan histories. Reviewing internal audit workpapers or field audit reports also may be useful.
- 2.90 In evaluating the allowance for credit losses, the auditor should consider accrued interest on loans and unamortized deferred net fees or costs.

Also, the auditor should be aware of the basis of any changes made in the credit evaluation and granting processes, changes in credit scoring processes or credit ratings of corporate borrowers, changes in loan administration procedures, including ways of curing delinquencies (such as accepting partial payments or rewriting contractual terms on delinquent loans), and changes in timing or other policies followed to decide when to charge off uncollectible loans.

**2.91** A significant factor affecting the adequacy of the allowance for losses on commercial loans and receivables is the value of the underlying collateral. Depending on the nature of the collateral, the finance company may elect to obtain independent appraisals of current collateral. Adequacy of collateral in the event of a loan default requires special attention if the collateral is not readily marketable or is susceptible to decline in realizable values. The auditor should evaluate the effect, if any, of recourse arrangements on receivables and the adequacy of the allowance for losses. (See paragraphs 2.139 through 2.149 of this guide for a further discussion of collateralized loans.)

## **Loan Origination Costs**

**2.92** The auditor should gain an understanding of the finance company's procedures for computing deferred loan origination costs including the recognition of those costs in the income statement. In reviewing and testing the finance company's deferred loan origination costs and their amortization, the auditor's objectives are to gain reasonable assurance that (a) costs relate only to completed loans and are limited to the costs described in paragraphs 5 and 6 of FASB Statement No. 91; and (b) amortized costs are recognized as an adjustment of yield and included in determining interest income.

## **Credit Approval Policies**

- **2.93** Understanding credit approval policies is an important facet of an audit of a finance company. If the auditor is concerned about the adequacy of the finance company's credit policies based on a review of those policies, or if tests of controls indicate that controls over credit policies may be ineffective, the auditor may need to expand the scope of substantive tests to evaluate credit risks that the finance company has assumed.
- 2.94 The auditor should be alert for changes in credit requirements during the period, particularly to less conservative requirements, and evaluate the effect of those changes on the quality of the portfolio. Additionally, the auditor may evaluate whether the company reviews its credit approval policies in light of changes in the economic environment that might affect creditors' ability to repay loans.
- **2.95** Credit approval policies and procedures differ significantly for consumer and commercial lending activities.

## **Consumer Credit Approval**

2.96 Finance companies generally follow standard procedures to assess creditworthiness of prospective borrowers before approving consumer loans. Such procedures usually include investigation of a prospective borrower's employment history, salary, credit history, and completion of a credit scoring sheet on which an overall evaluation is made of the borrower's creditworthiness. Specific procedures may vary by type of loan (for example, real estate versus unsecured loans) and by type of customer (for example, new customers versus present customers).

2.97 If after obtaining an understanding of internal control the auditor decides to assess control risk below the maximum level, the auditor should perform tests of controls to evaluate the effectiveness of the relevant controls. Such tests of controls should be performed on a sample of new loans made since the date of the most recent audited financial statements.

## **Commercial Credit Approval**

- 2.98 Collateral for commercial loans generally is required to equal at least an amount sufficient to secure repayment in the event of a forced liquidation, thus requiring a thorough review of collateral value. However, repayment of a commercial loan generally depends on the borrower's ability to generate cash principally through operations. Therefore, a finance company usually performs a thorough review to assess the quality of management and the financial position of a prospective commercial borrower, as well as the overall prospects for the borrower's business to generate sufficient cash to liquidate the loan.
- 2.99 In approving commercial loans, a finance company usually analyzes the prospective borrower's financial statements and may consider factors such as the prospective borrower's financial position and operating results as compared with those of other businesses in the same industry. Various statistics, such as inventory and receivables turnover, often are developed to facilitate the analysis. The finance company also may study receivables aging schedules to help determine the quality of accounts receivable. Furthermore, the finance company may consider the potential effects of prevailing economic conditions on the borrower. The finance company also may obtain projections of future cash needs from borrowers, particularly when considering the need for overadvances in factoring or revolving credit arrangements.
- **2.100** Credit reports, such as those prepared by rating agencies, may be considered, and references may be obtained from the borrower's bank as well as from other sources. The borrower's corporate structure should be studied to determine the existence and the extent of possible related party transactions. Additional procedures may be necessary to estimate the value of inventory and fixed assets pledged as collateral. Finance companies often send field representatives on visits to borrowers' places of business to physically inspect inventories and premises, review agings of receivables and accounting records, evaluate internal accounting and management controls, and obtain direct impressions of the quality of operations and management.
- 2.101 If after obtaining an understanding of controls pertaining to credit approval policies for commercial loans, the auditor decides to assess control risk below the maximum level, the auditor should perform tests of controls. In performing tests of controls, the auditor should consider testing supporting documentation to determine whether all procedures have been satisfactorily completed. Loan approvals generally are documented in the loan files and sometimes in minutes of the meetings of loan committees and the board of directors. If the finance company sends field representatives to prospective borrowers' places of business to review their business operations, the auditor may wish to review their written reports or to accompany those persons on one or more visits to assess the quality of their reviews. Loan approvals deemed questionable by the auditor should be discussed with management to better evaluate their judgment and to ascertain that undue risk of default does not exist.

## **Factoring**

2.102 Finance companies review potential clients' operations to determine whether to factor receivables. Many procedures used for those reviews

are similar to procedures used to approve other types of commercial loans. A loan officer usually is designated to oversee the review; final approval by a loan committee may be required.

- 2.103 If the finance company decides to buy the client's receivables, the review is used for several other purposes. The commission to be charged for bookkeeping and collection services is calculated from information provided by review of sales volume, the number of invoices processed monthly, the amount of returns and chargebacks, and collection activities. The review also is used to set limitations on the maximum amount in receivables that the finance company is willing to buy and, if needed, the amounts of seasonal overadvances to be permitted. Such limitations ordinarily are reviewed periodically for changes in a client's needs or circumstances.
- 2.104 If a client's business fails, the finance company usually has problems collecting the remaining customer accounts because of inability to settle unresolved disputes between customers and the client that otherwise would have resulted in chargebacks to the client. Therefore, the auditor should consider the reasonableness of initial and subsequent reviews of the client's operations and financial condition in determining whether the finance company faces undue risk of default on the client's customer accounts.
- 2.105 In addition to reviewing a client's financial position, a finance company reviews the client's customers' credit for approval before goods are shipped. Finance companies usually establish for each customer a line of credit that is reviewed periodically (for example, every ninety days) to determine whether it should be raised or lowered based on changes in payment patterns, sales, credit ratings, and other circumstances. Periodic reviews are generally documented in customer files. Furthermore, a customer may buy goods or services from several of the finance company's clients. If so, the finance company typically prorates the credit limit of such a customer among the clients with which the customer does business. Therefore, to help control credit approvals, a finance company's accounting system usually provides aggregate information on total receivables due from a customer—even though the receivables may be due to a number of clients rather than to a single one.
- 2.106 A client usually submits orders to the finance company by telephone, teletype, or mail. Orders below a certain amount may be approved automatically. Orders for established customer accounts that have not exceeded their lines of credit also may be automatically approved. Some finance companies use a computerized credit-checking system to initially review orders for approval or rejection or to signal that additional investigation is required, or both.
- 2.107 The auditor should consider the reasonableness of customer creditapproval policies, including those pertaining to periodic or continuous review of customer credit standings, and also whether to perform tests of controls over such policies. Approved and rejected customer orders usually are recorded on client approval sheets. The auditor may select a sample of client invoices recorded by the finance company and trace them to the approval sheets to determine whether invoices booked represent approved orders. The auditor also may select from the approval sheets a sample of both approved and rejected customer orders for confirmation with clients. If the client responds that the finance company approved an order listed as rejected, the auditor should question the effectiveness of customer credit controls and consider whether the client has a potential legal claim against the finance company for that customer order.

2.108 Controls over customer credit limits also may be examined by selecting customers who buy goods or services from several clients of a factor. Amounts owed should be added to determine that each customer's credit limit has not been exceeded. If customers' cumulative credit limits have been exceeded, the auditor should consider the effectiveness of the related controls in designing substantive tests to determine whether the finance company has assumed additional credit risk.

#### Collections

**2.109** In auditing collections, the auditor is concerned with the extent of collection efforts on accounts written off and procedures for controlling collections on accounts previously written off. If a finance company has many branch offices, it may be appropriate to investigate and test collection efforts at selected branch offices. Accounts written off may be confirmed on a test basis to determine whether collections, if any, have been properly recorded.

2.110 Changes in the intensity of collection efforts are likely to affect the adequacy of the allowance for losses. Decreases in amounts budgeted for salaries and other collection costs may indicate that collection efforts have been reduced and that delinquencies and bad debts might increase. Collection efforts also may be adversely affected by increased turnover of employees assigned to such efforts, indicating the use of less qualified persons, or by concentrating employee effort on making new loans, with a consequent lessening in efforts to collect existing receivables.

## **Aging Schedules**

2.111 Finance companies prepare aging schedules to review collectibility of loans. A finance company uses aging information to help assess collectibility of accounts and to determine where to concentrate collection efforts. Collectibility of receivables that are more than a stipulated number of days delinquent should be questioned. Some companies automatically write off such delinquent receivables. Management may decide to write off certain delinquent accounts because the costs of collecting them outweigh potential benefits. If liberal extension policies or practices exist, extended accounts should be given special attention even though they are not delinquent.

2.112 Accounts receivable from retail sales contracts typically are aged by the contractual method, which is based on the status of payments under the original terms of the contracts. Such agings generally are modified for deferments and extensions of original contractual terms. Direct consumer loans historically have been aged by many lenders using the recency-of-payments method. Under this method, loans are aged based on the month in which the most recent collections were received, regardless of contractual payment terms for amounts of payments or loan periods.

2.113 The recency-of-payments method of aging was developed years ago, when direct consumer loans were for relatively modest amounts due over relatively short periods. In those circumstances, lenders were interested in regular collections of principal and accrued charges and less concerned with contractual terms of the loans. That emphasis is reflected in the recency method. More recently, direct consumer loans, particularly second mortgage loans, have been for larger amounts and longer periods. Therefore, lenders increasingly have emphasized collections of principal and charges in accordance with contractual terms. That emphasis is apparent in the Robert Morris Associates Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire, which has prescribed the contractual method for large direct cash loans.

- 2.114 The contractual method is considered more conservative than the recency-of-payments method; however, some finance companies weaken the basis of the contractual method by modifying their calculations. For example, such companies may consider accounts contractually current when two timely payments have been made on an account previously considered delinquent. Therefore, regardless of which aging method is used, understanding whether and how clients may reclassify delinquent loans to current status is important.
- 2.115 The auditor can compare results of current agings with results of past agings to identify unusual variances. The auditor should become familiar with aging policies and may refer to Robert Morris Associates questionnaires, which usually describe aging policies. The auditor should be aware that recent payments, which may have altered the classification of particular accounts, may not indicate the ultimate collectibility of those accounts. The auditor also should consider the effect of partial payments on the aging.
- 2.116 The aging of receivables also is affected by extension and renewal policies. Loan renewals involving little or no advances of additional cash to customers deserve special attention. Some managements believe renewals, sometimes called salvage renewals, should be granted only with additional cosigners or collateral, unless customers can demonstrate increased ability or willingness to repay such loans. Other managements believe renewals should never be granted. Although different circumstances may exist, a customer usually demonstrates increased willingness to repay a delinquent account by making regular monthly payments at reduced amounts after paying off a significant portion of the initial loan balance. Renewals without evidence of increased ability or willingness to repay may diminish reliability of aging schedules.

## **Charge-off Policies**

- 2.117 Charge-off policies vary among finance companies and types of loans. Some policies automatically require that accounts be written off when they are overdue a stipulated number of days. Other policies may delay charge-offs until all practical efforts to collect have been exhausted or the customer has entered bankruptcy. Still other policies may be based on review of the status of individual loans.
- 2.118 The auditor should be aware of changes in charge-off policies when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for losses and considering the reasonableness of those charge-off policies. The auditor may consider whether charge-offs are reviewed and approved by officials who do not also approve loans, whether charge-offs for deficiencies on repossessed properties are adequately reviewed and approved, and whether losses charged to dealer reserve accounts are consistent with dealer agreements. The auditor also should be alert to the effects of changes in charge-offs as well as in credit-granting policies.
- 2.119 If charge-off policies require automatic loan write-offs when overdue a stipulated number of days, the auditor should consider the appropriateness of the number of days specified and whether controls make sure that such procedures are followed. The auditor also should consider how partial payments on loans are treated under the policies. If procedures requiring automatic write-offs are not used, the auditor should consider whether write-offs are occurring in a timely and consistent manner.

#### Other Credits to Receivables

**2.120** Credits to finance receivables for reasons other than cash receipts or charge-offs to the allowance for losses should be tested to determine if the reasons for the credits are appropriate. For example, was an error corrected, and, if so, was the credit properly authorized?

## Chargebacks

**2.121** Under factoring arrangements, typical noncash credits to receivables represent chargebacks to client accounts. Chargebacks may result from disputes over, for example, freight charges, defective merchandise, deliveries, prices, and canceled orders. Inability to collect an account because of a customer's insolvency, however, generally represents a credit loss and ordinarily should not result in a chargeback, because the finance company assumes the risk of customer default when receivables are factored. If after obtaining an understanding of internal control the auditor decides to assess control risk below the maximum level, the auditor should obtain evidential matter to support the assessed level of control risk.

#### **Anticipations**

**2.122** Under factoring arrangements, most finance companies accept customer payments of less than the amount of the related receivables if the customers pay before due dates. The differences or discounts, often called *anticipations*, may be allowed because a finance company obtains earlier use of the cash. Amounts of anticipations allowed usually fluctuate monthly, and interest is usually charged to the client based on some relationship to prime rates.

2.123 The auditor should consider reviewing the finance company's policies on anticipations and, if allowed, the reasonableness of the amounts deducted.

## **Confirmation Procedures**

**2.124** Finance companies may confirm receivables balances as part of their internal audit procedures. The extent and nature of those procedures vary. Some finance companies use written confirmations; others confirm information by telephone. If after obtaining an understanding of internal control the auditor decides to assess control risk below the maximum level, the auditor should obtain evidential matter to support the assessed level of control risk. The auditor should establish a reasonable scope to confirm a representative number of loans. The auditor may wish to stratify loans selected for confirmation not only by recorded amounts but by categories, such as loans collateralized by real estate and unsecured loans.

**2.125** Confirmation procedures may reveal certain conditions, such as payments made to the wrong account; disputes over prices, quantities, or shipping terms; payments made by customers directly to factoring clients; unrecorded merchandise returns; fictitious receivables; consignments; or prebilling.

**2.126** Positive confirmations are preferable when individual account balances are relatively large or when there is reason to believe a substantial number of accounts are in dispute, inaccurate, or irregular. Negative confirmations may be used when (a) the combined assessed level of inherent and control

risk is low, (b) a large number of small balances is involved, and (c) the auditor has no reason to believe that the recipients of the requests are unlikely to give them consideration. If negative rather than positive confirmations are used, however, the auditor should consider performing other substantive procedures to obtain the same degree of satisfaction.

- **2.127** In addition to the original amount of the loan and the current loan balance, the auditor should consider confirming other information, such as the last payment date and the amount and description of collateral.
- 2.128 The auditor should apply alternative procedures for all unanswered positive confirmations. To apply alternative procedures, the auditor should consider reviewing subsequent cash receipts, confirming information by telephone, and examining additional loan documentation.

#### No-Mail Accounts

**2.129** Some consumer loan customers may request that direct correspondence not be sent to them. They are typically *no-mail accounts* and should be insignificant in relation to the total loan portfolio. If such loans are selected for confirmation, alternative procedures normally should be applied.

## **Confirming Purchased Customer Receivables**

**2.130** If a finance company buys receivables under a nonnotification arrangement (that is, the borrower does not inform its customers that their accounts have been sold or assigned to a finance company), special consideration needs to be given to confirming such receivables because customers are not aware that their accounts have been sold. Confirmations should, therefore, be prepared in a manner that preserves the confidentiality of the sales transactions between the finance company and its clients.

#### **Ratios**

- 2.131 Ratios are useful for analyzing trends affecting collectibility. Because of their diverse characteristics, receivables should be segregated by type (for example, retail contracts, direct consumer loans, and commercial finance receivables) before computing ratios. The comparability of receivables to those of prior periods also should be evaluated. For example, factors such as tightening of credit standards and changes in extension policies can affect the quality of the receivables and render statistical comparisons invalid.
- 2.132 The following two ratios commonly are used to determine loss experience trends:
  - a. Net credit losses to receivables liquidated (beginning balance plus volume during period, excluding old balances renewed, less ending balance)
  - b. Net credit losses to average monthly outstanding receivables for the period (annualized if less than one year)
- 2.133 The first ratio is useful in estimating the amount a finance company will write off for each dollar collected on loans. The second ratio has been used primarily for smaller loans with relatively short-term maturities. If trends show increasing rather than decreasing ratios, the allowance for losses may need to be increased.
- 2.134 Ratio analysis has certain weaknesses. For example, the ratio of net credit losses to average monthly outstanding receivables measures losses for only one year. Because most loans extend beyond one year, the ratio does not

include all losses that would be expected, based on currently available information, to result from liquidation of all outstanding loans. Growth situations also hamper ratio analysis, particularly if the ratio of net credit losses to average monthly outstanding receivables is used. The increasing portion of new business used in the calculation may cause comparisons with previous results to be meaningless because, in some situations, the rate of increase in credit losses lags behind the rate of increase in receivables until growth levels off. For that reason, the ratio of net credit losses to receivables liquidated provides better measure in growth situations.

- **2.135** Other common ratios include the following:
  - a. Ratios of allowances for credit losses to outstanding receivables, expressed as percentages
  - b. Ratios of delinquencies to outstanding receivables, expressed as percentages
  - c. Ratios of recoveries to charge-offs, expressed as percentages
- d. Ratios of provision for losses to volume, expressed as percentages
- 2.136 Computers and sophisticated mathematical models can be used to improve ratio analysis and to identify trends that otherwise might be obscure. For example, computers can apply regression analysis techniques to loans stratified by such criteria as the year made, type of loan, location of borrower's residence or place of business, and borrower's credit rating. Thus, volumes of detailed data may be readily summarized and analyzed to provide more sophisticated information than is practical without computers.
- 2.137 Though no one group of statistics is conclusive, trends may indicate significant changes that warrant attention. Industry or other published statistics on delinquencies and allowances for losses may be helpful but should be used with regard for the facts and circumstances affecting individual companies. If using ratios, the auditor should consider all relevant circumstances, such as changes in credit approval and in collection policies as well as general economic conditions.

## **Loans to Related Parties**

2.138 Loans to officers, directors, and employees (and loans to organizations with which such individuals are affiliated) should be reviewed. FASB Statement No. 57, Related Party Disclosures, prescribes certain disclosures of material related party transactions. SAS No. 45, Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards—1983, "Related Parties," provides auditing guidance for such matters.

## Collateralized Loans

- **2.139** Consumer loans may be collateralized by consumer goods or by real property. Commercial loans may be collateralized by accounts receivable, inventories, or property and equipment. Loans also may be guaranteed by cosigners and guarantors.
- 2.140 Depending on the type of collateral, the auditor should consider testing physical existence and proper assignment to the finance company. Examination of loan documentation generally includes testing the adequacy of both the current value of collateral in relation to the outstanding loan balance

and, if needed, insurance coverage on such collateral. For guaranteed loans, the auditor reviews financial statements and other evidence of the financial conditions of cosigners and guarantors. The auditor should be alert to possible concentrations of loans in one borrower, in a group of related borrowers, or in a particular industry. The auditor also should consider general economic conditions that might affect the value of underlying collateral as well as of overall collectibility and quality of the loan portfolio.

#### **Consumer Goods**

2.141 Many direct consumer loans and most retail sales contracts are collateralized by consumer goods. Resale values of most consumer goods, such as major appliances and furniture, may be significantly less than related loan balances. As a result, many lenders prefer not to repossess such collateral. Consideration of those collateral values is, therefore, less important than for other consumer goods, such as automobiles, which may be readily salable and of more significance when compared to related loan balances.

#### Receivables

- 2.142 Trade accounts receivable and installment notes sold or pledged as collateral generally are sold or assigned to a commercial finance company on a nonnotification basis. The industry trend in recent years has been to maintain total dollar control of such receivables (bulk basis) rather than detailed receivable records (ledger card or specific assignment basis). The finance company and its auditor usually have access to the seller's or borrower's accounting records if collateral records are maintained in bulk. The seller or borrower may receive all collections on the receivables but is required to turn over such collections in their original form, usually through use of a bank account designated by the finance company.
- 2.143 In addition to the effectiveness of credit approval policies, collection activities, internal confirmation procedures, and visits by field representatives to the client's or borrower's place of business, the auditor should consider other accounting and management controls over receivables bought or pledged as collateral. For example, the auditor's evaluation may be affected by the amount of collateral receivables maintained on a bulk basis, the frequency with which borrowers submit aged trial balances to the finance company, and the extent of management reviews of those schedules.
- 2.144 Based on the results of the evaluation of the finance company's procedures for examining and monitoring assets sold or collateral pledged, the auditor should consider the need to examine evidence of or otherwise be satisfied as to nonnotification receivables pledged as collateral. The examination may consist, in part, of a review of the borrower's records. Accounts receivable agings may be compared against the borrower's customer accounts subsidiary ledger, with additional review of items such as unusual invoice terms, past due accounts, and invoices paid out of order. Familiarity with trade or industry discounts, the right of return, warranties, and other terms of sale offered by the borrower facilitates analysis of collateral values of receivables. A review of trade creditors could indicate whether a right of offset exists against the receivables because the borrower buys from and sells to the same enterprise. The auditor also should consider studying the borrower's corporate structure to help identify possible receivables due from affiliated companies.

#### **Inventories**

- 2.145 Inventories pledged as collateral may result from a wholesale loan, for which specific items of inventory are pledged, or from an inventory loan, for which the entire inventory is pledged but individual items are not identified. Inventories also may be pledged as additional collateral for a loan initially collateralized by receivables when the loan exceeds the prime collateral value assigned to the receivables. Inventory collateral values may be more difficult to evaluate than receivable collateral because inventory is more subject to economic risks such as deterioration and obsolescence. Therefore, the percentage of loan advances made against inventory collateral generally is less than that made against receivable collateral.
- **2.146** Based on his or her understanding of controls pertaining to inventory pledged as collateral, the auditor should consider (a) reviewing reports by finance company personnel who inspect such inventories on field visits or, if considered desirable, (b) inspecting inventory in custody of the borrower on a test basis. Perpetual inventory records, if maintained by the borrower, may be tested against periodic physical counts made by the finance company's internal auditors. Many finance companies do not maintain collateral records of the borrower's inventory because pertinent, accurate, and updated inventory information is not readily available, particularly for revolving loans.
- 2.147 Inventories pledged as collateral that are stored in public warehouses and supported by warehouse receipts may be confirmed by direct communication with the warehouses. Owners of public warehouses are primarily liable for damages resulting from nonexistence of goods listed in receipts and from failure of the goods to conform to the descriptions on warehouse receipts. Sometimes a borrower establishes a field warehousing arrangement in which a warehouse company segregates and controls the collateralized inventory in a portion of the borrower's own warehouse. A field warehousing arrangement may provide some control over inventories pledged as collateral, but the control is generally less than that in a public warehouse. Nevertheless, a field warehousing arrangement in the borrower's warehouse may be more practical than using a public warehouse because of costs and difficulties of transporting inventory between warehouses and borrowers' premises.

## **Property and Equipment**

- 2.148 Loans to companies that have major items of property, plant, and equipment are generally collateralized by such assets. Also, property, plant, and equipment may be pledged as additional collateral for a receivable or inventory loan or as collateral for a separate loan made to a company that borrows against receivables and inventory.
- **2.149** Recent appraisals by specialists of liquidating values of property, plant, and equipment may be helpful in evaluating security provided by the collateral. The auditor may review those appraisals and collateral records. The auditor should be satisfied with the professional qualifications and reputation of a specialist whose work is to be used. If the auditor chooses to use the valuation of a specialist who is a related party, the auditor should consider the need to perform additional procedures on some or all of the specialist's assumptions, methods, or findings to determine their reasonableness. For further guidance, the auditor should refer to SAS No. 73, *Using the Work of a Specialist*.

#### **EDP Considerations**

2.150 Most finance companies use some form of computerized records. Audit considerations for computerized systems are comparable to those for manual systems, though specific audit procedures should be tailored to the type of system used. For example, manual systems rely on mathematical formulas or rate charts to calculate finance income; in computerized systems, software programming incorporates the formulas. Some significant concerns for auditing EDP systems include whether the duties of employees involved with the system are adequately segregated, source documents are available, and audit trails are sufficient to follow up on individual items. The auditor should refer to SAS No. 48, The Effects of Computer Processing on the Audit of Financial Statements, for further guidance.

2.151 Some finance companies subscribe to computer systems operated by outside businesses. Independent auditors or the user's internal auditors usually review controls pertaining to those computer systems and issue reports that the user's auditor can consider. The auditor should refer to SAS No. 70, Reports on the Processing of Transactions by Service Organizations, which provides guidance on the factors an independent auditor should consider when auditing the financial statements of an entity that uses a service organization to process certain transactions.

## **Branch Audits**

2.152 SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting the Audit, provides general guidance on considerations of audit risk and materiality in planning the audit and designing audit procedures. Such considerations are important for the auditor's determination of the need for and extent of branch office audits. This determination depends in part on the effectiveness of home office controls over branch operations and the locations at which supporting documentation is maintained. Another consideration is whether there is an updated operating manual that prescribes all phases of branch operations, including accounting procedures. Such manuals may provide significant information for the auditor to obtain an understanding of controls pertaining to branch operations.

2.153 The use of centralized systems has reduced the need for the auditor to visit branches to inspect subsidiary records and supporting documentation for loans. Even without such a centralized system, duplicate records may be maintained at the home office of a finance company. Consequently, the auditor may decide to limit branch audits and focus on determining the effectiveness of controls over branch office operations such as management reviews and internal audit procedures. If the home office maintains duplicate receivables ledgers, much or all of the substantive testing involving confirmation procedures and evaluation of collectibility often can be performed without visiting the branch offices.

2.154 If branch visits are warranted, the auditor ordinarily makes surprise audits of selected branches if cash is to be counted or collateral inspected. The audit of branch records normally may include tests of controls, comparisons of data submitted to the home office by branch personnel to branch records, and, if loan data are maintained only in the branch office, the audit procedures for loans described throughout this chapter. If floor plan loans are

made, the auditor should consider examining related collateral on a test basis. The auditor may test postings of collections to customer accounts, as well as procedures for extensions, renewals, and rebates on all types of loans, to determine the reliability of the accounting records. Other audit procedures the auditor should consider performing when auditing a branch are as follows:

- Check accounts receivable ledgers for clerical accuracy, compare totals to appropriate branch controls, and trace totals to general ledger balances at the home office.
- Select a representative number of accounts for confirmation and test aged trial balances for clerical accuracy and compliance with the company's aging policy.
- If accounts receivable ledgers are maintained in the home office and accounts are confirmed using home office records, compare balances of selected accounts in home office records with records maintained at the branch.
- Compare supporting documentation for a selected number of loans with loan cards and other accounting records. Documentation might include signed notes, security agreements, loan applications, financing statements, insurance policies, and notices of lien filings.
- Test new and renewal loans for proper recording of items such as discount, dealer reserve, and insurance premiums. Rebates, extension fees, and late charges should be tested similarly.
- Test cash payment records for miscellaneous expenses.
- Review procedures used to account for and control repossessed collateral. If the branch is responsible for selling repossessed collateral, test sales of collateral by tracing proceeds to cash reports, bank deposits, and other pertinent documentation. Compare proceeds to estimates of value at the time loans were made and at the time collateral was repossessed. Examine evidence of ownership.
- If the branch is located in a state that requires interest to be computed each time a payment is received, test computations of application of interest and principal.
- Follow up on unusual bank reconciling items from the home office.
- Review the recent State Consumer Finance Division Examiner's Report or its equivalent for significant exceptions.
- Review the adequacy and documentation of the branch manager's or area supervisor's reviews of loans made, collection efforts, and cash counts.
- Review controls over cash collections, deposits, and disbursements.
- Review for duplicate loans to one borrower.
- Review no-mail and confidential loans for compliance with corporate policy.
- Review for compliance with the manager's lending limits.
- Review for compliance with policy relating to waiver of interest and late fees.

Some of the above procedures may be inappropriate or may need modification if the finance company uses an EDP system.

#### Leases

2.155 Audits of leases in some ways resemble audits of other finance receivables. For example, auditors should review the collectibility of minimum

lease payments, including guaranteed residual values, and consider whether allowances for losses on leases are adequate. If repossessions have occurred, the auditor should consider current values of collateral not yet disposed of in evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for losses. The auditor also may confirm lease terms and the existence of leased properties directly with lessees and may test authorization for purchase of assets to lease files. Revenue recognition calculations can be tested for accuracy and compliance with FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related amendments and interpretations. In addition, classifications as finance or operating leases may be reviewed.

2.156 The auditor should evaluate unguaranteed residual values included in gross investments recorded at the inception of leases. Residual values are the estimated fair values of leased properties at the end of their lease terms that generally are not guaranteed to lessors by lessees or third parties. The clients' methods and internal controls used to estimate residual values should be evaluated. The possibility of changes in residual values should be considered, for example, by comparing values of standard products or equipment to market prices and by consulting resale dealers and trade publications. Residual values of specialized equipment may be difficult to evaluate. Special emphasis is warranted for high-technology equipment, which often declines quickly in value because newer, more advanced, or less expensive models become available as a result of technological developments. Though purchase options included in lease terms may provide additional evidence of residual values, they should be viewed with caution because they generally would not indicate subsequent declines in values.

2.157 If reviews of residual values indicate that permanent declines have occurred, estimated residual values should be adjusted and losses should be recognized when estimates change.

2.158 The terms of lease agreements usually are reviewed and compared with the long-term lenders' contracts. The projected net cash flow analysis that is used to account for leveraged lease transactions should include income tax effects of the transactions. Tax effect calculations may be tested. Auditors should review and evaluate the validity of assumptions for projecting tax effects. Such reviews may include timing of receipt of tax benefits or payments of charges. Rates used to quantify the tax effects of transactions also should be reviewed. Reductions in leveraged lease investments caused by changes in original assumptions should be recognized in the period of change.

#### Income

**2.159** The auditor should test the interest income recognition method and interest income accrual suspensions for compliance with generally accepted accounting principles (see paragraphs 2.15 to 2.17).

2.160 Finance income account balances usually are tested together with finance receivables. Tests of details, analytical procedures, or both may be relied on. Tests of details might include recalculation of finance income and nonrefundable fees for selected loans, such as those selected for confirmation, or tests of computer programs used to make such calculations. Analytical procedures might include comparisons of monthly recorded income amounts with those recorded in months of past years, prior months of the current year, and budgeted amounts, as well as with industry information by type of receivables. Monthly ratios of finance income to finance receivables might be compared with prior years' months and budgeted amounts.

2.161 Finance income earned on discount receivables also can be tested using the unearned finance income account as follows:

Unearned Finance Income	Test Method	
Beginning balance	Tested in prior year	
+ credits (total precomputed interest of new loans)	Recompute total unearned interest for a sample of new loans (possibly us- ing loans selected for tests of cash payments)	
<ul> <li>debits (finance income earned)</li> </ul>	Balance amount	
= Ending balance	Recompute balance of unearned fi- nance income for a sample of loans outstanding (possibly using loans selected for confirmation)	

This formula should be modified as necessary for such items as prepayments and loan renewals.

## **Statutory Regulations**

- 2.162 Regulatory compliance is an important consideration for a finance company. State laws often restrict three major elements that determine interest income: the amount of the loan, the term of the loan, and the interest rate. State laws also may prescribe certain rebate calculations. Other regulatory restrictions may pertain to origination, delinquency, or extension fees. Compliance with the various state laws should be reviewed. Formulas used to calculate finance income should be tested to verify that results conform to applicable laws and regulations as well as to generally accepted accounting principles.
- 2.163 The Truth in Lending Act and regulations issued by state supervisory authorities generally affect lending transactions. The auditor may learn of possible violations of such regulations during the audit. If such is the case, the auditor should then refer for guidance to SAS No. 54, *Illegal Acts by Clients*.

## Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables

- **2.164** The objectives of auditing repossessed assets acquired in liquidations are to test for the existence and evidence of ownership of those assets and to evaluate reasonableness of estimated net realizable values. Controls over timing and methods of recording repossessed assets should be considered to determine the necessary extent of substantive tests of account balances.
- **2.165** Inspecting repossessed properties may be an appropriate test for existence. The auditor may compare carrying values of repossessions to subsequent sales, published wholesale price lists, or independent appraisals of the same or similar properties to determine reasonableness. If feasible, the auditor may group repossessions by product type and compare unit carrying amounts

against the company's recent history of average losses or gains on sales of similar repossessions. Evidence of ownership may be established by reviewing legal or other pertinent documents. The auditor also may consider the ability of dealers to perform under recourse or repurchase agreements.

#### Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks

2.166 Before planning detailed audit tests, the auditor should become familiar with company controls on dealer reserve holdback arrangements and consider performing tests of related controls. For example, the auditor should consider the extent of review and approval of changes to dealer reserve accounts. Though it is uncommon for dealers to know amounts of the dealer reserve accounts, such knowledge, obtained perhaps from regular statements issued by the finance company, may lessen the risk of disputes, and it may be feasible for the auditor to confirm the related liabilities to dealers. If not, the auditor may review activities in dealer reserve accounts for propriety and consider the overall adequacy of reserve balances in relation to the volume of loans bought, dealer credit status, and credit status of the dealer's customers.

2.167 Other auditing considerations may include reviewing compliance with significant provisions of dealer agreements, reconciling totals of individual dealer balances with applicable control accounts, and testing detailed transactions to the accounts and supporting documentation. Particular attention should be given to accounts with debit balances. The rationale for not writing off these amounts generally is that future purchases of retail contracts from dealers will eliminate the debit balances. The auditor should question that justification because, if past purchases of retail contracts from a dealer have resulted in debit balances in the dealer reserve accounts, future purchases may be unlikely to produce different results. The auditor should consider whether debit balances are losses that should be charged off.

## Chapter 3

## Capitalization of Finance Companies

- **3.01** Finance companies borrow funds to lend to others. Debt-to-equity ratios of finance companies generally are higher than those of manufacturing companies because finance company assets consist more of liquid receivables than of inventories and fixed assets. Debt-to-equity ratios of at least four-or five-to-one are not uncommon for finance companies. However, finance companies' leverage has traditionally been much lower than leverage of banks and savings and loan associations.
- **3.02** Finance company debt may be classified as senior, senior subordinated, and junior subordinated. The classifications describe declining priorities, which become especially significant when solvency becomes questionable. When two or more types of debt with diverse priorities are issued simultaneously, the lower priority debt ordinarily carries a higher interest rate.
- 3.03 Company policy and credit rating goals cause companies to establish diverse target amounts for each priority category of debt. Moreover, debt agreements usually contain restrictions on the amount of debt that may be incurred in each category. For example, a common restriction in debt securities issued to the general public prohibits pledging assets to secure new or existing debt. Other common restrictions may limit dividend payments and the amount of additional senior debt that can be incurred. If an issuer has other restrictions in its current typical public issue, lenders commonly demand the same restrictions in a private placement.
- 3.04 Generally, bank borrowings on lines of credit and commercial paper sold in the open market are sources of debt that mature in less than one year. Larger finance companies usually rely heavily on commercial paper markets but smaller finance companies may not have access to such markets and therefore may rely on bank borrowings as a source of funds.
- 3.05 Debt with maturity terms greater than one year is a major source of funds for most finance companies and is intended to reduce volatility of the cost and source of money. In large finance companies, such debt frequently constitutes more than half of the liabilities of finance companies. Smaller finance companies, with limited access to public debt markets, have a much greater reliance on short-term bank debt.
- **3.06** The related debt instruments traditionally have been acquired by insurance companies; however, banks, pension funds, and the general public have increasingly purchased those instruments. Interest rates generally are a function of the credit rating of the issuer and the prevailing money market conditions.

## **Bank Lines of Credit**

**3.07** Finance companies may pay commitment fees, maintain compensating balances, or do both to have bank lines of credit available. When a finance company borrows under a line of credit, it is charged interest at a rate usually based on a specified percentage related to the bank prime rate. Banks generally base the percentage on an analysis of the quality of the finance company's receivables and operations.

- **3.08** Bank borrowings are a type of senior debt commonly issued in the form of ninety-day notes, of which renewal may be negotiated before maturity. Banks generally require finance companies to pay off notes under lines of credit for a specified period, such as one month, each year. Finance companies are sometimes allowed to meet such requirements by borrowing under a second line of credit to pay off the first. They may, therefore, continuously borrow from banks, though individual bank notes are due in relatively short periods. Alternatively, they may be required to simultaneously settle all bank lines of credit for thirty days or more.
- 3.09 Some bank credit lines are obtained with little expectation that the finance companies will borrow under them. Such credit arrangements provide back-up sources of funds to assure a finance company's creditors that bank debt and commercial paper due in one year or less will be repaid. Though the duration of those unused credit arrangements may exceed twelve months, some contain clauses that allow the banks to withdraw commitments based on subjective evaluations of the finance company's operations.
- **3.10** Rating agencies strongly emphasize liquidity when they rate commercial paper. All issuers of commercial paper are expected to have bank lines of credit to back up such notes. The rating agencies view that support as security to provide temporary liquidity, and they generally do not rate a company's commercial paper without such coverage.
- **3.11** Bank lines of credit also are maintained to protect finance companies from unforeseen withdrawals of other credit sources. Some finance companies test the availability of bank lines periodically by borrowing under each line, particularly if those agreements are not formalized.

## **Commercial Paper**

- **3.12** Commercial paper, another form of senior debt, matures in a few days to as long as 270 days from issuance. Commercial paper generally constitutes the major portion of debt due in less than one year of larger finance companies because interest rates on commercial paper are usually lower than those available from banks.
- 3.13 Companies with significant amounts of commercial paper outstanding generally issue and redeem commercial paper continuously. More commercial paper than needed may be sold on certain days to maintain an orderly market when regular customers have money to invest beyond the finance company's current needs. Maturity of a large amount of commercial paper or a long-term debt issue in the near future also may make it necessary for a company to sell larger-than-normal amounts of commercial paper.
- **3.14** Excess proceeds from sales of commercial paper usually are reinvested at comparable rates of return. Proceeds may be invested for very short periods, usually overnight, by entering into repurchase agreements with investment brokers, or by buying interest-bearing Eurodollar time bank deposits and commercial paper of other issuers.

## **Credit Ratings**

**3.15** Rating agencies generally consider fixed-charge coverage and other ratios, such as leverage, to be significant in evaluating the creditworthiness of a finance company's debt obligations. Rating agencies assign a credit rating to

a company's debt obligations and commercial paper based on their detailed ratio analyses and evaluation of other factors. The ratings directly affect the lender's cost of borrowing and, therefore, its ability to borrow money.

3.16 Many institutional investors, such as insurance companies, banks, trusts, mutual funds, and pension and profit sharing plans, rely heavily on credit ratings in making their investment decisions. Many of those investors are prohibited by law or by formal agreement from investing in corporate obligations rated below a specified minimum level. For example, some states prohibit licensed domestic insurance companies from investing in corporate obligations that do not meet specified fixed-charge coverage ratios. In addition, many government agency pension funds are prohibited by law from investing in securities that do not have an investment grade rating. Those pension funds are significant buyers of finance company commercial paper and term debt securities.

#### **Credit Questionnaires**

- 3.17 A finance company furnishes its creditors with financial and operating information through standard questionnaires developed by a joint committee of representatives from industry and Robert Morris Associates. The credit questionnaires are revised periodically for changes in operations of finance companies and in the needs of lenders.
- 3.18 There are five credit questionnaires for finance companies: Sales Finance Company Questionnaire; Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire; Commercial Financing Questionnaire; Credit Questionnaire for Captive Finance Companies; and Mortgage Banking Questionnaire. The first two generally apply to independent companies that finance retail sales and make direct cash loans to consumers. The Commercial Financing Questionnaire applies to independent finance companies that provide financing services for business enterprises, including lease financing. The fourth questionnaire applies to captive finance companies formed to finance the sales of products by affiliated companies.
- 3.19 Some finance companies engage in several types of financing and lending activity and are required to furnish information on several types of questionnaires. For example, a finance company that both finances automobile retail sales contracts and lends directly to consumers generally would furnish information for the pertinent sections of the Sales Finance Company Questionnaire and the Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire. The various questionnaires are not all-inclusive; each reporting company must adapt the questionnaire to fit its own circumstances. The Credit Questionnaire for Captive Finance Companies reflects the wide diversity among individual companies. It consists of a series of questions designed to elicit the basic information needed for credit analysis, with the form of presentation left to the individual companies. The other questionnaires are much more specific.
- **3.20** Each credit questionnaire covers a specific reporting period, such as six months or a year. All have certain basic questions in common. Each requires information on the types of finance and lending activities of the company, details of business volume during and receivables at the end of the reporting period, aging of receivables, summary of credit loss experience for the period, description of certain basic operating and accounting policies, and information on the terms and liquidity of finance receivables.
- **3.21** Other required information pertains to the particular lending activities covered by the individual questionnaire. The Sales Finance Company Questionnaire requires analysis of the volume and type of retail sales financing

receivables, such as those for automobiles, appliances, and home improvement, and indication of any significant concentration in one or more dealers. The Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire requires a schedule of collection results on direct consumer loans outstanding and an analysis of loan volume by type of borrower. The Commercial Financing Questionnaire requires specific information on larger commercial loans in each receivable classification and on a significant concentration of loans to any one debtor or group of affiliated debtors.

## **Accounting**

**3.22** The discount or premium on debt should be amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt using the interest method as specified in APB Opinion No. 21, *Interest on Receivables and Payables*, for debt requiring imputation of interest.

3.23 Overnight investments resulting from sales of commercial paper in excess of daily needs should be recorded as assets in the balance sheet, but borrowing costs are better presented in the income statement by combining interest received on such investments against interest expense than by presenting such amounts separately. Although combined amounts normally are insignificant, such interest income should be disclosed in a note to the financial statements, if significant.

#### **Financial Statement Presentation**

3.24 The major components of debt should be disclosed on the face of the balance sheet or in the notes. FASB Statement No. 47, Disclosure of Long-Term Obligations, requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of maturities and sinking fund requirements for all long-term borrowings and redeemable preferred stock for each of the five years following the balance sheet date. Paragraph 19 of APB Opinion No. 15, Earnings Per Share, provides examples of other information to be disclosed, such as liquidation preferences, participation rights, and interest rates. In addition to the various types of subordinations, bank borrowings and commercial paper should be disclosed separately, as should components of debt that mature in more than one year. Such components may be grouped into significant categories for disclosure. The existence of bank lines of credit and their relevant terms and amounts also should be disclosed.

**3.25** Finance companies traditionally have not described their assets as current and noncurrent in balance sheets, but typically have described their debt as short-term or long-term. To eliminate this inconsistency, finance companies should classify debt as *subordinated and senior* rather than as short-term and long-term.

## **Auditing**

**3.26** An audit of a finance company's debt and interest expense should be designed to provide reasonable assurance that—

- a. The company has complied with restrictive covenants of loan agreements.
- b. Amounts of debt are properly authorized and properly stated, classified, and described in the financial statements (for example, as senior, senior subordinated, and junior subordinated).

- c. Related interest expense, including amortization of discount or premium, is properly recorded.
- d. Adequate disclosures of restrictive covenants of loan agreements and other loan-related terms are included in the notes to the financial statements.

3.27 The auditor should discuss the various forms of debt with management. Terms of the debt instruments may be reviewed to understand the nature of each agreement, including any restrictive provisions. Once terms of the debt agreements are understood, the auditor can test compliance with their provisions and consider what disclosures are needed if the provisions are violated. Positive confirmations may provide evidence concerning principal and accrued interest at a given date. Confirmations may be used not only to confirm the amounts of the liabilities but also to reveal changes in the various covenants of the agreements pertaining to such matters as guarantees, payment terms, interest rates, and restrictions on assets. Confirmations of bank lines of credit also may be used to identify (a) conditions under which lines are available or may be withdrawn and (b) whether compensating balances are required.

## **Compliance Reports**

**3.28** Some debt agreements may require companies to have their independent auditors issue compliance reports on various restrictive covenants involving matters such as restrictions on assets, payments of interest, and dividend payments. Such reports, which normally are in the form of negative assurance, are discussed in SAS No. 62, Special Reports.

#### Credit Questionnaires

**3.29** Robert Morris Associates questionnaires may be included as information supplementary to the basic financial statements of the finance company. Some information required in the questionnaires will have been derived from accounting records tested by the independent auditor as part of the auditing procedures followed in the audit of the finance company's financial statements. For example, information relating to reserves for losses, delinquent accounts, repossessions, deferred finance income, and borrowings will have been derived from financial records tested by the independent auditor. However, the auditor is not required to audit information included in the questionnaires unless the finance company requests such services.

3.30 If the auditor submits to the finance company or to others a document that contains one or more questionnaires in addition to the company's basic financial statements and the auditor's standard report, the auditor should follow the reporting guidelines in SAS No. 29, Reporting on Information Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted Documents, which requires that the auditor's report state that the audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The report should identify the accompanying questionnaire and further state that it is presented for additional analysis and is not part of the basic financial statements. The auditor should express or disclaim an opinion on the information included in the questionnaire, depending on whether the information has been subjected to auditing procedures applied in auditing the basic financial statements. The auditor may express an opinion on a portion of the accompanying information and disclaim an opinion on the remainder. The

report on the information included in the questionnaire may be added to the auditor's standard report on the basic financial statements or may appear separately in the auditor-submitted document.

3.31 If the finance company publishes documents containing credit questionnaires in addition to audited financial statements and the auditor's report, the auditor should refer to SAS No. 8, Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements, for guidance.

## Chapter 4

## **Participations**

- **4.01** In a participation agreement, a finance company shares a loan with another financial institution by selling a portion of the loan or buying an interest in a loan originated by another financial institution. A seller of a participation sometimes retains a small portion of the buyer's share of interest on loans to cover overhead incurred in servicing the loans.
- **4.02** Terms of participation agreements ordinarily provide for sharing of credit risks in proportion to cash invested by each participant. Such participations commonly are called *pari passu*. However, some agreements, known as *first out*, provide for a disproportionate sharing of the risk in relation to the cash invested. For example, an agreement may require one participant to suffer the first loss up to a specified amount or otherwise provide priority to one of the participants in liquidation of the loan. Such agreements may be, in substance, financing arrangements collateralized by specific loans.
- 4.03 A participation may result from a company's reluctance to carry an unusually large receivable from a single customer or to carry a receivable from a borrower who is deemed an unusual credit risk. To transfer some of the liquidity and rate risk, lenders may sell a portion of such loans to other lenders. In addition, participations may benefit borrowers by providing lower effective interest rates based on averages of the participating parties' interest rates.

## **Accounting**

**4.04** Participations bought and sold usually are accounted for individually—that is, loan by loan. Control accounts also may be maintained for each participating financial institution. The key accounting question is whether to account for transfers of portions of loans as sales of receivables or as collateralized borrowings.

#### Pari Passu

**4.05** A pari passu participation should be treated as a sale of the related receivable because it provides for pro rata sharing of risk. The participation should be shown on the balance sheet net of the portions sold or at net amounts bought. The amount of such a participation generally is combined with other finance receivables on the balance sheet and need not be disclosed unless it is material in relation to total receivables.

#### First Out

**4.06** A first-out agreement provides recourse to certain participants and may raise a question of whether the transaction is a financing arrangement rather than a sharing of the risks and rewards of a particular loan. FASB Statement No. 77, Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of Receivables With

Recourse,\* explicitly applies to participation agreements that provide for recourse. The standard generally requires recognizing such a participation as a sale if (a) the transferor surrenders control of the future economic benefits embodied in the receivables, (b) the transferor's obligation under the recourse provisions can be reasonably estimated, and (c) the transferee cannot require the transferor to repurchase the receivables except pursuant to the recourse provisions. If any of those conditions is not met, the transferor should report the amount of proceeds from the participation as a liability and continue to present the gross amount of the related receivable. Significant amounts of loans that collateralize first-out participations should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. FASB Statement No. 77 also requires certain disclosures for transfers of receivables with recourse reported as sales.

## **Auditing**

4.07 The auditor should consider reviewing compliance with the significant provisions of participation agreements, reviewing subsidiary listings of participations bought from or sold to other institutions, and testing transactions to supporting documentation. The auditor generally cannot confirm directly with the debtors if the finance company bought its participating shares under nonnotification arrangements. Instead, the auditor may correspond directly with the auditor of the other participating company. For example, the auditor may ask whether the participating share was included in the sample tested by the other auditor and, if not, may request the other auditor to confirm the loan or to obtain permission from the other participating finance company to confirm the loan directly.

<sup>\*</sup> FASB Statement No. 125, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, supersedes FASB Statement No. 77. The Statement is effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after December 31, 1996, and is to be applied prospectively. Earlier or retroactive application is not permitted. FASB Statement No. 127, Deferral of the Effective Date of Certain Provisions of FASB Statement No. 125, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 125, replaces paragraph 19 of FASB Statement No. 125 with the following:

<sup>[</sup>FASB Statement No. 125] shall be effective for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after December 31, 1996 except that:

a. Paragraph 15 shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring after December 31, 1997.

b. For repurchase agreement, dollar-roll, securities lending, and similar transactions, paragraphs 9-12 and 237(b) shall be effective for transfers of financial assets occurring after December 31, 1997.

If it is not possible to determine whether a transfer occurring during calendar-year 1997 is covered by paragraph 19(b), then paragraphs 9–12 and 237(b) shall be applied to that transfer. All provisions of this Statement shall be applied prospectively, and earlier or retroactive application is not permitted.

## **Chapter 5**

## **Insurance Activities of Finance Companies**

**5.01** Insurance operations ordinarily are an integral part of consumer finance activities. The auditor of a finance company that engages in or has a subsidiary that engages in insurance activities should be familiar with FASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises. This chapter deals primarily with insurance business generated from finance customers, though it also addresses insurance coverage provided to others who are not also finance customers.

## **Types of Insurance Coverage**

**5.02** Insurance activities of finance companies often involve insuring risks related to loan transactions. Following are the three general types of insurance coverage associated with those transactions:

- a. Credit life coverage for loan repayment in the event of the debtor's death
- b. Credit accident and health coverage for installment loan payments in the event of the debtor's illness or disability for an extended period
- c. Property and liability coverage on collateral or other property associated with the loan transaction

#### **Credit Life**

**5.03** Credit life insurance is a form of term insurance that provides for loan repayment if the debtor dies before the loan is fully paid. It ordinarily is written on a single-premium basis, with the amount of the premium added to the loan balance and paid as part of the scheduled installments on the loan.

5.04 Credit life insurance includes level term insurance and decreasing term insurance. Level term insurance provides a fixed amount of coverage, generally the original amount of the loan. Decreasing term insurance, the more common type, insures the debtor's life to the extent of the unpaid balance of the loan, sometimes less any delinquent payments, at the date of death. However, decreasing term insurance usually is based on the contractual loan period. Therefore, the insurer may not pay off the entire uncollected balance on the loan if it is in delinquency status at the time of the debtor's death. The extent to which delinquent installments are covered generally depends on the insurance contract and on applicable state insurance rules and regulations.

5.05 The insurer's risk exposure on a policy at a given point in time under level term insurance differs from that under decreasing term credit life insurance. Because level term insurance provides coverage equal to the original amount of the loan, the insurer's risk exposure is constant throughout the term of the loan. In contrast, the insurer's exposure under decreasing term insurance decreases as scheduled loan repayments become due, usually in direct proportion to the regular monthly reductions of the loan balance.

#### Credit Accident and Health

5.06 Credit accident and health insurance requires the insurer to make the debtor's monthly loan payments during extended periods of illness or disability. Ordinarily it is written on a single-premium basis, with the premium added to the loan amount and, hence, paid as part of the periodic installments. Under an accident and health policy, the insurer's total risk exposure decreases—as in a decreasing term credit life insurance policy—as loan repayments are made. However, the size of potential claims and the related risk exposure do not decrease in direct proportion to the reduction in the unpaid loan balance, because most credit accident and health insurance claims are for short-duration disabilities that are cured in a period shorter than the remaining loan term.

## **Property and Liability**

5.07 Ordinarily, a finance company requires that the collateral pledged as security to a loan be protected by property insurance. Such coverage may be obtained from the lender's insurance subsidiary or from an unaffiliated insurer. The amount of coverage is usually based on the value of the collateral and does not necessarily bear a relationship to the unpaid balance of the loan. Property insurance policies issued in connection with finance transactions can be written either on a single-premium basis for the loan term or for an annual or other period of less than the remaining loan term, and the policy renewed as required. Premiums charged by lenders' insurance affiliates for property insurance coverage related to finance transactions frequently are added to the loan amount and paid as part of the regular installment payments on the loan.

## **Writing Policies**

**5.08** An insurance subsidiary of a finance company may be a direct writing or a reinsurance company. A direct writing company writes the insurance policies in its name. A reinsurance company reinsures policies written by direct writing companies.

**5.09** The insurance can be issued on either a group or an individual policy basis. For group coverage, the insurer issues the policy to the finance company, which in turn issues individual certificates to its debtor-customers. Group policies may be subject to experience-rated premium adjustments based on experience and profitability of the group being covered.

## **Commissions**

**5.10** Insurers, both insurance subsidiaries of finance companies and independent companies, may pay commissions to finance companies. Those payments may be in the form of advance commissions computed as a percentage of premiums, retrospective or experience-rated commissions, or combinations of advance commissions and retrospective commissions.

## Accounting

5.11 Accounting by enterprises that issue insurance contracts is dealt with in FASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises; FASB Statement No. 97, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Realized Gains and Losses From the Sale of Investments; FASB Statement No. 113, Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts; Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X, Article 7; and SOP 94-5, Disclosures of Certain Matters in the Financial Statements of Insurance Enterprises.

#### Premium Income

5.12 Premium income should be recognized in accordance with the methods described in FASB Statement No. 60. The statement classifies insurance

contracts as being of short or long duration, depending on the period over which such contracts are expected to remain in force. The statement provides the following guidance on factors to consider in determining whether a contract is of short or long duration:

- a. Short-duration contracts provide insurance protection for a fixed period of short duration and enable insurers to cancel the contracts or to adjust provisions of the contracts (such as the amount of premiums charged or coverage provided) at the end of any contract period.
- b. Long-duration contracts generally are not subject to unilateral changes in their provisions, such as noncancelable or guaranteed renewable contracts, and require performance of various functions and services (including insurance protection) for extended periods.
- 5.13 FASB Statement No. 60 indicates that examples of short duration policies include most property and liability insurance contracts and certain term life insurance contracts, such as credit life insurance. The statement also indicates that accident and health insurance contracts may be of short duration or long duration, depending on the terms of such contracts.
- 5.14 Insurance policies issued in connection with consumer lending generally are considered to represent short-duration contracts. Premiums from such contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contract in proportion to the amount of insurance protection provided. According to FASB Statement No. 60, "That generally results in premiums being recognized as revenue evenly over the contract period (or the period of risk, if different), except for those few cases in which the amount of insurance protection declines according to a predetermined schedule."
- **5.15** The following summarize the revenue recognition principles for the various types of insurance policies:
  - a. Credit life insurance. Straight-line recognition of premium income should be used for level term credit life insurance because the risk exposure is constant throughout the term of the policy. The interest method should be used for decreasing term credit life insurance because the risk exposure declines in proportion to the scheduled reduction of the unpaid loan balance.
  - Credit accident and health insurance. The risk exposure on credit accident and health insurance decreases throughout the term of the policy because the amount of insurance in force at a given time generally equals the unpaid loan balance. However, the risk exposure as measured by anticipated claims is less than the total in unpaid installments, because most illnesses and disabilities are for periods less than the remaining loan terms. Accordingly, premiums on credit accident and health insurance customarily are recognized in income in reasonable relationship to anticipated claims. This generally results in recognizing such premium income in amounts that fall between calculations under the straight-line method and a method based on the amount of insurance in force. To illustrate, assume that a credit accident and health insurer's claim experience indicates that revenue recognition in reasonable relationship to anticipated claims approximates the mean of the straight-line and insurance in-force methods. For a loan due in six equal monthly installments of \$700 and a related credit accident and health insurance premium of \$42, the following amounts are applicable:

			Earned Premium for Month		
Month	Total Unpaid Loan Installments at Beginning of Month	Factor for Insurance In-Force Method	Insurance In-force Method	Straight- line Method	Mean of In-Force and Straight- line Methods
1	\$ 4,200	42/147	\$12.00	\$ 7.00	\$ 9.50
2	3,500	35/147	10.00	7.00	8.50
3	2,800	28/147	8.00	7.00	7.50
4	2,100	21/147	6.00	7.00	6.50
5	1,400	14/147	4.00	7.00	5.50
6	700	7/147	$_{-2.00}$	7.00	4.50
Total	\$14,700		\$42.00	\$42.00	\$42.00

c. Property and liability insurance. Property insurance premiums should be recognized on a straight-line basis because the risk exposure generally is constant over the term of the policy. However, the premiums should be recognized on a decreasing basis in proportion to the coverage if the amount of coverage declines on a predetermined schedule.

## **Policy Acquisition Costs**

**5.16** Policy acquisition costs are defined in FASB Statement No. 60 to be costs that both vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of insurance contracts. Policy acquisition costs should be deferred and amortized to income over the terms of the policies by the same method used to account for insurance premium income. Commissions paid to the affiliated finance companies and premium taxes normally are the most significant elements of acquisition costs for captive insurance companies. Deferred costs associated with payment of such commissions and other intercompany items should be eliminated in consolidation.

#### **Investment Portfolios**

- **5.17** Insurance subsidiaries of finance companies maintain investment portfolios usually composed of the same types of securities found in the portfolios of independent insurance companies. State regulations restrict the types of investments that insurance companies may make.
- 5.18 FASB Statement No. 115 amends FASB Statement No. 60 to require that insurance enterprises account for all investments in debt securities and investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values, as defined by FASB Statement No. 115, in accordance with the provisions of Statement No. 115.
- **5.19** Insurance subsidiaries are required to deposit some securities, usually not a significant amount, with state regulatory authorities. However, if significant, the amount deposited should be disclosed.

#### State Laws

**5.20** Insurance companies are regulated by state insurance laws, which require maintenance of accounting records and adoption of accounting practices in compliance with the laws and regulations of the state of domicile. Some pre-

scribed or permitted statutory accounting practices differ from generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, the financial statements of insurance subsidiaries prepared for submission to regulatory authorities must be adjusted to conform to generally accepted accounting principles before they can be consolidated with the financial statements of the parent companies.

#### Commissions

- 5.21 A finance company may receive commissions from an independent insurer for policies issued to finance customers. Insurance commissions received from an independent insurer should be deferred and systematically amortized to income over the life of the related insurance contracts because the insurance and lending activities are integral parts of the same transactions. The method of commission amortization should be consistent with the method of premium income recognition for that type of policy as set forth in FASB Statement No. 60.
- **5.22** Income from experience-rated or retrospective commission arrangements should be accrued over the applicable insurance risk period. Insurers generally can provide statistical data that can be used to estimate experience-rated or retrospective commissions if the finance company does not have adequate internal data.
- 5.23 Commissions paid to a finance company by an insurance subsidiary are eliminated in consolidation.

## **Consolidation Policy**

5.24 FASB Statement No. 94, Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries, requires consolidation of all majority-owned subsidiaries unless control is temporary or does not rest with the majority owner. The statement requires consolidation of a majority-owned subsidiary even if it has nonhomogeneous operations, a large minority interest, or a foreign location. The statement also precludes use of parent-company financial statements prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity. The statement requires that summarized information about the assets, liabilities, and results of operations (or separate statements) of previously unconsolidated majority-owned subsidiaries continue to be provided after those subsidiaries are consolidated.

## **Financial Statement Presentation**

- 5.25 Presentation of revenues, unearned premiums, and unpaid claims related to activities of an insurance subsidiary varies. In consolidated financial statements, some finance companies combine revenues from insurance provided both to finance customers and other customers with revenues from finance activities to present a total revenue amount; others do not. Some companies present certain unearned premiums and unpaid claims on insurance related to finance customers as liabilities in their consolidated balance sheets; others deduct such amounts from total finance receivables.
- 5.26 Unearned premiums and unpaid claims on certain insurance policies issued to finance customers by a subsidiary may represent inter-company items because premiums are added to the consumer loan account, which is, in turn, classified as a receivable until paid, and most or all of the payments on claims are applied to reduce the related finance receivables. Therefore, unearned premiums and unpaid claims on certain credit life and credit accident and

health insurance policies issued to finance customers should be deducted from finance receivables in the consolidated balance sheet. That will cause the receivables to be stated at net realizable value. The following illustrates that type of presentation:

Finance receivables	XXX
Less:	
Allowance for losses	(XXX)
Unearned premiums and unpaid claim	
liabilities related to finance receivables	(XXX)
Finance receivables, net	XXX

Alternatively, the balance sheet may present only the net finance receivables if the notes to the financial statements contain sufficient disclosure of unearned premiums and unpaid claims and the allowance for losses.

- 5.27 Unpaid claims for property insurance and a portion of level term life insurance, however, generally may not be applied in consolidation against related finance receivables because finance companies generally do not receive substantially all proceeds of such claims. That prohibition also applies to credit life and accident and health coverage written on policies for which the related receivables are assets of unrelated enterprises. In those circumstances, such amounts should be presented as liabilities.
- **5.28** Revenues from insurance provided to finance customers may be presented as part of revenues from the finance business. This presentation may be preferable because it better portrays the relative significance of captive insurance activities to the earnings of the enterprise. The following illustrates a form of that presentation:

Revenues from finance business:

Interest and finance charges earned	
on finance receivables	XXX
Insurance premiums and commissions	XXX
Investment and other income	XXX
Total revenues	XXX

Alternatively, if the income statement emphasizes presentation of net interest income, another approach may be to present revenues from captive insurance activities separately below net interest income.

**5.29** FASB Statement No. 14, Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise, requires public enterprises to present in their financial statements industry-segment information on revenues, profitability, identifiable assets, and other matters. For such reporting purposes, insurance business relating to finance customers should be included in the finance business segment.

## **Auditing**

5.30 The AICPA industry audit guide, Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies and the audit and accounting guide, Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies, provide guidance on auditing concepts and procedures for insurance companies. The auditor should consider reviewing these AICPA guides for information. In addition, the auditor should consider whether accounts between the finance company and the insurance subsidiaries are reconciled regularly.

5.31 Because the premiums and commissions associated with insurance provided to finance customers ordinarily are an integral part of the related finance and loan transactions, the audit procedures used to test and evaluate finance transactions should include related insurance activities. Similarly, branch office controls over loans usually apply to insurance products. The auditor should be satisfied that the income recognition methods for insurance premiums and commission income conform to the principles discussed in this chapter.

## **Chapter 6**

# Acquisitions of Finance Companies and Operations

**6.01** APB Opinion No. 16, *Business Combinations*, requires that the purchase price of a company be allocated among all assets, including identifiable intangible assets, based on their fair values. The remaining unassigned portion of the purchase price is then accounted for as goodwill. Bulk purchases of receivables portfolios of an existing finance company also result in similar allocations among tangible and intangible assets. Following are some considerations that may affect such allocations, or the purchase price of a finance company or receivables portfolio:

- A finance company may seek to expand its operations to geographical areas where it presently does not do business. To avoid the start-up costs of establishing new branch offices, the finance company may be willing to pay a premium to buy another finance company that operates in such areas. Furthermore, the finance company may be especially willing to pay a premium if licenses are difficult to obtain or if regulatory or competitive conditions otherwise complicate entry into those areas.
- A finance company may buy another finance company or a receivables portfolio to obtain an established base of loans and customers.
   The acquiring company may pay a premium, particularly for a portfolio of direct consumer loans and retail sales contracts, in the expectation that the purchased accounts will provide new loans and customers
- The acquiring company may have no finance operations and thus may seek to buy an existing finance company to obtain valuable loan licenses, management expertise, and customer lists. Therefore, the buyer may be willing to pay a premium for an initial entry into the business.
- A finance company may be willing to pay a premium to another finance company with an attractive debt structure. For example, the acquired company may have issued long-term debt in prior years at interest rates that are favorable when compared with rates prevailing at the purchase date.
- The seller may enter into an agreement not to compete in a specified geographical area or for a specified period. The acquiring company may pay a premium for such an agreement not to compete.

**6.02** To compute the net premium paid for the finance receivables, loans may be examined or graded and assigned to one of several rating categories to determine their estimated fair value. Considerations in determining fair values may be current market rates of interest and statutory limits on rates as well as quality of the accounts.

**6.03** APB Opinion No. 17, *Intangible Assets*, as amended by FASB Statement No. 72, *Accounting for Certain Acquisitions of Banking or Thrift Institutions*, addresses accounting for intangible assets, including goodwill, acquired in business combinations. The opinion requires that useful lives of identifiable

intangible assets be estimated separately so that appropriate periods of amortization may be determined. The opinion states that amortization periods for intangible assets acquired after its issuance should not exceed forty years under any circumstances.

**6.04** FASB Statement No. 72 applies to the acquisition of a commercial bank, a savings and loan association, a mutual savings bank, a credit union, other depository institutions having assets and liabilities of the same types as those institutions, and branches of such enterprises. Provisions of FASB Statement No. 72 apply to acquisitions of finance companies but are not likely to have wide application in practice. Under that standard, when the fair value of liabilities assumed exceeds the fair value of tangible and identified intangible assets acquired, that excess constitutes an unidentifiable intangible asset that should be amortized to expense using the interest method over a period no greater than the estimated remaining life of the long-term interest-bearing assets acquired.

6.05 Net premiums paid for finance receivables generally are amortized over the estimated life of the existing receivables portfolio. The estimated life may include expected renewals, and generally is a relatively short period, such as five to seven years. However, the existence of valuable loan licenses or agreements not to compete may indicate that longer amortization periods are warranted. Nevertheless, conservatism should be a mitigating factor in determining those amortization periods for such net premiums and for goodwill because changes in state laws and regulations or in the competitive environment may render valueless such loan licenses or agreements not to compete. Amounts paid that are identified as relating to long-term debt with attractive interest rates should be amortized, using the interest method, over the lives of the related debt. Such amounts would reduce the carrying amount of debt and would not be shown as an asset.

**6.06** APB Opinion No. 17 requires goodwill to be amortized using the straight-line method unless another rational and systematic method is demonstrated to be more appropriate. If a finance company was purchased for territorial expansion of operations or for some purpose other than an initial entry into the finance business, consideration should be given to whether amounts designated as goodwill would be more appropriately accounted for as yield adjustments to the acquired receivables. In general, a review of specific facts and circumstances, such as economic conditions and competition, should be considered.

**6.07** Amounts of intangible assets may be presented in the balance sheet in one or more categories, depending on the materiality of the accounts. Intangible assets usually are presented as the last asset item or items in the balance sheet.

**6.08** Auditing procedures for acquisitions of finance companies are generally similar to auditing procedures for acquisitions of other enterprises.

### Appendix A

### Illustrative Financial Statements

The following set of financial statements illustrates one form of currently acceptable practice and, as indicated, does not include all disclosures required under generally accepted accounting principles. The notes to the financial statements are representative of the basic type of disclosure for finance companies. Additional disclosures, such as information concerning related-party transactions, subsequent events, pension plans, postretirement benefits other than pensions, postemployment benefits, lease commitments, accounting changes, off-balance-sheet risks, concentrations of credit risk, the fair value of financial instruments, and other matters not unique to finance companies may be required by generally accepted accounting principles. Other forms of financial statements are acceptable. More or less detail should appear either in the financial statement or in the notes, depending on the circumstances.

The banking industry has adopted an income statement format that emphasizes presentation of net interest income. Because of the similarity between many banking activities and finance company activities, the Finance Companies Guide Special Committee believes that such a presentation is of increasing relevance for the finance industry. Therefore, the illustrative financial statements in this appendix include two alternative income statement formats, the first of which emphasizes a net interest income presentation.

Nevertheless, certain factors may limit the usefulness of the net interest income presentation. An income statement that does not emphasize net interest income may be more appropriate for companies that engage primarily or solely in factoring operations or that otherwise derive a substantial portion of their income from commissions for services rather than from interest earned on loans. Additionally, the scope of what is to be included in net interest income needs to be considered. For example, as not done in the illustrative financial statements, a finance company may include credit insurance premiums and insurance claims expense on affiliated credit insurance business in the display of net interest income to recognize the integral nature of lending and credit insurance activities. In addition, all or a portion of investment income may be included in the display of net interest income.

FASB Statement No. 95, *Statement of Cash Flows*, requires a statement of cash flows as part of a full set of financial statements for all business enterprises in place of a statement of changes in financial position.

The statement requires that a statement of cash flows classify cash receipts and payments according to whether they stem from operating, investing, or financing activities and provides definitions of each category.

The statement requires that information about investing and financing activities not resulting in cash receipts or payments in the period be provided separately.

The statement encourages enterprises to report cash flows from operating activities directly by showing major classes of operating cash receipts and payments (the direct method). Enterprises that choose not to show operating cash receipts and payments are required to report the same amount of net cash flow from operating activities indirectly by adjusting net income to reconcile it

to net cash flow from operating activities (the indirect reconciliation method) by removing the effects of (a) all deferrals of past operating cash receipts and payments and all accruals of expected future operating cash receipts and payments, and (b) all items that are included in net income that do not affect operating cash receipts and payments. If the direct method is used, a reconciliation of net income and net cash flow from operating activities is required to be provided in a separate schedule.

Both the direct and the indirect methods are illustrated in this appendix.

### **Independent Auditor's Report**

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, and the related statements of income and retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries as of [at] December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

[Firm Signature]
Certified Public Accountants

City, State February 18, 19X6

### Exhibit 1

### XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Balance Sheets Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 (in thousands except share and per share amounts)

	19X5	19X4
Assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 6,015	\$ 4,907
Finance receivables, net	333,649	272,166
Trading securities	6,736	6,600
Available-for-sale securities	15,574	13,988
Held-to-maturity securities	10,450	10,250
Property and equipment	4,689	3,830
Other	11,628	9,577
Total assets	\$388,741	<u>\$321,318</u>
Liabilities		-
Senior debt	\$163,064	\$113,723
Senior subordinated debt	84,204	74,572
Junior subordinated debt	31,400	30,500
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	15,727	13,866
Credit balances of factoring clients	4,120	3,112
Deferred income taxes	3,972	3,469
Total liabilities	\$302,487	\$239,242
Shareholders' Equity		
Common stock, \$1 par value; 4,269,000 shares		
authorized and outstanding	\$ 4,269	\$ 4,269
Additional paid-in capital	18,945	18,945
Net unrealized depreciation on available-for-sale		
securities	(626)	(278)
Retained earnings	63,666	<u>59,140</u>
Total shareholders' equity	\$ 86,254	\$ 82,076
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$388,741	<u>\$321,318</u>

<sup>\*</sup> FASB Statement No. 115 does not require the presentation of individual amounts for the three categories of investments on the face of the balance sheet, provided that the information is presented in the accompanying footnote disclosures (FASB Statement No. 115, paragraph 117).

Exhibit 2

### XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Statements of Income and Retained Earnings: Format 1 Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 (in thousands except per share amounts)

	_19X5_	19X4
Interest income Interest and fee income Interest expense	\$ 55,510 (18,825)	\$ 47,302 (16,283)
Net interest income Provision for credit losses	36,685 (4,284)	31,019 (3,623)
Net interest income after provision for credit losses Insurance premiums and other income Other expenses Salaries and fringe benefits Other operating expenses Policyholders' benefits	32,401 13,040 (10,546) (13,227) (6,644)	27,396 11,650 (8,987) (11,565) (5,600)
Income before income taxes Income taxes	15,024 (7,211)	12,894 (6,189)
Net income Retained earnings, beginning of year Dividends	7,813 59,140 (3,287)	6,705 55,551 (3,116)
Retained earnings, end of year Earnings per share Dividends per share	\$ 63,666 \$ 1.83 \$ 0.77	\$ 59,140 \$ 1.57 \$ 0.73

### Exhibit 3

### XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Statements of Income and Retained Earnings: Format 2 Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 (in thousands except per share amounts)

	19X5	19X4
Revenues		
Interest and fee income	\$ 55,510	\$ 47,302
Insurance premiums and other income	13,040	11,650
Total revenues	68,550	_58,952
Expenses		
Interest expense	18,825	16,283
Policyholders' benefits	6,644	5,600
Provision for credit losses	4,284	3,623
Salaries and fringe benefits	10,546	8,987
Other operating expenses	13,227	11,565
Total expenses	53,526	46,058
Income before income taxes	15,024	12,894
Income taxes	7,211	6,189
Net income	7,813	6,705
Retained earnings, beginning of year	59,140	55,551
Dividends	(3,287)	(3,116)
Retained earnings, end of year	<u>\$ 63,666</u>	\$ 59,140
Earnings per share	\$ 1.83	\$ 1.57
Dividends per share	\$ 0.77	\$ 0.73

### Exhibit 4a

### XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Statements of Cash Flows: Direct Method Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 (in thousands)

	19X5	19X4
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Interest and fees received	\$ 54,698	\$ 46,589
Interest paid	(18,275)	(15,897)
Cash payments for operating expenses	(21,912)	(18,686)
Income taxes paid	(5,242)	(4,565)
Insurance premiums received	12,790	11,498
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities	(136)	(2,480)
Other	(2,611)	(1,937)
Net cash provided by operating activities	19,312	14,522
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Loans originated or purchased*	(190,304)	(136,571)
Loans repaid or sold*	118,705	83,750
Net investment in commercial paper	(346)	(555)
Purchases of available-for-sale securities	(14,330)	(8,493)
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale		
securities	6,988	4,625
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale		
securities	5,985	5,010
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities	(4,777)	(6,539)
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity		
securities	4,498	7,004
Capital expenditures	(1,409)	(1,656)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	200	643
Net cash used in investing activities	(74,790)	(52,782)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Net borrowings of commercial paper	16,939	10,215
Proceeds from issuance of other debt	71,000	50,000
Repayment of other debt	(28,066)	(18,215)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	0	955
Dividends paid	(3,287)	(3,116)
Net cash provided by financing activities	56,586	39,839
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	1,108	1,579
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	4,907	3,328
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 6,015	\$ 4,907

<sup>\*</sup> If the amounts are significant, this caption may be separated into two line items.

### Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

	_19X5	19X4
Net income	\$ 7,813	\$ 6,705
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash	•	,
provided by operating activities:		
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables	4,284	3,623
Policyholders' benefits	6,644	5,600
Depreciation	350	303
Deferred income taxes	503	473
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	1,861	1,530
Accrued interest receivable	(812)	(713)
Net realized gains on available-for-sale securities	(152)	(183)
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities	(136)	(2,480)
Other	(1,043)	(336)
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$ 19,312	<b>\$ 14,522</b>

### Exhibit 4b

### XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Statements of Cash Flows: Indirect Method Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 (in thousands)

(	19X5	19X4
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income	\$ 7,813	3 \$ 6,705
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash		
provided by operating activities: Provision for credit losses on finance		
receivables	4,28	4 3,623
Policyholders' benefits	6,64	
Depreciation	350	
Deferred income taxes	503	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	1,86	
Accrued interest receivable	(812	
Net realized gains on available-for-sale		
securities	(152)	
Net (increase)/decrease in trading securities	(136	
Other	(1,043	(336)
Net cash provided by operating activities	19,31	$\underline{}14,522$
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Loans originated or purchased*	(190,304	4) (136,571)
Loans repaid or sold*	118,70	5 83,750
Net investment in commercial paper	(346	
Purchases of available-for-sale securities	(14,330	(8,493)
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale		
securities	6,98	8 4,625
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale	F 001	F 5010
securities Purchases of held-to-maturity securities	5,988 (4,77'	
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity	(4,11	(0,559)
securities	4,49	8 7,004
Capital expenditures	(1,409	
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	20	0 643
Net cash used in investing activities	(74,79)	(52,782)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Net borrowings of commercial paper	16,93	
Proceeds from issuance of other debt	71,00	
Repayment of other debt	(28,060)	
Proceeds from issuance of common stock		0 955
Dividends paid	(3,28)	
Net cash provided by financing activities	56,58	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	1,10	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	4,90	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 6,01	<u>\$ 4,907</u>

<sup>\*</sup> If the amounts are significant, this caption may be separated into two line items.

### Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

	<u> 19X5</u>	<u> 19X4</u>
Cash paid during the year for: Interest	\$ 18,275	\$ 15,897
Income taxes	\$ 5,242	\$ 4,565

### Exhibit 5

### XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements

## A—Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

### Nature of Operations

XYZ Finance Corporation and its Consolidated Subsidiaries provide consumer and commercial finance services through branch offices located in most major business markets in the continental U.S. The Company's revenues are derived primarily from consumer lending operations.

### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

### Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of XYZ Finance Corporation (the Company) and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

### Finance Receivables

Finance receivables that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances reduced by any chargeoff or specific valuation accounts and net of any deferred fees or costs on originated loans, or unamortized premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

Loan origination fees and certain direct origination costs are capitalized and recognized as an adjustment of the yield of the related loan.

Allowance for loan losses is increased by charges to income and decreased by chargeoffs (net of recoveries). Management's periodic evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance is based on the Company's past loan loss experience, known and inherent risks in the portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower's ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral and current economic conditions. Consumer loans and factored receivables are charged off when they are 180 days and 90 days contractually past due, respectively.

The Company calculates its provision for credit losses based on changes in the present value of expected future cash flows of its loans discounted at the loan's effective interest rate in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114.

#### Securities

Trading securities. Government bonds held principally for resale in the near term are classified as trading securities upon acquisition and record-

ed at their fair values. Unrealized gains and losses on trading securities are included in other income.

Held-to-maturity securities. Bonds, notes, and debentures for which the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are reported at amortized cost.

Available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities consist of securities not classified as trading or held-to-maturity. Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of tax, on available-for-sale securities are reported as a net amount in a separate component of shareholders' equity until realized. Realized gains and losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities are determined using the specified identification method.

Declines in the fair value of individual held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities below cost or amortized cost that are other than temporary result in write downs of the individual securities to their fair value as a new cost basis. The related write-downs are included in earnings as realized losses. Premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the period to maturity.

### Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected at currently enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income taxes.

### Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair values of financial instruments as disclosed herein:

Cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of cash and short term instruments approximate their fair value.

Investment securities. Fair values for trading account securities, which also are the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet, are based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on pricing models or quoted market prices of comparable instruments.

Finance receivables. For variable rate receivables that reprice frequently and have no significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on carrying values. Fair values for commercial receivables are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. Fair values for impaired loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses or underlying collateral values, where applicable.

Senior debt; senior subordinated debt; junior subordinated debt. The fair values of the company's senior debt, senior subordinated debt, and junior subordinated debt are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on the Company's current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Accrued interest. The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximates their fair values.

Off-balance-sheet instruments. Fair values for off-balance-sheet lending commitments are based on fees currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the agreements and the counterparties' credit standing.

### Income Recognition

Interest income from finance receivables is recognized using the interest (actuarial) method. Accrual of interest income on finance receivables is suspended when a loan is contractually delinquent for ninety days or more. The accrual is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current, and past-due interest income is recognized at that time. In addition, a detailed review of commercial loans will cause earlier suspension if collection is doubtful. Premiums and commissions for credit life insurance are recognized as revenue using the interest method. Premiums and commissions for credit accident and health insurance are recognized over the terms of the contracts based on the mean of the straight-line and interest methods.

### B—Finance Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses

Finance receivables as of December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

	19X5	19X4
Consumer		
Real estate secured	\$131,961	\$104,078
Other	119,135	97,857
Accrued interest	3,175	2,550
	254,271	204,485
Commercial	•	,
Accounts receivable loans	32,002	27,440
Factored accounts		
Receivables	21,404	18,594
Inventory loans to clients	2,965	2,876
Overadvances to clients	2,947	2,260
Floor plan loans	5,441	5,763
Other	29,962	23,620
Accrued interest	1,200	1,013
	95,921	81,566
Total finance receivables	350,192	286,051
Allowance for credit losses	(9,506)	(7,839)
Unearned credit insurance premiums		
and reserves for policyholder benefits	(7,037)	(6,046)
Finance receivables, net	\$333,649	\$272,166

Impairment of loans having carrying values of \$4,086,000 in 19X5 and \$2,107,000 in 19X4 have been recognized in conformity with FASB Statement No. 114, as amended by FASB Statement No. 118, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan—Income Recognition and Disclosures (an amendment of FASB Statement No. 114). The total provision for credit losses related to these loans was \$564,647 and \$389,960 in 19X5 and 19X4, respectively. The average recorded investment in impaired loans was \$3,096,500 in 19X5 and \$2,826,000 in 19X4. The related amount of interest income recognized on impaired loans was \$143,725 in 19X5 and \$119,723 in 19X4. The amount of interest income recognized on a cash basis method of accounting during the time period that these loans were impaired amounted to \$42,352 in 19X5 and \$39,546 in 19X4. The Company is not committed to lend additional funds to debtors whose loans have been modified.

On December 31, 19X5, contractual maturities of finance receivables were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

	19X6	19X7	19X8	19X9	_19Y0	There- after	Total
Consumer							
Real estate			A				*
secured	\$ 20,963	\$10,785	\$10,474	\$ 8,480	\$ 8,917	\$72,342	\$131,961
Other	51,325	29,374	20,164	9,507	2,423	6,342	119,135
Commercial							
Accounts							
receivable							
loans	32,002						32,002
Factored	•						•
accounts	27,316						27,316
Floor plan	•						•
loans	4,686	755					5,441
Other	6,140	8,243	5,192	4,934	5,453		29,962
Accrued		•					
interest	4,375						4,375
Total finance							
receivables	¢146 007	¢40.157	¢25 020	¢00 001	¢16 702	\$78,684	\$350,192
receivables	<u>\$146,807</u>	\$49,157	<u>\$35,830</u>	<u>\$22,921</u>	<b>\$16,793</b>	φ10,004	φου0,192 =

It is the Company's experience that a substantial portion of the consumer loan portfolio generally is renewed or repaid before contractual maturity dates. The above tabulation, therefore, is not to be regarded as a forecast of future cash collections. During the years ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, cash collections of principal amounts of consumer loans totaled \$57,670,000 and \$40,719,000, respectively, and the ratios of these cash collections to average principal balances were 25 percent and 29 percent, respectively.

Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

	Consu	mer	Commercial		rcial		
	Real Estate Secured	Other	Accounts Receiv- able Loans	Factored Accounts	Floor Plan Loans	<u>Other</u>	<u>Total</u>
Balance as of December 31, 19X3	<b>\$</b> 762	\$3,885	\$628	\$556	\$112	\$620	\$6,563
Provision for credit losses Loans charged off Recoveries	597 (376) 58	1,564 (1,357) 490	627 (749) 225	534 (639) 192	129 (154) 46	172 (156) 73	3,623 (3,431) 1,084
Balance as of December 31,							
19X4 Provision for	1,041	4,582	731	643	133	709	7,839
credit losses Loans charged off Recoveries	651 (448) <u>76</u>	2,090 (1,601) <u>601</u>	664 (808) 243	583 (710) <u>213</u>	121 (147) <u>44</u>	175 (178) <u>98</u>	4,284 (3,892) 1,275
Balance as of December 31, 19X5	\$1,320	\$5,672	<u>\$830</u>	<u>\$729</u>	<u>\$151</u>	<u>\$804</u>	<u>\$9,506</u>

### C—Investments in Securities

Investments in securities as of December 31 were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

		Gross	Gross	
	Amortized	Unrealized	Unrealized	Fair
	Cost	Gains	Losses	Value
Available-for-sale securities				
December 31, 19X5:				
Equity securities	\$16,778	\$275	\$1,479	\$15,574
December 31, 19X4:			<del></del>	
Equity securities	\$14,523	\$211	\$ 746	\$13,988
Held-to-maturity securities		<del></del>		
December 31, 19X5:				
U.S. Government and				
Agency securities	\$ 6,552	\$488	\$ 912	\$ 6,128
State and Municipal securities	3,898	<u>373</u>	0	4,271
Total	\$10,450	<u>\$861</u>	\$ 912	<u>\$10,399</u>
December 31, 19X4:				
U.S. Government and				
Agency securities	6,267	854	1,289	5,832
State and Municipal securities	3,983	34	0	4,017
Total	<u>\$10,250</u>	\$888	<u>\$1,289</u>	\$ 9,849

The change in net unrealized holding gains on trading securities that has been included in earnings was \$243 in 19X5 and \$172 in 19X4.

Gross realized gains and gross realized losses on sales of available-for-sale securities were:

	19X5	19X4
Gross realized gains	<del></del>	
U.S. Government and Agency securities	\$106	\$110
State and Municipal securities	46	
Total	<u>\$152</u>	<u>\$183</u>

The scheduled maturities of securities held-to-maturity and securities available-for-sale at December 31, 19X5, were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

	Held-to	-Maturity
	Fair Value	Amortized Cost
Due in 1 year or less	\$ 3,135	\$ 3,255
Due from 1 to 5 years	2,926	3,037
Due from 5 to 10 years	2,613	2,457
Due after 10 years	1,776	1,650
Total	<u>\$10,450</u>	\$10,399

D—Debt

Debt as of December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

	19X5	19X4
Senior debt		
Commercial paper	\$ 62,600	\$ 45,661
4% to 7% notes due 19X6—19X9	73,866	47,570
$7\frac{1}{2}\%$ notes due 19Y0—19Y4	12,090	9,314
8% notes due 19X9	9,671	7,452
Variable interest rate notes due 19X8	4,837	3,726
Total senior debt	163,064	113,723
Senior subordinated debt		
6% notes due 19X9	40,000	40,000
7% notes due 19Y0	34,572	34,572
$8\frac{1}{2}\%$ notes due 19Y3—19Y7	9,632	
Total senior subordinated notes	84,204	74,572
Junior subordinated notes		
8% notes due 19X9	25,000	25,000
$10 \frac{1}{2}\%$ notes due $19Y0$ — $19Y6$	6,400	5,500
Total junior subordinated notes	31,400	30,500
Total subordinated debt	115,604	105,072
Total debt	\$278,668	\$218,795

The Company maintains various bank credit agreements, primarily to support commercial paper borrowings. As of December 31, 19X5, these agreements included \$50,000,000 of formal credit lines and \$158,460,000 of revolving credit agreements. Credit lines are reviewed annually, and the revolving credit agreements consist of \$50,160,000 and \$108,300,000 expiring June 30, 19X7, and September 30, 19X9, respectively. As of December 31, 19X5, none of the credit lines of revolving credit agreements were in use. To support the availability of credit agreements, the Company pays commitment fees or maintains compensating balances, or both. Borrowings under these lines generally are available at the prime rate. Compensating balance and annual commitment fee requirements as of December 31, 19X5 totaled \$742,000 and \$987,000, respectively.

Data on commercial paper were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

	_19X5	19X4_
Weighted average interest rate at year end	9.2%	8.7%
Maximum amount outstanding at any month end	\$62,600	\$48,735
Average borrowings	54,131	43,867
Weighted average interest rate during the year	9.0%	8.5%

Maturities as of December 31, 19X5, were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Senior debt Senior subordinated	19X6 \$81,100	19X7 \$18,500	19X8 \$22,337	19X9 \$29,037	19Y0 \$ 2,400	$\frac{There}{after}$ $\$ 9,690$	$\frac{Total}{\$163,064}$
debt Junior subordinated				40,000	34,572	9,632	84,204
debt				25,000	1,000	5,400	31,400
Total debt	\$81,100	\$18,500	\$22,337	\$94,037	\$37,972	\$24,722	\$278,668

The loan agreements under which certain of the senior and subordinated debts were issued contain restrictions on the payment of dividends, the purchase of common stock, and the requirements for maintenance of certain financial ratios and other financial conditions. Under the most restrictive of the dividend payment provisions, approximately \$21,056,000 of consolidated retained earnings were free of such restrictions as of December 31, 19X5. Requirements for maintenance of certain financial ratios and other financial conditions have the effect of requiring maintenance of consolidated stockholders' equity at certain minimum amounts; as of December 31, 19X5, consolidated equity exceeded this minimum amount by approximately \$38,600,000.

### E—Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The information provided below is required by FASB Statement No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments. These amounts represent estimates of fair value of financial instruments at a point in time. Significant estimates using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies were used for the purposes of this disclosure. The estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the company could realize in a current market exchange, and the use of different market assumptions or methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

	19	9X5	19	0X4
	Carrying Value	Estimated Fair Value	Carrying Value	Estimated Fair Value
Assets				
Cash & Cash Equivalents	\$ 6,015	\$ 6,015	\$ 4,907	\$ 4,907
Finance Receivables	333,649	334,053	272,166	273,249
Debt & Equity Securities	32,760	32,709	30,838	30,437
Liabilities				
Senior Debt	163,064	162,844	113,723	114,560
Senior subordinated debt	84,207	83,732	74,272	75,932
Junior subordinated debt	31,400	31,400	30,500	30,500
Accounts payable	15,727	15,727	13,866	13,866
Credit balances of factoring clients	4,120	4,120	3,112	3,112

<sup>\*</sup> Note: See appropriate FASB and AICPA pronouncements for additional guidance in presenting other information required by generally accepted accounting principles such as disclosures about insurance activities, segment data, lease commitments, employee benefit plans, income taxes, debt securities held as assets, financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, financial instruments with concentrations of credit risk, postemployment benefits other than pensions, and the fair value of financial instruments.

<sup>\*\*</sup> FASB Statement No. 126, Exemption from Certain Required Disclosures about Financial Instruments for Certain Nonpublic Entities, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 107, amends FASB Statement No. 107 to make the disclosures about fair value of financial instruments prescribed in FASB Statement No. 107 optional for entities that meet all of the following criteria:

<sup>a. The entity is a nonpublic entity.
b. The entity's total assets are less than \$100 million on the date of the financial statements.</sup> 

c. The entity has not held or issued any derivative financial instruments, as defined in FASB Statement No. 119, Disclosure about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments, other than loan commitments, during the reporting period.

### F—Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to extend credit. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The contract or notional amounts of those instruments reflect the extent of involvement the Company has in particular classes of financial instruments.

The Company's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments. The Company uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.

		ract or l Amount
Financial instruments whose contract amounts represent credit risk	<u>19X5</u>	<u>19X4</u>
Commercial loan commitments Unfunded lines-of-credit	\$1,653 457	\$1,127 359
Letter of credit	395	258
Total	<u>\$2,505</u>	<u>\$1,744</u>

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to be drawn upon, the total commitment amounts generally represent future cash requirements. The Company evaluates each customer's credit worthiness on a case by case basis. The amount of collateral, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is based on management's credit evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral normally consists or real property.

### **G**—Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

_	<u>19X5</u>	19X4
Current Federal	\$5,500	\$4,950
State	1,208	<u></u>
Total Current	6,708	_5,716
Deferred		
Federal	453	425
State	50	48
Total Deferred	503	473
Total	<u>\$7,211</u>	<u>\$6,189</u>

The net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for

income tax purposes are reflected in deferred income taxes. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 are as follows:

	19X5_	19X4
Current deferred tax assets/(liabilities)	<u>\$0</u>	<u>\$ 0</u>
Noncurrent deferred tax assets/(liabilities)		
Provision for loan losses	\$ 1,875	\$ 1,225
Depreciation	(1,575)	(1,320)
Insurance underwriting	(1,875)	(1,705)
Leasing operations	(1,247)	(1,325)
Deferred compensation	1,200	1,295
Other (net)	(2,350)	(1,639)
Deferred noncurrent tax liability, (net)	\$(3,972)	\$(3,469)

A reconciliation of the income tax provision with amounts determined by applying the federal statutory rate to income before income taxes is as follows:

	<u>19X5</u>	<u>19X4</u>
Federal statutory income tax rate	34.0%	34.0%
State and local income tax	8.4	6.3
Nondeductible expenses	4.0	5.8
Other	1.6	1.9
Effective tax rate	<u>48.0</u> %	48.0%

### H—Vulnerability Due to Certain Concentrations

A sizeable percentage of the Company's secured consumer real estate loans have been extended to customers in the northeastern region of the U.S. This area has not yet felt the full effects of the general recovery from the nationwide recession and accompanying real estate downturn. Leading economic indicators suggest that the situation in this region may continue. Should this prove to be the case, it is at least reasonably possible that the Company could experience a severe impact in its ability to collect on existing loans, liquidate foreclosed assets or extend new loans in this prime market. Based on this circumstance it is also reasonably possible that the Company's related loan loss estimates will change in the near term.

### Appendix B

# Statement of Position

90-11

Disclosure of Certain Information by Financial Institutions About Debt Securities Held as Assets

**November 30, 1990** 

Amendment to
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides
Audits of Banks,
Audits of Finance Companies (Including Independent and
Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies), and
Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies

**Issued by the Accounting Standards Executive Committee** 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

[Effectively superseded by the issuance of FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.]

### **Appendix C**

Statement of Position

92-3

# **Accounting for Foreclosed Assets**

**April 28, 1992** 

Issued by the Accounting Standards Division American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

### NOTICE TO READERS

Statements of Position of the Accounting Standards Division present the conclusions of at least a majority of the Accounting Standards Executive Committee, which is the senior technical body of the AICPA authorized to speak for the Institute in the areas of financial accounting and reporting. Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor's Report, identifies AICPA Statements of Position as sources of established accounting principles that an AICPA member should consider if the accounting treatment of a transaction or event is not specified by a pronouncement covered by Rule 203 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. In such circumstances, the accounting treatment specified by this Statement of Position should be used or the member should be prepared to justify a conclusion that another treatment better presents the substance of the transaction in the circumstances.

Material appearing in footnote 2 and the indented portion of paragraph A-5 of the Appendix is copyrighted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, 401 Merritt 7, P.O. Box 5116, Norwalk, Connecticut, 06856-5116, U.S.A. It is reprinted by permission. Copies of the complete document are available from the FASB.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Paragraph
Summary	
Scope	. 1
Background	2-9
Conclusions.  Held-for-Sale Presumption  Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale  Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income.  Change in Classification.	10-16 10-11 12-1 <i>4</i> 15
Effective Date and Transition	. 17
Appendix—Discussion of Major Comments on the Exposure Draft	A-1— A-14 A-3—
Held-for-Sale Presumption  Fair Value  Results of Operations Related to Foreclosed Assets Held for	A-3— A-4 A-5
Sale	A-6 A-7
Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income	A-8 A-9
In-Substance Foreclosed Assets	A-10 A-11— A-12
Offsetting of Debt	A-13 A-14

### **SUMMARY**

This statement of position (SOP) provides guidance on measuring foreclosed assets and in-substance foreclosed assets after foreclosure. It applies to all reporting entities, except those that account for assets at fair value or market value. It applies to all assets obtained through foreclosure or repossession, except for inventories, marketable equity securities, and real estate previously owned by the lender and accounted for under FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects.

Under the SOP, there is a rebuttable presumption that foreclosed assets are held for sale. The SOP recommends that foreclosed assets held for sale be carried at the lower of (a) fair value minus estimated costs to sell or (b) cost. Foreclosed assets held for the production of income should be treated the same way they would be had the assets been acquired in a manner other than through foreclosure.

The SOP should be applied to foreclosed assets in annual financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1992.

### **Accounting for Foreclosed Assets**

### Scope

1. This statement of position (SOP) provides guidance on determining the balance sheet treatment of foreclosed assets<sup>1</sup> after foreclosure. (Paragraphs A-6 and A-7 of the Appendix discuss the exclusion from this SOP of conclusions on the accounting treatment of results of operations related to foreclosed assets held for sale.) It applies to all reporting entities except those that account for assets at market value or fair value, such as broker-dealers, futures commission merchants, and investment companies. It applies to all assets obtained through foreclosure or repossession except for (a) inventories that are covered by chapter 4 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins; (b) marketable equity securities that are covered by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (Statement) No. 12, Accounting for Certain Marketable Securities; and (c) foreclosed real estate previously owned by the lender and accounted for under FASB Statement No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects. Except for the requirements in paragraphs 12 and 17, the conclusions of this SOP do not apply to in-substance foreclosed assets (see paragraph A-10 of the Appendix).

### Background

- 2. Paragraph 29 of FASB Statement No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings, issued in 1977, requires the following: "After a troubled debt restructuring, a creditor shall account for assets received in satisfaction of a receivable the same as if the assets had been acquired for cash." That requirement has been interpreted in diverse ways.
- 3. The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' (AICPA's) Industry Audit Guide Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies requires that foreclosed real estate be carried at the lower of cost (less accumulated depreciation) or market value, net of any encumbrances. Paragraphs 17 and 21 of SOP 75-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts (as amended by SOP 78-2), require that estimated losses on individual loans and properties be based on net realizable value. The guidance in the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of Savings Institutions (May 1994) and in the Industry Audit Guide Audits of Finance Companies are consistent with SOPs 75-2 and 78-2. The AICPA Industry Audit Guide Audits of Banks (May 1994) states that subsequent to foreclosure, a loss on foreclosed real estate should be recognized if cost cannot be recovered through sale or use, but it does not indicate how the loss is to be measured. The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies does not address accounting for foreclosed assets.\*

As used in this SOP, the term foreclosed assets includes all assets received in satisfaction of a receivable in a troubled debt restructuring, as the term is used in FASB Statement No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings. It includes real property and personal property; equity interests in corporations, partnerships, and joint ventures; and beneficial interests in trusts.

<sup>\*</sup> The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Banks and Savings Institutions superseded the Guides Audits of Savings Institutions and Audits of Banks and refers readers to FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, and SOP 92-3.

- 4. In practice, accounting by creditors for foreclosed assets, particularly real estate assets, is diverse. After foreclosure, some enterprises continue to write down the carrying amount of foreclosed assets for subsequent, further declines in fair value; others do not. After foreclosure, some enterprises discount projected cash flows related to foreclosed assets in estimating net realizable value of those assets; others do not.
- 5. Sections 4(b)(1) and 4(b)(2)(A) of the Home Owners' Loan Act of 1933 as amended by the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 generally provide that the director of the Office of Thrift Supervision prescribe uniform accounting and disclosure standards for savings associations, to be used in determining associations' compliance with applicable regulations, and incorporate generally accepted accounting principles into those standards to the same degree that such principles are used to determine compliance with regulations prescribed by federal banking agencies. Section 1215 of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 also provides the following:

Before the end of the 1-year period beginning on the date of the enactment of this Act [August 9, 1989], each appropriate Federal banking agency (as defined in section 3(q) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act) shall establish uniform accounting standards to be used for determining the capital ratios of all federally insured depository institutions and for other regulatory purposes. Each such agency shall report annually to the Chairman and ranking minority member of the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs of the Senate and the Chairman and ranking minority member of the Committee on Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs of the House of Representatives any differences between the capital standards used by such agency and capital standards used by any other such agency. Each such report shall contain an explanation of the reasons for any discrepancy in such capital standards, and shall be published in the Federal Register.

- 6. The chairman of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board (now the Office of Thrift Supervision) asked the AICPA in 1987 to address the inconsistency between banks and savings and loan associations in accounting for loans and real estate assets. The AICPA's Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) attempted to eliminate that inconsistency in 1988 and 1989 but decided to refer the matter to the FASB at that time. On April 4, 1989, soon after AcSEC's decision to refer the matter to the FASB, the chairman of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board wrote to the chairman of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) asking that the SEC or its staff remove the inconsistency for public reporting entities. The SEC has not done so.
- 7. Further, the chairman of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, in a letter to the FASB dated November 8, 1989, asked the FASB to assist in developing "uniform accounting standards among depository institutions." In that letter, the chairman stated that "the accounting treatment in practice for certain transactions among participants in the financial services industry seems to be more a reflection of the type of charter than the substance of the transaction." Furthermore, the chairman "urge[d] the FASB to reconcile the different accounting practices outlined in [AICPA] guides for thrifts, banks, and finance companies." In early 1990, AcSEC decided that it could deal with the inconsistencies and diversity in accounting for foreclosed assets, and this SOP is a result of that decision.
- 8. AcSEC believes that all enterprises, not just financial institutions, should account for foreclosed assets held for sale the same way, except that enterprises that account for assets at market value or fair value should not change

their accounting. AcSEC's primary objectives in issuing this statement of position are to reduce the inconsistencies and diversity in accounting for foreclosed assets and to improve the understandability, comparability, and relevance of amounts reported as foreclosed assets in balance sheets. Another objective is to make all of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and SOPs consistent on this matter. Achieving those objectives will also address the needs of Congress and the thrift and banking regulators.

- **9.** This SOP affects the following AICPA statements of position and industry audit and accounting guides:
  - a. Audits of Finance Companies
  - b. Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies
  - c. Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies
  - d. Guide for the Use of Real Estate Appraisal Information

### Conclusions

### Held-for-Sale Presumption

- 10. Most enterprises do not intend to hold foreclosed assets for the production of income but intend to sell them; in fact, some laws and regulations applicable to financial institutions require the sale of foreclosed assets. Therefore, under this SOP, it is presumed that foreclosed assets are held for sale and not for the production of income. That presumption may be rebutted, except for in-substance foreclosed assets, by a preponderance of the evidence. If the held-for-sale presumption is not rebutted, the asset should be classified in the balance sheet as held for sale.
- 11. The presumption of sale can be rebutted if (a) management intends to hold a foreclosed asset for the production of income, (b) that intent is not inconsistent with the enterprise's ability to do so or with laws or regulations, including the manner in which the laws or regulations are administered by federal or state regulatory agencies, and (c) that intent is supported by a preponderance of the evidence.

### Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale

12. After foreclosure, foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried at the lower of (a) fair value minus estimated costs to sell or (b) cost. Such de-

The fair value of the assets transferred is the amount that the . . . [creditor] could reasonably expect to receive for them in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that is, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Fair value of assets shall be measured by their market value if an active market for them exists. If no active market exists for the assets transferred but exists for similar assets, the selling prices in that market may be helpful in estimating the fair value of the assets transferred. If no market price is available, a forecast of expected of expected cash flows may aid in estimating the fair value of assets transferred, provided the expected cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved.<sup>6</sup>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Fair value, as used in this SOP, is defined in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15 as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Some factors that may be relevant in estimating the fair value of various kinds of assets are described in paragraphs 88 and 89 of APB [Accounting Principles Board] Opinion No. 16 ["Business Combinations"], paragraphs 12-14 of APB Opinion No. 21, "Interest on Receivables and Payables," and paragraph 25 of APB Opinion No. 29, "Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The *cost* of such assets at the time of foreclosure is the fair value of the asset foreclosed or repossessed. Any specific valuation allowance related to the loan should not be carried forward. This SOP provides no guidance for determining cost subsequent to foreclosure (see paragraphs A-6 and A-7 of the appendix).

termination should be made on an individual asset basis. If the fair value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset is less than the cost of the asset, the deficiency should be recognized as a valuation allowance. If the fair value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset subsequently increases and the fair value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset is more than its carrying amount, the valuation allowance should be reduced, but not below zero. Increases or decreases in the valuation allowance should be charged or credited to income.<sup>4</sup>

- 13. The amount of any senior debt (principal and accrued interest) to which the asset is subject should be reported as a liability at the time of foreclosure and not be deducted from the carrying amount of the asset; payments on such debt should be charged to the liability. Interest that accrues after foreclosure should be recognized as interest expense.
- 14. FASB Statement No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects, was extracted by the FASB from SOP 78-3, Accounting for Costs to Sell and Rent, and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects; SOP 80-3, Accounting for Real Estate Acquisition, Development, and Construction Costs, and the AICPA Industry Audit Guide Accounting for Retail Land Sales. These documents did not, in the opinion of AcSEC, apply to foreclosed real estate held for sale. AcSEC therefore believes that the fair-value test in this SOP, not the net-realizable-value test in FASB Statement No.67, should be applied to foreclosed real estate held for sale, except when the foreclosed real estate was previously owned by the lender and accounted for under FASB Statement No. 67, in which case such foreclosed assets should be accounted for under FASB Statement No. 67.

### Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income

15. After foreclosure, assets determined to be held for the production of income (and not held for sale) should be reported and accounted for in the same way that they would be had the assets been acquired other than through foreclosure.

### Change in Classification

16. If it is subsequently decided that a foreclosed asset classified as held for sale will be held for the production of income, the asset should be reclassified from the held-for-sale category. The reclassification should be made at the amount the asset's carrying amount would have been had the asset been held for the production of income since the time of foreclosure. Selling costs included in the valuation allowance should be reversed. The net effect should be reported in income from continuing operations in the period in which the decision not to sell the asset is made.

### **Effective Date and Transition**

17. This SOP should be applied to foreclosed assets in annual financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1992, with earlier application permitted. On initial application of this SOP, all enterprises should adjust the carrying amount of foreclosed assets held for sale to the lower of (a) the fair value of the asset minus the estimated costs to sell the asset or (b) the cost of the asset as of the date of the initial adoption of this SOP. For many ent-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the allowance is considered a valuation adjustment, insurance enterprises should report changes in the valuation allowance as realized gains and losses in income, not as unrealized gains and losses in equity.

erprises, adoption of this SOP will result in a change in accounting principle. The nature of the change should be disclosed in the financial statements of the period in which the change is made. Any adjustment arising from the initial application of this SOP should be included in income from continuing operations in the period in which the change is made. No restatement of previously issued financial statements or cumulative-effect adjustment as of the beginning of the year this SOP is first applied is permitted.

### **APPENDIX**

### Discussion of Major Comments on the Exposure Draft

- A-1. This Appendix summarizes considerations that were deemed significant by members of AcSEC in reaching the conclusions in this SOP.
- **A-2.** In the exposure draft, AcSEC concluded that there is a rebuttable presumption that foreclosed assets are held for sale and that foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried at the lower of cost or fair value minus the estimated costs to sell. Few respondents objected to those conclusions.

### **Held-for-Sale Presumption**

- A-3. Some respondents requested more explanation of the circumstances under which the held-for-sale presumption could be rebutted. After considering the concerns expressed by respondents about the rebuttable presumption, AcSEC decided not to give detailed, specific guidance, thereby allowing for the exercise of judgment in determining whether the presumption is rebutted by the facts in particular circumstances.
- **A-4.** AcSEC recognizes that some enterprises may hold foreclosed assets for several years before sale and may even operate the assets, but concludes that a holding period in excess of one year does not, in and of itself, rebut the held-for-sale presumption. Further, AcSEC notes that if the form of the foreclosed asset is a majority interest in an enterprise, FASB Statement No. 94, Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries, requires the subsidiary to be consolidated unless control is likely to be temporary.

### Fair Value

A-5. Some respondents requested guidance on the determination of fair value. AcSEC recognizes that estimating fair value requires judgment. AcSEC concluded, however, that it would be inappropriate and is unnecessary to develop a new definition of fair value in this SOP, and that the definition of fair value in FASB Statement No. 15 should be used in this SOP. Moreover, AcSEC believes that the following discussion about fair value from Statement No. 15, particularly paragraph 82, will be helpful in implementing this SOP.

#### Concept of Fair Value

- 79. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft continued to argue that all troubled debt restructurings should be accounted for as modifications of the terms of debt and that none should be accounted for as transfers of assets (paragraphs 66 and 67). Others accepted the need to account for some troubled debt restructurings as asset transfers but held that obtaining assets through foreclosure or repossession under terms included in lending agreements should be distinguished from obtaining assets in exchange for cash or in other "asset swaps." They contended that (a) only the form of the asset is changed by foreclosure or repossession, (b) the substance of a secured loan is that the lender may choose either to postpone receipt of cash or take the asset to optimize cash receipts and recovery of its investment, and (c) foreclosure or repossession is not the completion of a lending transaction but merely a step in the transaction that begins with lending cash and ends with collecting cash.
- 80. The Board rejected those arguments for the reasons given in paragraphs 71-77, emphasizing that an event in which (a) an asset is transferred between debtor and creditor, (b) the creditor relinquishes all or part of its claim against the debtor, and (c) the debtor is absolved of all or part of its obligation to the creditor is the kind of event that is the basis of accounting under the existing transaction-based accounting framework. To fail to recognize an event that fits

the usual description of a transaction and to recognize only the lending and collection of cash as transactions would significantly change the existing accounting framework.

- 81. Use of the fair value of an asset transferred to measure the debtor's gain on restructuring and gain or loss on the asset's disposal or the creditor's cost of acquisition is not adopting some kind of "current value accounting." On the contrary, that use of fair value is common practice within the existing accounting framework. Paragraph 13 of this Statement explains briefly the meaning of fair value and refers to APB Opinions No. 16, No. 21, and No. 29, which use fair value in the same way and provide guidance about determining fair values within the existing accounting framework. The term fair value is used in essentially the same way as market value was used in the Discussion Memorandum to denote a possible attribute to be measured at the time a debt is restructured. Fair value is defined in paragraph 181 of APB Statement No. 4 as "the approximation of exchange price in transfers in which money or money claims are not involved." Although a "money claim" is necessarily involved in transferring assets to settle a payable in a troubled debt restructuring, the troubled circumstances in which the transfer occurs make it obvious that the amount of the "money claim" does not establish an exchange price. Determining fair value of the assets transferred in a troubled debt restructuring is usually necessary to approximate an exchange price for the same reasons that determining fair value is necessary to account for transfers of assets in nonmonetary transactions (APB Opinion No. 29).
- 82. That point is emphasized in this Appendix because some respondents to the Exposure Draft apparently misunderstood the concept of fair value (paragraph 11 of the Exposure Draft and paragraph 13 of this Statement) and the discounting of expected cash flows specified in those paragraphs. Paragraph 13 permits discounting of expected cash flows from an asset transferred or received in a troubled debt restructuring to be used to estimate fair value only if no market prices are available either for the asset or for similar assets. The sole purpose of discounting cash flows in that paragraph is to estimate a current market price as if the asset were being sold by the debtor to the creditor for cash. That estimated market price provides the equivalent of a sale price on which the debtor can base measurement of a gain on restructuring and a gain or loss on disposal of the asset and the equivalent of a purchase price on which the creditor can measure the acquisition cost of the asset. To approximate a market price, the estimate of fair value should use cash flows and discounting in the same way the marketplace does to set prices—in essence, the marketplace discounts expected future cash flows from a particular asset "at a rate commensurate with the risk involved" in holding the asset. An individual assessment of expected cash flows and risk may differ from what the marketplace's assessment would be, but the procedure is the same. [Emphasis added by AcSEC.]
- 83. In contrast to the purpose of paragraph 13, AICPA Statement of Position No. 75-2<sup>31</sup> is concerned with different measures—net realizable value to a creditor of a receivable secured by real property and net realizable value of repossessed or foreclosed property. Its method of accounting for assets obtained by foreclosure or repossession thus differs from the method specified in this Statement. It proposes discounting expected cash flows at a rate based on the creditor's "cost of money" to measure the "holding cost" of the asset until its realizable value is collected in cash. The concept of fair value in paragraph 13 does not involve questions of whether interest is a "holding cost" or "period cost"

<sup>31</sup> See paragraphs 59 and 60 of this Statement.

because it is concerned with estimating market price, not net realizable value, however defined. Accounting for transfers of assets in troubled debt restructurings and for the assets after transfer is, of course, governed by this Statement.\*

### Results of Operations Related to Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale

A-6. In the exposure draft, AcSEC proposed that there should be no results of operations—revenues and expenses—from foreclosed assets while they are held for sale; net cash receipts related to foreclosed assets during the holding period would have been credited to the carrying amount of the asset, and net cash payments, except for capital additions and improvements, would have been charged to income as a loss on holding the foreclosed assets. Further, in the exposure draft, AcSEC concluded that no depreciation, depletion, or amortization expense should be recorded. Many respondents objected to the exclusion of the results of operating a foreclosed asset from income; many also objected to crediting net cash receipts to the carrying amount of the asset and charging net cash payments to income. They raised questions about the conservatism of such treatment, about whether the treatment was conceptually sound, and about whether it would be practical to implement. Some comment letters also raised questions about whether it is appropriate not to depreciate foreclosed assets held for sale. After considering the comments, AcSEC decided not to adopt the method proposed in the exposure draft.

A-7. AcSEC considered various other ways to account for operations during the period foreclosed assets are held for sale, such as—

- Reporting the net of revenues and expenses in income, including charges or credits related to changes in the valuation allowance and depreciation expense on depreciable assets, for each reporting period as a gain or loss on holding the asset.
- Reporting the net of revenues and expenses in income, including charges or credits related to changes in the valuation allowance and depreciation expense on depreciable assets held or expected to be held for more than a specified length of time (for example, one year).
- Reporting the net of revenues and expenses in income, including charges or credits related to changes in the valuation allowance, and recognizing no depreciation expense.
- Crediting or debiting the net of revenues and expenses to the asset, and recognizing no depreciation expense. Changes in the valuation allowance would be included in income.

AcSEC believes that it should consider those options further and that its ultimate decision on the treatment of operations during the period foreclosed assets are held for sale should be exposed for public comment; AcSEC intends to undertake such a project. However, because AcSEC believes that its conclusion that foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried at the lower of fair value minus estimated costs to sell or cost would not change regardless of its conclusions on operations of foreclosed assets, AcSEC decided that it should issue the guidance in this SOP now, rather than delay issuing the guidance until the results of operations issues are resolved.

<sup>\*</sup> Note: Paragraph 13 of SOP 75-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts, has been effectively superseded by FASB Statement No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, and FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.

### Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income

A-8. In the exposure draft, AcSEC proposed to require that foreclosed assets held for the production of income be carried at an amount not greater than the assets' net realizable value. AcSEC decided to eliminate that statement.

### Change in Classification

A-9. AcSEC also decided that, on reclassification of a foreclosed asset from the held-for-sale category, the asset should be measured and recorded as if the asset had been held for the production of income since foreclosure. That decision is consistent with the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force in Issue 2 of Issue 90-6, where the reversal of a decision to sell an asset acquired in a business combination gives rise to an accounting as if the asset had never been held for sale.

### In-Substance Foreclosed Assets

- **A-10.** Many respondents asked for specific guidance on in-substance foreclosed assets, and they asked whether the SOP would apply to such assets. AcSEC concluded that, except for paragraphs 12 and 17, the guidance in this SOP need not be applied to in-substance foreclosures for the following reasons:
  - a. The accounting for in-substance foreclosed assets was not explicitly addressed in the exposure draft.
  - b. AcSEC would have found it difficult to resolve issues concerning senior debt related to in-substance foreclosed assets.

However, AcSEC notes that paragraph 34 of FASB Statement No. 15; paragraph 6 of AICPA Practice Bulletin 7, Criteria for Determining Whether Collateral for a Loan Has Been In-Substance Foreclosed;\* and SEC Financial Reporting Release 28, Accounting for Loan Losses by Registrants Engaged in Lending Activities, include accounting guidance related to in-substance foreclosed assets indicating that in-substance foreclosed assets should be accounted for in the same way as assets that have actually been foreclosed or repossessed. Further, AcSEC concluded that for purposes of applying this SOP, the held-forsale presumption could not be rebutted for in-substance foreclosed assets. Accordingly, after in-substance foreclosure, an in-substance foreclosed asset, like a foreclosed asset held for sale, would be reported in the balance sheet at the lower of (a) fair value minus estimated costs to sell or (b) cost.

### **Carrying Amount of Assets at Foreclosure**

A-11. Some respondents expressed concerns and opinions about the carrying amount of the foreclosed assets to be recognized at foreclosure. The exposure draft indicated that the attribute to be recognized at foreclosure should be the fair value of the collateral, implying that, if at the time of foreclosure the fair value of the collateral is greater than the recorded investment in the related loan, a credit to income would result. Some respondents suggested that no such credits should be permitted and that the carrying amount of the asset recognized at foreclosure should be the lower of the fair value of the collateral or the recorded investment in the loan. Notwithstanding those concerns, AcSEC notes that paragraph 28 of FASB Statement No. 15 requires that foreclosed assets be accounted for at their fair value at the time of foreclosure.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>star}$  Practice Bulletin 7 was withdrawn in December 1994 by the Accounting Standards Executive Committee.

A-12. Some respondents also said that the definition of *fair value*, which is the definition in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15, implicitly contains a reduction for selling costs. For purposes of applying this SOP, AcSEC believes that the definition of fair value in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15 should be viewed as the cash sales/purchase price in a principal-to-principal transaction wherein no agents, dealers, brokers, or commission merchants are involved. If either principal decides to involve and pay outsiders to assist that principal, or to bring principals together, any amount paid by that principal is independent of the fair value of the asset and does not affect that fair value. Accordingly, immediately after foreclosure, a valuation allowance related to foreclosed assets held for sale should be recognized for estimated costs to sell through a charge to income.

### Offsetting of Debt

A-13. Contrary to what was proposed by AcSEC in the exposure draft, some respondents suggested that nonrecourse senior debt not assumed by the holder of the foreclosed asset be offset against the carrying amount of the asset. To protect its interest in the asset, the holder of the asset will have to settle the debt or have a subsequent transferee take the asset subject to the debt. If debt is offset, leverage is not portrayed, and the degree of possible gain is obscured. Moreover, offsetting nonrecourse senior debt against a foreclosed asset would be inconsistent with the manner in which such debt is portrayed when assets are purchased for cash and there is related nonrecourse debt. Therefore, AcSEC reaffirms that senior debt should not be offset against the asset.

### **Transition**

A-14. Comments were specifically requested on the transition proposed in the exposure draft. Most respondents agreed that determining the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle would either be impossible or possible only at significant cost for enterprises that do not have available the fair value of foreclosed assets at earlier balance sheet dates, and that a restatement of previously issued financial statements or a cumulative effect adjustment should not be required. Further, AcSEC concluded that, because one of the principal objectives of this SOP is to have consistent accounting of foreclosed assets, those two alternatives should not be permitted.

### Appendix D

### Information Sources

Further information on matters addressed in this Guide is available through various publications and services listed in the table that follows. Many non-government and some government publications and services involve a charge or membership requirement.

Fax services allow users to follow voice cues and request that selected documents be sent by fax machine. Some fax services require the user to call from the handset of the fax machine, others allow the user to call from any phone. Most fax services offer an index document, which lists titles and other information describing available documents.

Electronic bulletin board services allow users to read, copy, and exchange information electronically. Most are available using a modem and standard communications software. Some bulletin board services are also available using one or more Internet protocols.

Recorded announcements allow users to listen to announcements about a variety of recent or scheduled actions or meetings.

All telephone numbers listed are voice lines, unless otherwise designated as fax (f) or data (d) lines. Required modem speeds, expressed in bauds per second (bps), are listed for data lines.

# Information Sources

Organization	General Information	Fax Services	Electronic Bulletin Board Services	Recorded Announcements
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)	Order Department Harborside Financial Center 201 Plaza Three Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881 (800) TO-AICPA or (800) 862-4272 Information about AICPA continuing professional education programs is available through the AICPA CPE Division and the AICPA Meetings and Travel Division: (201) 938-3232	24 Hour Fax Hotline (201) 938-3787	Accountants Forum This information service is available on CompuServe. Some information is available only to AICPA members. To set up a CompuServe account call (800) 524-3388 and ask for the AICPA package or rep. 748.	
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)	Order Department P.O. Box 5116 Norwalk, CT 06856-5116 (203) 847-0700, ext. 10			Action Alert Telephone Line (203) 847-0700 (ext. 444)
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)	Publications Unit 450 Fith Street, NW Washington, DC 20549-0001 (202) 942-4046 SEC Public Reference Room (202) 942-8079	Information Line (202) 942-8088, ext. 3 (202) 942-7114 (tty)		
Mortgage Bankers Association of America	1125 15th Street, NW Washington, DC 20005-2766 Publications Department (800) 793-MBAA			
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation	8200 Jones Branch Drive McLean, VA 22102-3107 General Information (800) FREDDIE			

# Appendix E

# Schedule of Changes Made to Audits of Finance Companies (Including Independent and Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies)

Reference	Change	Date
General	The term "examination" has been changed to "audit" to conform to the terminology used in SAS No. 58.	October, 1990
Preface	Auditing Procedures section deleted.	March, 1992
Preface	Conformed to the terminology used in	,
	SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Paragraph 2.05	Revised to reflect the issuance of recent authoritative literature.	June, 1996
Paragraph 2.06	Added to reflect the issuance of recent authoritative literature; Subsequent	
<b>.</b>	paragraphs renumbered.	June, 1996
Renumbered	Note reference added to reflect the issuance of SOP 92-3.	Morr 1009
paragraph 2.33 Renumbered	Reference to SOP 92-3 added.	May, 1992 May, 1992
paragraph 2.36	Reference to SOT 92-3 added.	Way, 1992
Renumbered	Added to reflect the issuance of FASB	
paragraph 2.39 (footnote *)	Statement No. 125.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.42	Revised to reflect the issuance of recent authoritative literature.	June, 1996
Paragraph 2.43	Added to reflect the issuance of recent authoritative literature; Subsequent	
	paragraphs further renumbered.	June, 1996
Renumbered paragraph 2.49	Summary of FASB Statement No. 105 added.	October, 1990
Paragraphs	Added to reflect the issuance of recent	
2.50, 2.51, 2.52,	authoritative literature; Subsequent	T 4000
2.53, and 2.54	paragraphs further renumbered.	June, 1996
Paragraphs 2.55, 2.56, 2.57, 2.58,	Added to reflect the issuance of FASB Statement No. 125; Subsequent para-	
2.59, 2.60, 2.61, and 2.62	graphs further renumbered.	June, 1997
Renumbered	Added to reflect the issuance of recent	
paragraphs	authoritative literature; Subsequent	
2.63, 2.64, and 2.65	paragraphs further renumbered.	June, 1996
Renumbered	Conformed to the terminology used in	
paragraph 2.73	SAS No. 65.	March, 1992

Reference	Change	Date
Renumbered paragraphs 2.75 and 2.76	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.79	Reference to Veterans Administration changed to Department of Veterans Affairs.	March, 1992
Renumbered paragraphs 2.81, 2.82, 2.84, and 2.88	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.93	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 55.	October, 1990
Renumbered paragraph 2.97	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraphs 2.101 and 2.107	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 55.	October, 1990
Renumbered paragraph 2.121	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.122	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 55.	October, 1990
Renumbered paragraph 2.124	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.126	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 67.	March, 1992
Renumbered paragraph 2.146	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.149	Reference to SAS No. 11 changed to SAS No. 73; Note reference to the supersession of SAS No. 11 deleted.	May, 1995
Renumbered paragraph 2.151	Reference to SAS No. 44 changed to SAS No. 70; Footnote reference to SAS No. 70 deleted.	May, 1993
Renumbered paragraphs 2.151, 2.152, and 2.154	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Renumbered paragraph 2.163	Reference to SAS No. 17 changed to SAS No. 54.	October, 1990
Renumbered paragraphs 2.164 and 2.166	Conformed to the terminology used in SAS No. 78.	June, 1997
Paragraph 3.28	Reference to SAS No. 14 changed to SAS No. 62.	October, 1990
Paragraph 4.06 (footnote *)	Added to reflect the issuance of FASB Statement No. 125.	June, 1997
Paragraph 5.11	Revised to reflect the issuance of recent authoritative literature.	June, 1996

Reference	Change	Date
Paragraph 5.18	Revised to reflect the issuance of FASB Statement No. 115.	June, 1994
Paragraph 5.30	Reference to Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of Fire and Casualty In- surance Companies, changed to Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of Prop- erty and Liability Insurance Companies.	October, 1990
Appendix A	Note updated to include guidance covered by SOP 90-11 and FASB Statement Nos. 105, 106, and 107.	March, 1992
Appendix A	Introduction modified.	May, 1993
Appendix A	Footnote reference to FASB Statement	May, 1999
(Exhibit 1)	No. 109 added.	May, 1993
Appendix A	References to FASB Statement Nos.	May, 1000
rippendia ri	114 and 115 added.	June, 1994
Appendix A	Auditor's report added; Exhibits re-	o uno, 100 i
	vised to reflect the issuance of recent authoritative literature.	June, 1996
Appendix A	Added to reflect the issuance of FASB	,
(footnote **)	Statement No. 126.	June, 1997
Appendix B	SOP 90-11 added.	March, 1991
Appendix B	References to Audit and Accounting	•
	Guide Saving and Loan Associations	
	deleted.	August, 1991
Appendix B	Notice to Readers revised to reflect SAS No. 69.	April, 1992
Appendix B	References to Audit and Accounting	11p111, 1002
rippeliula D	Guide Audits of Credit Unions deleted.	February, 1993
Appendix B	References to Industry Audit Guide	•
	Audits of Stock Life Insurance Comp-	
	anies deleted.	December, 1995
Appendix B	Effectively superseded by FASB	
	Statement No. 115.	June, 1996
Appendix C	SOP 92-3 added.	May, 1992
Appendix C	References to Audit and Accounting	
	Guide Audits of Credit Unions deleted.	February, 1993
Appendix C	Modified to reflect the issuance of the	
	Audit and Accounting Guide Banks	
	and Savings Institutions; Note re-	
	ference to supersession of Practice Bul-	T 1000
	letin 7 added.	June, 1996

Glossary 107

# Glossary

- **accounts receivable loan.** A loan collateralized by the accounts receivable of the borrower.
- **accrual with suspension.** A method of recognizing interest income based on the contractual terms of the loan (accrual basis). The accrual of interest is suspended when certain conditions occur that cast doubt on the collectibility of the unpaid loan.
- acquisition costs. Costs related to making or acquiring loans or insurance contracts.
- actuarial method. See interest method.
- add-on loan. See discount loan.
- **adequate protection.** A secured creditor's legal right under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code to have its collateral position not become impaired, impeded, or downgraded without sufficient protection against loss.
- **advance factoring.** A factoring arrangement that allows a client to draw cash advances against the receivables sold to a factor before they are due or collected. Advance factoring also is called **discount factoring**.
- advance payment. A payment on account made prior to the contractual due date.
- anticipation. An extra allowance taken by customers on bills paid before the maturity date. The amount is based on the current interest rate.
- **asset-based financial services.** Financial services related to secured commercial and industrial lending activities. Asset-based financial services include leasing and factoring activities.
- asset-based lending. Lending collateralized by the borrower's assets.
- **availability.** The amount that can be loaned as a percentage of collateral. The percentage is determined individually by formula, for example, 70 to 80 percent of accounts receivable and 30 to 60 percent of inventory.
- average due date. The average maturity date for purchased receivables in a given month under a factoring agreement.
- borrowing base of the finance company. An amount, usually defined in a note agreement or indenture, in computing the maximum amount permitted to be borrowed as a particular class of debt. It generally is determined by subtracting deferred charges and intangible assets from stockholders' equity. Subordinated debt usually is included in the borrowing base of debt senior to the subordinated debt. Also called **capital base**.
- bulk purchase. The purchase of a group of loans receivable as a single transaction. Also called **receivables portfolio purchase.**
- call option loan. A loan with a provision that permits the lender to require immediate repayment, at specified points in time.
- capital base. See borrowing base of the finance company.
- captive finance activities. Financing provided by a manufacturer or dealer through an affiliated finance company, generally with the intention of encouraging potential customers to purchase products of the controlling manufacturer or dealer.
- carrying charge. Amount that the purchaser of consumer goods agrees to pay to the retail dealer or finance company (if the loan is obtained directly from the finance company) for the privilege of paying the principal balance in installments.

- **chargeback.** Under a factoring agreement, the charging of an unpaid invoice or portion thereof against the client's account for amounts due to a merchandising dispute, credit, offset, deduction, or other reason for nonpayment other than the customer's inability to pay.
- **charges.** All amounts charged, contracted for, or to be received in repayment of an obligation, excluding principal but including interest and compensation for expenses incurred by the lender; the difference between net funds advanced and total amounts to be repaid.
- **charges-only account.** An account on which collections are applied entirely to finance, deferment, or default charges, with no portion serving to reduce the principal balance of the loan.
- chattel. Personal property such as automobiles, furniture, and appliances.
- chattel mortgage. An instrument under which the borrower (mortgagor) gives a lender (mortgagee) a lien on chattel property as security for payment of an obligation. The borrower continues to use the property. When the obligation is fully paid off, the lien is removed.
- **client.** In a factoring arrangement, the business enterprise from which the factor buys trade accounts receivable.
- collateral. Property pledged as security for loans. For consumer loans, collateral typically includes automobiles, furniture, and appliances. For commercial loans, collateral typically includes accounts receivable, inventory, plant and equipment, and marketable securities.
- **collateral management.** Routine monitoring, by a finance company, of assets that a commercial borrower has pledged as security. Such procedures generally allow the lender to provide more financing than would otherwise be available.
- collateral trust. A trust arrangement under which a finance company deposits collateral with a trustee as security for borrowings. Notes issued for borrowings under such arrangements generally are called collateral trust notes.
- **collection days.** The time required for a finance company to have payments received from customers collected and credited to the finance company's bank account.
- **comaker loan.** Loans made by more than one debtor, generally unsecured. The second debtor is required because of the insufficient or unknown credit standing of the first debtor.
- **commission.** A service fee paid to a finance company for arranging a transaction involving the sale or purchase of assets or services.
- **commitment fee.** Consideration paid by a potential borrower to a potential lender for a promise to lend money in the future.
- compensating balances. Deposit balances, frequently not interest-bearing, maintained in banks as compensation for advancing lines of credit and loans under the lines of credit, generally at some percent of the amount of the line of credit. Such amounts are shown in balance sheets as restricted funds when there is a formal, contractual agreement restricting use of such funds.
- conditional sales contract. Legal instrument used in credit sales of personal property providing that the title remains with the seller until the purchase price is paid in full but that purchasers retain possession as long as there is no default.
- confidential account. See no-mail account.

- **consumer.** Any individual who purchases goods or merchandise for personal or family use.
- consumer revolving credit and credit cards. Contracts with consumers to finance personal lines of credit that are continuously available to the consumer either for the purchase of goods or for direct advance of cash.
- contracts sold under repurchase agreement. The seller, generally an equipment manufacturer, retailer, or dealer, agrees to pay within a designated period the unpaid balance of defaulted loans by repurchasing repossessed collateral from the finance company after reasonable collection effort, repossession, and delivery of the collateral to the seller.
- contracts sold with recourse. Receivable contracts sold with the seller (generally an equipment manufacturer, retailer, or dealer) guaranteeing payment. If loans are not paid in accordance with terms, the finance company may force the seller to redeem the defaulted loans.
- **contractual method.** A method of determining delinquent accounts based on contractual terms of the original loan agreement.
- **contractual rate.** The rate of interest stated explicitly in a loan contract.
- **coupon book.** A book of coded payment forms to be used by borrowers in remitting payments.
- **creditback.** A credit to a factored client's account, typically to reverse prior chargebacks for payments subsequently received from customers or for credits issued by the client.
- credit bureau. An organization that accumulates and makes credit information available to its members.
- **credit loss.** The loss associated with a loan that is uncollectible.
- customer. In a factoring arrangement, the individual or business enterprise that is the account debtor on the trade account receivable bought by the factor
- dealer. Retail merchant who generally purchases automobiles, furniture, appliances, or other consumer goods at wholesale and sells to customers at retail.
- **dealer holdbacks.** Amounts withheld by finance companies from dealers on retail contracts with greater-than-normal credit risk until a certain number of payments on the contracts have been received or until contract balances have been reduced to specified amounts.
- dealer reserves. Finance company liabilities for dealers' shares of finance charges on retail contracts purchased from dealers.
- **deficiency balances.** Amounts remaining in borrowers' accounts after they have been charged with contractual amounts and credited for proceeds of sale of repossessed collateral, life insurance, and so forth.
- **deficiency judgment.** Legal claim against a debtor for the balance of debt remaining after repossession and sale of the collateral, plus allowable expenses.
- **delinquency** (**default**) **fees.** Amounts debtors pay because of being late with scheduled payments on loans.
- **demand loan.** A loan that has no fixed maturity date but is payable on demand by the lender.

- direct consumer loan. A two-party transaction in which the finance company lends funds directly to the borrower; such a loan may or may not be collateralized.
- **discount.** Amount deducted from the face value in advance as a charge for the loan or a deduction for interest at the time of the loan or any charge for credit that is precomputed and included in the face of the instrument.
- discount factoring. See advance factoring.
- discount loan. A loan that is written with the interest or finance charges included in the face amount of the note. Discount loans are also called **precompute** or add-on loans.
- **effective interest rate.** The implicit rate of interest based on the amount advanced and the amount and timing of the specified repayments over the period of the contract.
- **eligible accounts.** Receivables that meet the criteria specified in a lending, factoring, or portfolio purchase agreement to entitle the borrower or client to a cash advance or payment.
- equity participant. In a leveraged lease, an individual investor or group of investors who hold trust certificates evidencing their beneficial interest as owners under an owner trust.
- evergreen loan. A loan that is repaid neither periodically nor according to a fixed amortization schedule, but might remain constant in relation to assets that qualify as collateral.
- factor. A company that engages primarily in factoring.
- factoring. Purchase, usually without recourse, of individual accounts receivable arising in the client's ordinary course of business. Under a factoring agreement, the finance company also provides credit checking, collection, and recordkeeping services.
- **financing statement.** A notice filed in the location or locations required by state law necessary to perfect a security interest in collateral.
- first out. A participation agreement that provides for a participant to have priority over all others in liquidation of a loan.
- **fixed-charge coverage.** The number of times a company's interest cost is covered by earnings before taxes, measured by the ratio of earnings before taxes plus interest cost divided by interest cost. Credit rating agencies generally consider fixed-charge coverage in addition to other factors in evaluating the creditworthiness of a finance company's debt obligations.
- floating rates. A rate of interest that, by the terms of the loan, fluctuates up or down depending on other widely followed market rates of interest, such as the prime rate, Treasury bill rate, or Federal Reserve discount rate.
- floor plan checking. Physical inspection of dealer's inventories that are collateral for advances to the dealer to be repaid from the proceeds from sale of specific items. Sometimes referred to as floor plan auditing.
- floor planning. Financing of dealers' inventories, particularly automobiles and other consumer goods, sometimes referred to as **wholesaling**. The dealers are obliged to repay the supplier or manufacturer from proceeds of sale of specific items, or after an elapsed period even though inventory is not sold.
- **foreclosure.** A legal sale of mortgaged property to obtain satisfaction of the mortgage out of proceeds of sale.

- **garnishment.** The attachment of salaries through court action to collect on a defaulted obligation.
- **interest-bearing loan.** A loan that is written at the principal amount advanced to the borrower and bearing interest computed monthly on the unpaid balance.
- interest method. A method of computing income under which interest income on a fixed-rate obligation is accrued over the life of the loan based on a constant rate (percent) of interest applied to the outstanding loan balance. As a result, the amount of income recognized at a given time is directly proportional to the outstanding loan balance. Also called the actuarial method.
- inventory loan. A loan collateralized by inventory of the borrower.
- **lease.** An agreement conveying the right to use property, plant, or equipment in exchange for cash payments over a stated time.
- **legal rebate obligation.** The adjustment of precomputed interest required by state statutes on discount loans paid off before the end of their contractual terms
- **letter of credit.** A document issued by a financial institution, guaranteeing the seller payment of a specified amount on presentation before the expiration date of documents confirming shipment of goods. Generally, an irrevocable agreement.
- **leverage.** The ratio of total debt to equity. Rating agencies commonly monitor a finance company's leverage in determining its credit rating.
- **leveraged lease.** A lease involving at least three parties: a lessee, a long-term creditor, and a lessor (commonly called the **equity participant**). The long-term creditor commonly has recourse only to the leased assets.
- **lien.** The right to satisfy a claim, if default occurs, by seizing the debtor's property subject to the lien and converting the property in accordance with procedures provided by law.
- line of credit. An agreement to lend a specified amount of money at an agreed rate as long as there is no material adverse change in the business; such a line does not have to be used, but the funds normally are available upon request.
- **loan application.** A form for completion by the prospective borrower generally providing for personal data such as family, residence, salary, employer, other indebtedness, and resources. The form is used to document certain matters considered significant by the lender before deciding whether to make a loan.
- **loan file.** A record that usually contains the loan application and documents, credit checks, references, records of past loans, and other matters. Notes, contracts, titles, and collateral usually will be physically stored elsewhere for security reasons.
- mandatory securities valuation reserve. Reserve required by law or regulation to provide for possible losses on securities held by insurance companies
- maturity. Date on which, or time period in which, repayment of a debt is to be made.
- maturity date (in factoring). The average due date of a month's invoices plus collection days.

- maturity factoring. Factoring arrangement under which a client is not entitled to cash advances before invoice maturity dates.
- maturity spread. A tabulation of estimated or scheduled maturities of installment receivables by months or year due.
- mortgage loans. Loans collateralized by real estate.
- **net interest spread.** The excess of interest income accruable over interest expense incurred in a period.
- no-mail account. An account in which no contact is to be made with the borrower by mail.
- nonaccrual loans (nonearning assets). Loans on which accrual of interest has been suspended because collectibility is doubtful.
- **nonnotification factoring.** Sale of trade accounts receivable in which the debtor is not informed of the sale.
- **nonrecourse.** A situation in which a finance company has no legal right to compel payment from a seller of accounts receivable or from a prior endorser or drawer of a negotiable instrument in the event of default.
- **nonrefundable fee.** Any charge made in connection with a loan that does not have to be refunded to the borrower when the loan is prepaid.
- **notification.** Informing debtors that their accounts have been sold to and are now payable directly to a finance company.
- **old-line factor.** A factor engaged primarily in the nonrecourse purchase of accounts receivable with notification.
- **open account sales.** Credit extended that is not supported by a note, mortgage, or other formal written evidence of indebtedness; for example, shipments of merchandise for which a buyer is billed later.
- **open approvals.** Credit is granted without immediate proof of a borrower's ability to repay.
- origination fee. An amount charged by finance companies for originating, refinancing, or restructuring a loan. The amount may be intended to cover costs such as underwriting, loan application processing, and reviewing legal title to property involved.
- **overadvance** (in factoring). An amount advanced to a client in excess of the amount of uncollected receivables purchased by the factor.
- **pari passu.** A participation that provides for a pro rata sharing of risk among all lenders.
- **participation.** A loan funded by two or more financial institutions. Participations may be either first out or pari passu.
- **participation manager.** Commercial finance company originating and supervising a loan shared by one or more participants.
- perfection. Protecting a security interest in collateral against conflicting claims through proper filing under the UCC. See lien.
- **points.** Amounts, generally expressed as a percent of the loan, charged for granting loans, that primarily are adjustments of yield but also may be intended to cover costs such as underwriting, loan application processing, and reviewing title to collateral.
- **prebilling.** Occurs when a company assigns invoice copies to a finance company for items that have not been shipped.
- precompute loan. See discount loan.

Glossary 113

- **prepayment penalty.** An amount that the borrower pays to the lender, in addition to the remaining outstanding principal, if the borrower pays off the loan prior to contractual maturity.
- **rebate.** Cancellation of a portion of the precomputed interest charge when the balance due on a discount loan is paid off prior to the originally scheduled maturity date.
- receivables portfolio purchase agreements. The bulk purchase of a portfolio of accounts receivable, either on a single liquidating or a revolving arrangement. The purchase is typically nonrecourse and without customer notification. The seller continues to handle all communications, billings, and collections with customers.
- recency-of-payments method. A method of determining delinquent accounts based on when recent collections have been received, without regard to when they were scheduled to be received in the original loan agreement.
- **recourse.** The legal right to compel payment from a prior guarantor or drawer of a negotiable instrument, if dishonored.
- recourse (in factoring). The right to charge a customer's uncollectible account back to the client.
- **renewed (refinanced) loan.** A direct loan to a present borrower that is rewritten by the execution of a new note with or without an additional amount of funds being advanced.
- repossess. To gain custody; to take collateral from a debtor for nonpayment or default on a loan.
- retail sales contracts. Contractual receivables arising from sales of consumer goods such as automobiles, furniture, and appliances by retail dealers. Retail sales contracts also are referred to as **three-party paper** (customer/consumer, dealer, and finance company) when finance companies make advances against outstanding contracts.
- revolving loan. A continuous loan made against an agreed percentage of the value of collateral, usually accounts receivable or inventory. The amount of the loan varies with the amount of collateral assigned.
- rewrite. Renewal of an account, when little or no payment has been received, with the purpose of removing delinquency status.
- Robert Morris Associates. A national association of bank loan and credit officers
- rule of 78s. A method of computing finance charges on a loan using a sum-ofdigits approach (for example, 78 is the sum of the monthly periods of a twelve-month loan).
- **security agreement.** An agreement between a borrower and a lender in which the borrower gives the lender a security interest or lien on equipment, accounts receivable, inventory, or other assets as security for amounts due to the lender.
- **security interest.** A contractual interest in or lien on collateral to secure payment of an obligation.
- **senior debt.** Borrowings that, by their terms, are not subordinate in payment priority to other debt.
- **springing lien.** An interest in, or right to, collateral pledged as payment of an obligation, which is perfected on the occurrence of an agreed event, such as a default.

subordinated debt. Borrowings that by their terms are subordinate and junior in priority of payment to senior borrowings. Various levels of subordination include both senior and junior subordinations.

tax lease. An agreement that qualifies under tax rules that permit the lessee to claim rental payments as tax deductions and the lessor to claim tax benefits of ownership; that is, investment tax credits and depreciation.

three-party paper. See retail sales contracts.

time loan. A loan that has a fixed maturity date.

**Uniform Commercial Code (UCC).** A set of statutes designed to provide consistent state laws dealing with commercial transactions, including secured transactions, negotiable instruments, and sales of goods.

**vendor leasing.** Arrangements under which a finance company offers leases through a vendor's sales representatives to the vendor's customers as a basic financial package.

wholesaling. See floor planning.

working capital loan. See revolving loan.

yield. Annual rate of return to the lenders on a loan.

Index 115

# **INDEX**

A

Advance factoring
APB Opinion No. 15
APB Opinion No. 16
APB Opinion No. 17 6.03; 6.06
APB Opinion No. 21
Audit risk
C
Captive finance activity
Collateral risk
Commercial financing
Commercial loans
Commitment fees
Concentration risk
Consumer financing
Consumer-financing statutes
Credit accident and health insurance
Credit life insurance
Credit reports
Curtailments
D
Dealer holdbacks
Deficiency Balances
Delinquency fees
Direct consumer loans
Direct financing leases
Discount loan

F

FASB Interpretation No. 14
FASB Statement No. 105
FASB Statement No. 107
FASB Statement No. 113
FASB Statement No. 114
FASB Statement No. 115
FASB Statement No. 118
FASB Statement No. 119
FASB Statement No. 13
FASB Statement No. 14
FASB Statement No. 15
FASB Statement No. 47
FASB Statement No. 5
FASB Statement No. 57
FASB Statement No. 60
FASB Statement No. 72. 6.04
FASB Statement No. 77
FASB Statement No. 91
FASB Statement No. 94
FASB Statement No. 97
FASB Technical Bulletin 86-2
Federal Reserve Regulation Z
Fraud risk
Full recourse
G
General lien arrangements
1
Interest (actuarial) method
Inventory loans

Index	117
L	
Legal and regulatory risk	2.61
Leveraged leasing	1.29
Licensed-lending	1.36
M	
Management risk	2.61
Maturity factoring	1.18
Mortgage loans	1.06
N	
Nonrecourse	2.30
O	
Operating leases	1.27
Operations risk	2.61
Origination fees	2.18
Overadvances	1.19
P	
Partial or limited recourse	2.30
Prepayment penalties	2.18
Property and liability insurance	5.15
R	
Ratio analysis	2.126
Rebate	2.02
Repossessed assets	2.33
Repurchase agreements	2.31
Retail sales contracts	

### Finance Companies

S

Sales-type leases
SAS No. 29
SAS No. 45
SAS No. 47
SAS No. 48
SAS No. 54
SAS No. 62
SAS No. 65
SAS No. 70
SAS No. 73
SAS No. 8
SOP 92-3
SOP 94-5 5.11
SOP 94-6
State Consumer Finance Division Examiner's Report
State licensing authorities
<u>_</u>
Т
Transactional lease financing
Truth in Lending Act
U
UCC
W
Wholesale loans

Would you like additional copies of the Finance Companies Audit & Accounting Guide?

Would you like to receive automatically every annual update of this guide immediately upon its release?

Call the AICPA Order Department at 1-800-862-4272 to order additional copies or to place your standing order.

## **1997 Audit and Accounting Guides**

Audit and Accounting Guides summarize applicable practices and deliver "how-to" advice for handling almost every type of financial statement. Each guide describes relevant matters, conditions, and procedures unique to a particular industry, and illustrates treatments of financial statements and reports to caution auditors and accountants about unusual problems.

The following Audit and Accounting Guides are scheduled for release during the summer of 1997. Each will be \$31 for AICPA members and \$37 for nonmembers.

Guide for the Use of Real Estate Appraisal Information No. 013159BH Guide for Prospective Financial Information No. 012067BH

Audits of Agricultural Producers and Agricultural Cooperatives

No. 012352BH

Audits of Airlines No. 013180BH

Banks and Savings Institutions No. 011176BH

Brokers and Dealers in Securities No. 012179BH

Audits of Casinos No. 013147BH

Common Interest Realty Associations No. 012485BH

Construction Contractors No. 012093BH

Audits of Credit Unions No. 012045BH

Audits of Employee Benefit Plans No. 012336BH

Audits of Entities With Oil and Gas Producing Activities No. 012088BH

Audits of Federal Government Contractors No. 012435BH

Audits of Finance Companies No. 012463BH

Health Care Organizations No. 012428BH

Audits of Investment Companies No. 012361BH

Not-for-Profit Organizations No. 013167BH

Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies No. 011918BH

Call 1-800-862-4272 to order any of these products.